LOCALIZATION AND HIGHER SPIN/CFT DUALITIES

A Dissertation

by

YAODONG ZHU

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Ergin Sezgin
Committee Members,	Christopher N. Pope
	Bhaskar Dutta
	Stephen A. Fulling
Head of Department,	Peter McIntyre

August 2017

Major Subject: Physics

Copyright 2017 Yaodong Zhu

ABSTRACT

Localization is a powerful tool to compute physical quantities such as partition functions, free energies and expectation values of certain operators exactly at any coupling in many supersymmetric theories. Due to this merit, the technique is able to provide highly nontrivial tests of AdS/CFT correspondence. We apply localization procedure to the most general three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons matter theories, which are not studied in the previous localization literature, and show that they can also be formally localized. The other focus in this body of work is the study of an important aspect of high energy physics, the higher spin theories, and their conjectured CFT duals. Higher spin theory is a remarkable extension of Einstein gravity in which mass particles of all spin are described by self-consistent and fully nonlinear field equations. We perform tests of the duality between supersymmetric higher spin theories in AdS_4 and the corresponding CFTs, by comparisons of the one loop free energies on both sides. We show that the mismatch between the free energies in the duality between Type-B higher spin theory/fermionic vector model cannot be solved by the introduction of supersymmetry. We then turn to another test of the HS/CFT correspondence, by comparing the tree-level three-point functions on both sides. We produce the full structures of three-point Witten diagrams for both paritypreserving and parity-violating bosonic HS theories, and show that they match perfectly with the corresponding ones on CFT side.

DEDICATION

To Ni Pi, and this world in 2217.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to my Ph.D. adviser Dr. Ergin Sezgin for all the enlightment and support he has given me during my time at Texas A&M University.

I would also like to give thanks to my committee members Dr. Christopher Pope, Dr. Bhaskar Dutta and Dr. Stephen Fulling for their kindness and help.

I would like to give special thanks to my collaborators Dr. Yi Pang, Dr. Evgeny Skvortsov and Dr. Dimitrios Tsimpis for the useful discussions and hard works.

I would like to take this moment to thank Yaniel Cabrera, Sunny Guha, Sebastian Guttenberg, Zhijin Li, William Linch, Ilarion Melnikov, Jakob Palmkvist, Daniel Robbins, Andy Royston and Ning Su, who have been great colleagues.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

All work conducted for the dissertation was completed by Yaodong Zhu independently.

Funding Sources

Graduate study of Yaodong Zhu was supported by the French government Chateaubriand Fellowships Programme 2015 and by the Mitchell Institute for Fundamental Physics and Astronomy.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

P	age
BSTRACT	ii
EDICATION	iii
CKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
ONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	v
ABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
$\mathcal{N} = 1$ CHERN-SIMONS MATTER THEORY AND LOCALIZATION	5
2.1The main idea2.2 $3D \mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons matter theory2.2.1On-Shell2.2.2Off-Shell2.3Localization2.3.1Setup2.3.2Deformations2.3.3Gauge Fixing2.3.4Saddle Points2.3.5One-loop Determinant2.4Discussion	5 7 9 13 13 17 21 24 27 42
ONE LOOP TESTS OF SUPERSYMMETRIC HIGHER SPIN AdS_4/CFT_3 .	43
 3.1 Main idea and General Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories	43 47 49 53 54 55
$\cdots = \sum_{\beta} x_{\beta} x_{\beta} \cdots x_{\beta$	00

		3.4.1 The bulk side	62
		3.4.2 The CFT side and comparison	65
	3.5	Mixed boundary conditions in bulk and interacting $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFT	68
	3.6	Discussion	73
4.	THR	REE-POINT FUNCTION TESTS OF HS/CFT DUALITIES	76
	4.1	Notation and Conventions in AdS_4	76
	4.2	CFT	77
		4.2.1 General Structure of the Correlators	78
		4.2.2 Free Boson	80
		4.2.3 Free Fermion	82
		4.2.4 Critical Boson	84
		4.2.5 Critical Fermion	85
		4.2.6 Chern-Simons Matter Theories	85
	4.3	Higher Spin Interactions	86
	4.4	Kinematics of the Boundary-to-Bulk Propagators	91
		4.4.1 Definitions	91
		4.4.2 Algebraic Identities	93
		4.4.3 Inversion Map	94
	4.5	Vertices and Propagators	95
		4.5.1 Propagators	95
		4.5.2 Vertices	96
	4.6	Computation of the Cubic Amplitude	99
		4.6.1 Leading Coefficients	102
		4.6.2 Complete Dictionary	105
		4.6.3 Complete Three-Point Functions	106
	4.7	Discussion	113
5.	CON	ICLUSIONS	114
RE	EFER	ENCES	119

1. INTRODUCTION

The AdS/CFT correspondence, also known as holography, represents a major advance in understanding non-perturbative aspects of quantum gravity and string theory, as well as quantum field theories by facilitating their studies in the corresponding weakly coupled theory [1]. Remarkable examples are several newly discovered superconformal Chern-Simons (CS) matter theories [2–4], which are conjectured to be dual to M-theory on AdS_7 orbifold backgrounds. Among the possible checks of these dualities are the computations of partition functions, free energies and expectation values of certain operators on both sides of the dual theories and making comparisons. These are usually difficult to do perturbatively, as the perturbative region of one theory is the strongly coupled region of its dual. However, the situation becomes much easier for theories with supersymmetry, thanks to the technique called localization. It was demonstrated, using localization, that finding the partition functions and expectation values of certain observables on CFT side reduces to calculations in matrix models. In particular, this process is coupling constant independent. In this spirit, localization has stimulated great amounts of studies in recent years [5-14], since it is a powerful tool in obtaining exact results in certain supersymmetric theories at any coupling and thus provides highly non-trivial tests of the conjectured dualities.

Under the theme of holography, another fascinating subject is the higher spin (HS)/CFT duality. HS theories are expected to emerge from the tensionless limit of string theory, and contain scalars, spin-1/2 fermions and an infinite tower of fields with spin $s \ge 1$ [15]. Their conjectured duals are conformal field theories with matter in vector representation of the gauge groups [16–19]. Notably, there are two types of parity invariant Vasiliev HS gravities, known as Type-A and B [18]. In their simplest forms, they both contain an infinite tower of massless even spin fields, each occurring once. They differ from each

other in the parity of the spin-0 field, which is parity even (odd) in Type-A (B) theory. It has been conjectured that Type-A theory with $\Delta = 1$ boundary condition imposed on the scalar is dual to the O(N) singlet sector of N free real scalars [16], while Type-B theory with $\Delta = 2$ boundary condition imposed on the pseudoscalar is dual to the O(N) singlet sector of N free Majorana fermions [18] (for earlier work in which HS holography involving CFTs with matrix valued free fields, see [17]). These are HS symmetry preserving boundary conditions, with standard boundary conditions imposed on all other fields understood. The dual CFT can be altered by changing the boundary conditions imposed on the spin-0 field in such a way that they break HS symmetry. For instance, Type-A model with $\Delta = 2$ boundary condition on the scalar is conjectured to be dual to the critical O(N)vector model [16], while Type-B model with $\Delta = 1$ boundary condition imposed on the pseudoscalar is conjectured to be dual to O(N) Gross-Neveu model [18].

It has been noted that the HS/CFT duality is expected to arise in weakly coupled regimes of both bulk and boundary field theories. Therefore, one expects that higher spin AdS/CFT correspondence should be amenable to test order by order in perturbation theory. A highly non-trivial approach to test the conjectured duality is to match the one loop free energies on both sides of the duality [20,21]. Indeed, the one loop test supports the duality between Type-A model with the scalar field obeying ordinary boundary condition and the free bosonic vector model well. However, for Type-B model in Euclidean AdS_4 with the alternate boundary condition imposed on the pseudoscalar, it is observed that there exists a mismatch of its one loop free energy with the one of the conjectured dual theory, which is a fermionic vector model living on the boundary S^3 .

As far as the checks of the HS/CFT duality are concerned, another important test complementary to the one stated above is the comparison of the three-point functions on both sides. Due to the non-localities in Vasiliev equations which describe the dynamics of HS theories, the computation of three-point function can be done so far at tree-level with one scalar leg on the bulk side. In this context the first three-point functions were computed in [22] in the parity even cases with spins $s_1 - s_2 - 0$, and they were found to match with those of the dual theories. In particular in [22] it was assumed that the results would give the correct CFT structures and it is possible to compare the leading coefficients only by choosing certain special kinematics.

This dissertation consists of three parts as follows. (i) We first apply localization to general $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal theories in three-dimension and compute the partition function [23]. (ii) We then move on to the study of HS/CFT dualities and extend the previous one loop tests to a wider class of HS theories constructed by Konstein and Vasiliev [24], which contains supersymmetric HS theories as special cases, and their conjectured duals [25]. We will show that the mentioned mismatch of one loop free energies is also present in supersymmetric cases, and the problem remains to be an open one. The connection between (i) and (ii) is that in the higher spin limit, the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal theories we considered in the first part should be dual to $\mathcal{N}=1$ HS theories with Chan-Paton factors in AdS_4 . We left the verification of this duality to future works. (iii) We go beyond the previous one loop free energy computation, and compute the tree-level three-point Witten diagrams of HS theories in AdS_4 , following [22]. In particular, we provide simplifications in the computation on bulk side and produce the full structures of the three-point functions for both parity-preserving and parity-violating HS theories, and compare them with the three-point correlation functions from the dual CFTs [26]. This will provide a novel approach to check the HS/CFT duality in addition to the one loop free energy test.

The rest of the dissertation is organized as follows. In chapter 2, we review the localization technique and describe our published results on the application of localization to general three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal theories [23]. In chapter 3, we present our work on the one loop tests to supersymmetric HS/CFT dualities [25]. In chapter 4 we carry out the computation of three-point functions of both parity-preserving and parityviolating HS theories in AdS_4 , and show that they match with the corresponding CFT results exactly [26].

2. $\mathcal{N} = 1$ CHERN-SIMONS MATTER THEORY AND LOCALIZATION*

The idea of localization was first introduced in [27] to great effect in computing observables in certain topologically twisted theories. More recently, initiated by the work of Pestun [5], supersymmetric localization is shown to be a powerful tool for computing exact results in supersymmetric quantum field theories at any coupling. Since then there has been a wave of exact results for non-topological observables on compact manifolds for theories in various dimensions and with various amounts of supersymmetry [6–14]. In particular the localization method has been used to great extent to attack the problems of various conjectured AdS/CFT dualities, as the perturbative region of one theory is dual to the strongly coupled of the dual, and it is hard to perform the check using ordinary perturbative methods.

This chapter is based on the work [23] in collaboration with Dr. Dimitrios Tsimpis.

2.1 The main idea

Consider a generic partition function with a deformation

$$\int d\varphi e^{iS-t\Delta V} , \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\int d\varphi$ stands for integrations over all fields in consideration, S is the original action, t is a constant parameter and ΔV is the deformation. If the action is invariant under some symmetry transformation α , and ΔV is α -exact, i.e. $\Delta V = \delta_{\alpha} \tilde{V}$, then a derivative of the

^{*}Reprinted with permission from " $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons-matter theory and localization" by Dimitrios Tsimpis and Yaodong Zhu, 2016, *Nuclear Physics B*, Volume 911, Pages 355-387, Copyright [2016] by Elsevier.

partition function with respect to t would read

$$-t \int d\varphi \Delta V e^{iS-t\Delta V}$$

$$= -t \int d\varphi \delta_{\alpha} \widetilde{V} e^{iS-t\Delta V}$$

$$= -t\delta_{\alpha} \int d\varphi \widetilde{V} e^{iS-t\Delta V} + t\delta_{\alpha} (\int d\varphi) \widetilde{V} e^{iS-t\Delta V} + t \int d\varphi \widetilde{V} \delta_{\alpha} e^{iS-t\delta_{\alpha} \widetilde{V}}$$

$$= t \int d\varphi \widetilde{V} e^{iS} \delta_{\alpha} e^{-t\delta_{\alpha} \widetilde{V}},$$
(2.2)

where we restrict the theory to the one with δ_{α} -invariant measure $\int d\varphi$, and we have used the fact $\delta_{\alpha}S = 0$. Interestingly, a closer observation of the last line indicates that, if $\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{V}$ is also δ_{α} -closed, then this *t*-derivative would be zero. As such, the partition function (2.1) is independent of the deformation. An important consequence is that we can choose deformation ΔV to have a positive definite bosonic sector and tune *t* to be large, then the exponent would be dominated by the deformation and the integration would receive contribution only from the saddle points of the deformation. This technique is so called localization.

The crucial point in the above argument is that one needs to find a proper symmetry α of the theory which is nilpotent, $(\delta_{\alpha})^2 = 0$, then $\delta_{\alpha} \tilde{V}$ would automatically be closed. This gets facilitated in supersymmetric theories, where one can choose a proper supersymmetry transformation to be the α and have $(\delta_{\alpha})^2 = 0$ satisfied. For examply, in 3D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric field theories, it is shown in [6] that if one keeps only one of the two supersymmetry parameters and set the other one to zero, then the supersymmetry variation corresponding to this choice parameters would be nilpotent and thus can be used in localization. However, it is not always true that there exists a nilpotent variation in all supersymmetric theories, and in these cases one may need to opt to the variation which squares to a transformation in the isometry group of the manifold, which in turn leads to $\delta_{\alpha}^{2}\widetilde{V}=0$ upon volume integration.

2.2 3D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons matter theory

Starting from this section we introduce a specific model, the general $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons matter theory, then carry out localization procedure to study its partition function.

2.2.1 On-Shell

The general component form of the on-shell $\mathcal{N} = 1$ classically-superconformal CS Lagrangian with $Spin(5) \simeq Sp(2)$ global symmetry and gauge group $U(N) \times U(N)$ is given in [28]

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{CS} + \mathcal{L}_{kin} + \mathcal{L}_4 + \mathcal{L}_6 , \qquad (2.3)$$

where \mathcal{L}_{CS} is the pure CS Lagrangian, \mathcal{L}_{kin} is the matter kinetic term, \mathcal{L}_4 is the quartic interaction and \mathcal{L}_6 is the sextic potential. More specifically,[†]

$$\mathcal{L}_{CS} = \frac{k_1}{2\pi} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} A_{\rho} + \frac{i}{3} A_{\mu} A_{\nu} A_{\rho} \right\} - \frac{k_2}{2\pi} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \hat{A}_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \hat{A}_{\rho} + \frac{i}{3} \hat{A}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\nu} \hat{A}_{\rho} \right\} ,$$
(2.4)

where the normalization above was chosen to facilitate the derivation of the superconformal invariance; A_{μ} , \hat{A}_{μ} are gauge fields in the adjoint of U(N). The matter kinetic terms read

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ -D^{\mu} X^{A} D_{\mu} X_{A} + i \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi^{A} \right\} , \qquad (2.5)$$

where A = 1, ..., 4 is an Sp(2) index; X_A is in the bifundamental (\overline{N}, N) while X^A is in the (N, \overline{N}) , and similarly for Ψ_A , Ψ^A . Also we adopt the following convention for the spinors:

$$\widetilde{\psi} \equiv \psi^T C^{-1} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

[†]We follow closely the notation of [28], to which the reader is referred for more details.

The most general quartic interaction terms can be written in the form $\mathcal{L}_4 = \mathcal{L}_{4a} + \mathcal{L}_{4b} + \mathcal{L}_{4c} + \mathcal{L}'$, where

$$\mathcal{L}_{4a} = \frac{1}{2\pi} i \operatorname{tr} \{ \bar{\alpha}_{1} \varepsilon^{ABCD} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} X_{B} \Psi_{C} X_{D} - \alpha_{1} \varepsilon_{ABCD} \tilde{\Psi}^{A} X^{B} \Psi^{C} X^{D} \}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{4b} = \frac{1}{2\pi} i \operatorname{tr} \{ \alpha_{2,1} \tilde{\Psi}^{A} \Psi_{A} X_{B} X^{B} - \alpha_{2,2} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \Psi^{A} X^{B} X_{B} \}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{4c} = \frac{1}{2\pi} 2 i \operatorname{tr} \{ \alpha_{3,1} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \Psi^{B} X^{A} X_{B} - \alpha_{3,2} \tilde{\Psi}^{B} \Psi_{A} X_{B} X^{A} \}$$

$$\mathcal{L}' = \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \{ a_{1} \Omega^{AD} \Omega_{BC} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \Psi^{B} X^{C} X_{D} + a_{2} \Omega_{AD} \Omega^{BC} \tilde{\Psi}^{A} \Psi_{B} X_{C} X^{D} + a_{3} \Omega^{AC} \Omega^{BD} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} X_{B} \Psi_{C} X_{D} + \bar{a}_{3} \Omega_{AC} \Omega_{BD} \tilde{\Psi}^{A} X^{B} \Psi^{C} X^{D} + a_{4} \Omega^{AB} \Omega^{CD} \tilde{\Psi}_{A} X_{B} \Psi_{C} X_{D} + \bar{a}_{4} \Omega_{AB} \Omega_{CD} \tilde{\Psi}^{A} X^{B} \Psi^{C} X^{D} \} .$$

$$(2.7)$$

The sextic potential consists of two terms $\mathcal{L}_6 = \mathcal{L}_{pot} + \mathcal{L}''$, where

$$\mathcal{L}_{pot} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr} \{ \alpha_{4,1} X^A X_A X^B X_B X^C X_C + \alpha_{4,2} X_A X^A X_B X^B X_C X^C + 4\alpha_{4,3} X_A X^B X_C X^A X_B X^C X_C + \alpha_{4,2} X_A X^A X_B X^B X_C X^C X_C \}$$

$$+ 4\alpha_{4,3} X_A X^B X_C X^A X_B X^C - 6\alpha_{4,4} X^A X_B X^B X_A X^C X_C \}$$

$$\mathcal{L}'' = \frac{1}{2\pi} \Omega^{BC} \Omega_{DE} \operatorname{tr} \{ n X_B X^A X_C X^D X_A X^E \}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \Omega^{BC} \Omega_{DE} \operatorname{tr} \{ m X_B X^A X_A X^D X_C X^E \}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \Omega_{BC} \Omega^{DE} \operatorname{tr} \{ \bar{m} X^B X_A X^A X_D X^C X_E \} .$$

(2.8)

Here Ω_{AB} is the Sp(2)-invariant antisymmetric tensor, which satisfies $\Omega^{AB}\Omega_{AC} = \delta^B_C$. One can show that the theory is invariant under the following $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Poincaré supersymmetry

$$\begin{split} \delta X_A &= i\Omega_{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\Psi^B \\ \delta X^A &= i\Omega^{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\Psi_B \\ \delta \Psi_A &= \Omega_{AB}\gamma^\mu \epsilon D_\mu X^B + \{\Omega_{AB}(\alpha_{2,2}X^C X_C X^B \\ &- \alpha_{2,1}X^B X_C X^C) - 2\alpha_3\Omega_{BC}X^B X_A X^C\}\epsilon \\ \delta \Psi^A &= \Omega^{AB}\gamma^\mu \epsilon D_\mu X_B + \{\Omega^{AB}(-\alpha_{2,1}X_C X^C X_B \\ &+ \alpha_{2,2}X_B X^C X_C) + 2\alpha_3\Omega^{BC} X_B X^A X_C\}\epsilon \\ \delta A_\mu &= \frac{1}{k_1}[\Omega_{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma_\mu \Psi^A X^B + \Omega^{AB} X_B \tilde{\Psi}_A \gamma_\mu \epsilon] \\ \delta \hat{A}_\mu &= \frac{1}{k_2}[\Omega_{AB}X^B \tilde{\epsilon}\gamma_\mu \Psi^A + \Omega^{AB} \tilde{\Psi}_A \gamma_\mu \epsilon X_B] , \end{split}$$

$$(2.9)$$

provided that the coefficients satisfy the relations

$$a_{1} = -2i(\frac{1}{k_{1}} + \bar{\alpha}_{1}), \quad a_{2} = 2i(\frac{1}{k_{2}} + \alpha_{1}),$$

$$a_{3} = -\bar{a}_{3} - i(\alpha_{1} - \bar{\alpha}_{1}), \quad a_{4} = i(\alpha_{1} - \bar{\alpha}_{1}),$$

$$\alpha_{2,1} = -\frac{1}{k_{1}} - 2\bar{\alpha}_{1}, \quad \alpha_{2,2} = -\frac{1}{k_{2}} - 2\alpha_{1}, \quad \alpha_{3} = i\bar{a}_{3} - \alpha_{1},$$

$$\alpha_{4,1} = -3\alpha_{2,2}^{2} + 4\alpha_{2,2}\alpha_{3} + m, \quad \alpha_{4,2} = -3\alpha_{2,1}^{2} + 4\alpha_{2,2}\alpha_{3} + m,$$

$$\alpha_{4,3} = \alpha_{2,2}\alpha_{3} + \frac{m}{4}, \quad \alpha_{4,4} = -\alpha_{2,1}\alpha_{2,2} + 2\alpha_{2,2}\alpha_{3} + \frac{m}{2},$$

$$\bar{m} = 4(\alpha_{2,2} - \alpha_{2,1})\alpha_{3} + m, \quad n = 4(\alpha_{3} - \alpha_{2,2})\alpha_{3} - m.$$
(2.10)

In addition to the CS levels k_1 , k_2 , the theory has four independent parameters. One can choose them to be α_1 , $\bar{\alpha}_1$, \bar{a}_3 and m.

2.2.2 Off-Shell

In the previous section we studied the on-shell formulation of the theory. However to carry out the localization procedure one needs off-shell supersymmetry. For that purpose

we introduce the auxiliary scalar fields F and the gaugini λ , $\hat{\lambda}$ in the scalar and gauge multiplets, respectively. The off-shell action reads

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{CS} + \mathcal{L}_{kin} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{potential}} , \qquad (2.11)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{CS} = \frac{k_1}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} (\frac{1}{2} A_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} A_{\rho} + \frac{i}{3} A_{\mu} A_{\nu} A_{\rho}) + \frac{i}{2} \tilde{\lambda} \lambda \right\} - \frac{k_2}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} (\frac{1}{2} \hat{A}_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \hat{A}_{\rho} + \frac{i}{3} \hat{A}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\nu} \hat{A}_{\rho}) + \frac{i}{2} \tilde{\lambda} \hat{\lambda} \right\} ,$$

$$(2.12)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ -D^{\mu} X^{A} D_{\mu} X_{A} + i \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi^{A} - F^{A} F_{A} \right\} , \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{\text{potential}} &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \text{tr} \{ i [(-\alpha_{2,1} X_B X^B X_A + \alpha_{2,2} X_A X^B X_B) - 2\alpha_3 \Omega_{AB} \Omega^{CD} X_C X^B X_D] F^A \\ &+ i F_A [(-\alpha_{2,1} X^A X_B X^B + \alpha_{2,2} X^B X_B X^A) + 2\alpha_3 \Omega^{AB} \Omega_{CD} X^C X_B X^D] \} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \text{tr} \{ \Omega_{AB} \tilde{\lambda} \Psi^A X^B - \Omega^{AB} X_B \tilde{\Psi}_A \lambda - \Omega_{AB} X^B \tilde{\Psi}^A \hat{\lambda} + \Omega^{AB} \tilde{\lambda} \Psi_A X_B \} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \text{tr} \{ i \alpha_{2,1} \Omega^{AD} \Omega_{BC} \tilde{\Psi}_A \Psi^B X^C X_D - i \alpha_{2,2} \Omega_{AD} \Omega^{BC} \tilde{\Psi}^A \Psi_B X_C X^D \\ &- \frac{i}{2} \alpha_{2,2} \Omega^{AB} \Omega^{CD} \tilde{\Psi}_A X_B \Psi_C X_D + \frac{i}{2} \alpha_{2,1} \Omega_{AB} \Omega_{CD} \tilde{\Psi}^A X^B \Psi^C X^D \\ &+ i \alpha_3 \Omega^{AC} \Omega^{BD} \tilde{\Psi}_A X_B \Psi_C X_D - i \alpha_3 \Omega_{AC} \Omega_{BD} \tilde{\Psi}^A X^B \Psi^C X^D \\ &- \frac{i}{2} \alpha_{2,1} \Omega^{AD} \Omega^{BC} \tilde{\Psi}_A X_B \Psi_C X_D + \frac{i}{2} \alpha_{2,2} \Omega_{AD} \Omega_{BC} \tilde{\Psi}^A X^B \Psi^C X^D \} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi} i \text{tr} \{ \alpha_{2,1} \tilde{\Psi}^A \Psi_A X_B X^B - \alpha_{2,2} \tilde{\Psi}_A \Psi^A X^B X_B \} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi} 2 i \text{tr} \{ \alpha_3 \tilde{\Psi}_A \Psi^B X^A X_B - \alpha_3 \tilde{\Psi}^B \Psi_A X_B X^A \} . \end{aligned}$$

This can be rewritten compactly in superspace formalism, see e.g. (3.8) of [29] which

we reproduce here

$$S = \frac{k_1}{2\pi} S_{CS}(A) - \frac{k_2}{2\pi} S_{CS}(\hat{A}) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2 \theta \operatorname{tr} \{ D_a \Phi_A^{\dagger} D^a \Phi^A + (c_1 \Phi_A^{\dagger} \Phi^A \Phi_B^{\dagger} \Phi^B + c_2 \Phi_A^{\dagger} \Phi^B \Phi_B^{\dagger} \Phi^A + c_3 \Omega^{AB} \Omega_{CD} \Phi_A^{\dagger} \Phi^C \Phi_B^{\dagger} \Phi^D) \},$$

$$(2.15)$$

where Φ_A is a superfield, and the connection with the component formulation discussed previously is provided by the relations

$$c_1 = -i\bar{\alpha}_1 - \frac{i}{2k_1}; \quad c_2 = i\alpha_1 + \frac{i}{2k_2}; \quad c_3 = i\alpha_1 + \bar{a}_3.$$
 (2.16)

The action is invariant under the off-shell supersymmetry transformations

$$\begin{split} \delta X_A &= i\Omega_{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\Psi^B \\ \delta X^A &= i\Omega^{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\Psi_B \\ \delta \Psi_A &= \Omega_{AB}\gamma^{\mu}\epsilon D_{\mu}X^B - i\Omega_{AB}F^B\epsilon \\ \delta \Psi^A &= \Omega^{AB}\gamma^{\mu}\epsilon D_{\mu}X_B - i\Omega^{AB}F_B\epsilon \\ \delta F_A &= -\Omega_{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi^B - iX_A(\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda) + i(\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda)X_A \\ \delta F^A &= -\Omega^{AB}\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_B - iX^A(\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda) + i(\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda)X^A \\ \delta A_\mu &= -i\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma_\mu\lambda \\ \delta \hat{A}_\mu &= -i\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma_\mu\lambda \\ \delta \lambda &= -\frac{1}{2}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\epsilon F_{\mu\nu} \\ \delta \hat{\lambda} &= -\frac{1}{2}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\epsilon \hat{F}_{\mu\nu} . \end{split}$$
(2.17)

We note that besides k_1 , k_2 the off-shell theory has only three free parameters, as can be seen from (2.16). This is one fewer parameter than in the on-shell formulation. Specifically, after replacing the auxiliary field F and gaugini λ , $\hat{\lambda}$ by the solutions of their respective equations of motion, the Lagrangian (2.11) goes back to (2.3), but with $\alpha_{4,3} = 0$ in \mathcal{L}_{pot} . In other words, for the on-shell theory obtained by starting from (2.11) and then eliminating the auxiliary fields, m is not an independent parameter but is equal to $-4\alpha_{2,2}\alpha_3$, which in its turn can be expressed in terms of α_1 , $\bar{\alpha}_1$ and \bar{a}_i . This can be understood from the fact that the sextic potential $X_A X^B X_C X^A X_B X^C$ in \mathcal{L}_{pot} cannot be obtained from the off-shell Lagrangian by replacing F by its solution.

In the following we will put the theory on a curved manifold. More specifically, to go from flat to curved spacetime one needs to:

- covariantize all derivatives,
- introduce additional terms $\frac{1}{3}\Omega_{AB}X^B\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon$ and $\frac{1}{3}\Omega^{AB}X_B\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon$ in the transformations of Ψ_A and Ψ^A , respectively,
- have ϵ satisfy the conformal Killing spinor equation

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = \gamma_{\mu}\eta , \qquad (2.18)$$

where η is some arbitrary spinor,

• add a scalar-curvature coupling term, $-\frac{1}{8}RX^{A}X_{A}$, to the Lagrangian.

Explicitly:

$$\delta\Psi_A \to \delta\Psi_A = \Omega_{AB}\gamma^{\mu}\epsilon D_{\mu}X^B + \frac{1}{3}\Omega_{AB}X^B\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon - i\Omega_{AB}F^B\epsilon ,$$

$$\delta\Psi^A \to \delta\Psi^A = \Omega^{AB}\gamma^{\mu}\epsilon D_{\mu}X_B + \frac{1}{3}\Omega^{AB}X_B\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon - i\Omega^{AB}F_B\epsilon ,$$
(2.19)

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin} \to \mathcal{L}_{kin} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ -D^{\mu} X^{A} D_{\mu} X_{A} - \frac{1}{8} R X^{A} X_{A} + i \tilde{\Psi}_{A} \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi^{A} - F^{A} F_{A} \right\} .$$
(2.20)

The resulting curved-space Lagrangian will be used in the next section.

2.3 Localization

In order to apply the localization procedure, the theory must be invariant under the action of a fermionic symmetry δ which is nilpotent, $\delta^2 = 0$, or more generally squares to a symmetry of the theory. Deforming the action by a δ -exact term,

$$S \longrightarrow S + t\delta V$$
, (2.21)

leaves invariant the expectation values of δ -closed operators. Hence we may take the limit $t \to \infty$, upon which the theory localizes to the set Σ of critical points of δV [27]. In this limit the path integral can be performed by restricting S to Σ and computing a one-loop determinant describing the fluctuations normal to Σ . This procedure was first carried out in detail in [5] for the case of SYM on the round S^4 .

In order for the path integral to be well-defined, we will consider the theory in Euclidean signature. All fields are then complexified, while the action becomes a holomorphic functional in the space of complexified fields. This procedure is known under the name of "holomorphic complexification" and ensures that supersymmetry is preserved, see e.g. [30]. Following [5] our strategy will be to choose a path-integration contour in the space of fields, such that when restricted to that contour the deformation δV becomes a sum of positive semi-definite terms. The locus Σ will then be determined by the condition that each term in the sum vanishes.

2.3.1 Setup

As explained above, in order to apply the localization procedure we need to pass from Lorentzian to Euclidean signature, where all fields become complex. Moreover $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}$ in the CS piece of the Lagrangian becomes $i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}$.

We then deform the action by adding a term $t\delta V$ such that $\delta^2 V = 0$. For theories with

 $\mathcal{N} \ge 2$ supersymmetry, one can have $\delta^2 = 0$ on all fields of the theory. However, this is not possible for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superalgebra. Instead, as we will show later, for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ we can require that δ squares to a transformation in the isometry group of the manifold, which in turn leads to $\delta^2 V = 0$ upon volume integration.

Furthermore we must restrict the supersymmetry parameter ϵ to satisfy the Killing spinor equation[‡]

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = S\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon , \qquad (2.22)$$

where S is in general a complex function. The reason for restricting to this Killing spinor equation instead of the more general one (2.18) is the following. Equation (2.18) would in general imply that δ^2 induces not only a translation, a rotation and a gauge transformation but also a dilatation, which would break the invariance of the deformation δV .

Under the assumption of smoothness, any solution to the Killing spinor equation which is not identically zero is nowhere-vanishing on the manifold. This follows from the fact that (2.22) is a first-order differential equation, hence if the Killing spinor vanishes at any one point it must vanish everywhere.

Given a nowhere-vanishing Killing spinor ϵ , any spinor Ψ can be decomposed as follows

$$\Psi = \Psi_{+}\epsilon + \Psi_{-}\epsilon^{c} , \qquad (2.23)$$

where Ψ_{\pm} are anticommuting scalars, and in Euclidean signature we have defined $\epsilon^c \equiv C\epsilon^*$. From now on we require the supersymmetry parameters to be commuting. The off-shell Lagrangian given in section 2 remains invariant under supersymmetry with these commuting parameters. With the above definitions the supersymmetric transformations

[‡]A detailed analysis of this Killing spinor equation in Lorentzian signature is given in section 3 of [31].

can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} \delta X_A &= ia\Omega_{AB}\Psi_-^B \\ \delta X^A &= ia\Omega^{AB}\Psi_{B-} \\ \delta \Psi_{A-} &= \frac{1}{a}\Omega_{AB}V^{\mu}D_{\mu}X^B \\ \delta \Psi_{A+} &= \frac{1}{a}\Omega_{AB}U^{\mu}D_{\mu}X^B + S\Omega_{AB}X^B - i\Omega_{AB}F^B \\ \delta \Psi_-^A &= \frac{1}{a}\Omega^{AB}V^{\mu}D_{\mu}X_B \\ \delta \Psi_+^A &= \frac{1}{a}\Omega^{AB}U^{\mu}D_{\mu}X_B + S\Omega^{AB}X_B - i\Omega^{AB}F_B \\ \delta F_A &= -\Omega_{AB}V^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_+^B + \Omega_{AB}U^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_-^B \\ &+ 3S^*a\Omega_{AB}\Psi_-^B - iaX_A\hat{\lambda}_- + ia\lambda_-X_A \\ \delta F^A &= -\Omega^{AB}V^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_{B+} + \Omega^{AB}U^{\mu}D_{\mu}\Psi_{B-} \\ &+ 3S^*a\Omega^{AB}\Psi_{B-} - iaX^A\lambda_- + ia\hat{\lambda}_-X^A \,, \end{split}$$

and for the gauge multiplets

$$\delta A_{\mu} = -iV_{\mu}\lambda_{+} + iU_{\mu}\lambda_{-}$$

$$\delta \hat{A}_{\mu} = -iV_{\mu}\hat{\lambda}_{+} + iU_{\mu}\hat{\lambda}_{-}$$

$$\delta \lambda_{+} = -\frac{1}{2a}i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}U_{\rho}F_{\mu\nu}$$

$$\delta \hat{\lambda}_{-} = -\frac{1}{2a}i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}V_{\rho}F_{\mu\nu}$$

$$\delta \hat{\lambda}_{+} = -\frac{1}{2a}i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}U_{\rho}\hat{F}_{\mu\nu}$$

$$\delta \hat{\lambda}_{-} = -\frac{1}{2a}i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}V_{\rho}\hat{F}_{\mu\nu} ,$$
(2.25)

where

$$a \equiv \epsilon^{\dagger} \epsilon = \tilde{\epsilon} \epsilon^{c} = -\tilde{\epsilon}^{c} \epsilon , \quad V^{\mu} \equiv \tilde{\epsilon} \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon ,$$

$$U^{\mu} \equiv \epsilon^{\dagger} \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon = -\tilde{\epsilon} \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon^{c} , \quad \nabla_{\mu} \epsilon^{c} = -S^{*} \gamma_{\mu} \epsilon^{c} .$$
(2.26)

Note that Ψ_{-}^{A} , Ψ_{+}^{A} , Ψ_{A-} , Ψ_{A+} , λ_{-} and λ_{+} are anticommuting; so is the supersymmetry transformation δ . With the above setup, we find

$$\delta^{2} X_{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} X_{A}$$

$$\delta^{2} \Psi_{-}^{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi_{-}^{A}$$

$$\delta^{2} \Psi_{+}^{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi_{+}^{A} - 2ia(S - S^{*}) \Psi_{-}^{A}$$

$$\delta^{2} F_{A} = -V^{\mu} D_{\mu} F_{A} + V^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} S X_{A} ,$$
(2.27)

and

$$\delta^{2}A_{\mu} = -iV^{\nu}F_{\nu\mu}$$

$$\delta^{2}\hat{A}_{\mu} = -iV^{\nu}\hat{F}_{\nu\mu}$$

$$\delta^{2}\lambda_{-} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\lambda_{-}$$

$$\delta^{2}\lambda_{+} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\lambda_{+} - 2ia(S - S^{*})\lambda_{-}$$

$$\delta^{2}\hat{\lambda}_{-} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\hat{\lambda}_{-}$$

$$\delta^{2}\hat{\lambda}_{+} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\hat{\lambda}_{+} - 2ia(S - S^{*})\hat{\lambda}_{-}.$$
(2.28)

Equivalently, written in terms of the original fields, two supersymmetry transforma-

tions give

$$\delta^{2} X_{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} X_{A}$$

$$\delta^{2} \Psi^{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} \Psi^{A} - i S V^{\mu} \gamma_{\mu} \Psi^{A}$$

$$\delta^{2} F_{A} = -i V^{\mu} D_{\mu} F_{A} + V^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} S X_{A} ,$$
(2.29)

and

$$\delta^{2}A_{\mu} = -iV^{\nu}F_{\nu\mu}$$

$$\delta^{2}\hat{A}_{\mu} = -iV^{\nu}\hat{F}_{\nu\mu}$$

$$\delta^{2}\lambda = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\lambda - iSV^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}\lambda$$

$$\delta^{2}\hat{\lambda} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\hat{\lambda} - iSV^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}\hat{\lambda}.$$
(2.30)

 V^{μ} can be identified as part of the orthonormal frame that trivializes the tangent bundle of the manifold. Therefore, apart from additional terms which can be interpreted as gauge transformations or rotations, δ^2 acting on each field gives a translation along V^{μ} .

In the next subsection we will ultimately set a = 1 and S = 0, upon which the above equations simplify further.

2.3.2 Deformations

Matter Sector:

To localize the matter sector, we first consider the deformation,

$$\delta V = \int \sqrt{g} d^3 x \delta[(\delta \Psi_A)^{\dagger} \Psi_A] , \qquad (2.31)$$

where we have *defined*

$$(\delta\Psi_A)^{\dagger} \equiv \Omega^{AB} \epsilon^{\dagger} \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} X_B + S^* \Omega^{AB} X_B \epsilon^{\dagger} + i \Omega^{AB} F_B \epsilon^{\dagger} .$$
 (2.32)

Note that at generic points in field space $(\delta \Psi_A)^{\dagger}$ is *not* the adjoint of $\delta \Psi_A$, and δV as defined in (2.31) is a holomorphic functional in the space of complexified fields.

As explained in the beginning of section 2.3, we will choose a path-integration contour C in the space of fields such that when restricted to C the deformation δV becomes a sum of positive semi-definite terms. This requirement selects C as the subspace where the fields satisfy the reality condition

Contour
$$C$$
:

$$\begin{array}{c}
X^{A\dagger} = X_A, \quad F^{A\dagger} = F_A, \\
A^{\dagger}_{\mu} = A_{\mu}, \quad \hat{A}^{\dagger}_{\mu} = \hat{A}_{\mu}.
\end{array}$$
(2.33)

Moreover the integrand in (2.31) is given by

$$\delta[(\delta\Psi_A)^{\dagger}\Psi_A] = \delta(\delta\Psi_A)^{\dagger}\Psi_A + (\delta\Psi_A)^{\dagger}\delta\Psi_A .$$
(2.34)

Recall that the supersymmetry transformation δ is anticommuting; the relative sign on the right-hand side is positive since $(\delta \Psi_A)^{\dagger}$ is bosonic.

Let us now verify that the deformation is δ -closed. From (2.34) we obtain

$$\delta^{2}[(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A}] = \delta^{2}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A} - \delta(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\delta\Psi_{A} + \delta(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\delta\Psi_{A} + (\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\delta^{2}\Psi_{A}$$

$$= \delta^{2}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A} + (\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\delta^{2}\Psi_{A} .$$
(2.35)

The second term in the second line can be read off from (2.29). One can obtain the first term in the second line from (2.29) and (2.32)

$$\delta^{2}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A} = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}[(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}]\Psi_{A} + iS^{*}V^{\mu}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\gamma_{\mu}\Psi_{A}$$

$$+ 2iS^{*}\Omega^{AB}V_{\mu}D_{\nu}X_{B}\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\Psi_{A} - 2iS\Omega^{AB}V_{\mu}D_{\nu}X_{B}\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\Psi_{A} ,$$

$$(2.36)$$

where we used $\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon^{c}=-S^{*}\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon^{c}$ and chose S to be a constant. Finally,

$$\delta^{2}[(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A}] = -iV^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}[(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\Psi_{A}]$$

$$+iS^{*}V^{\mu}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\gamma_{\mu}\Psi_{A} - iSV^{\mu}(\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\gamma_{\mu}\Psi_{A}$$

$$+2iS^{*}\Omega^{AB}V_{\mu}D_{\nu}X_{B}\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\Psi_{A} - 2iS\Omega^{AB}V_{\mu}D_{\nu}X_{B}\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\Psi_{A}.$$
(2.37)

This vanishes under the volume integration if and only if S is real constant. On the other hand the integrability condition of the Killing spinor (2.22) relates the constant S to the curvature scalar of the manifold

$$R = -24S^2 . (2.38)$$

If S is nonvanishing, this would allow hyperbolic space as a solution. In the following we will discard this possibility and instead demand that the manifold should be compact, in order to ensure that the partition function is well-defined.

On T^3 , the curvature scalar vanishes and so does S. This implies that the Killing spinor is constant and nowhere-vanishing. Moreover, in (2.29) and (2.30), with vanishing S terms, δ^2 gives a translation and a gauge transformation on all fields. δ -exactness and δ -closedness of the deformation are thus guaranteed.

We will henceforth restrict the manifold to be T^3 . We normalize the constant Killing spinor such that $\tilde{\epsilon}\epsilon^c = 1$. The bosonic part of the deformation (2.34) is

$$(\delta\Psi_A)^{\dagger}\delta\Psi_A = D_{\mu}X_A D^{\mu}X^A + i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}U_{\rho}D_{\mu}X_A D_{\nu}X^A + F_A F^A + iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X^A F_A - iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X_A F^A , \qquad (2.39)$$

where U_{μ} is a real unit vector, which we may choose to be along the third direction of T^3 without loss of generality. When restricted to the contour C, cf. (2.33), the bosonic part of

the deformation is positive semi-definite, and the saddle points where it vanishes are given by

$$D_1 X_A + i D_2 X_A = 0$$
, $D_3 X - i F = 0$. (2.40)

Hence with this deformation alone the theory does not reduce to a matrix integral with discrete saddle points: one can always choose some nontrivial functions for X_A and F so that (2.40) is satisfied. We therefore add another term $\delta[(\delta \Psi^A)^{\dagger} \Psi^A]$ to the original deformation

$$\begin{split} (\delta\Psi_{A})^{\dagger}\delta\Psi_{A} &+ (\delta\Psi^{A})^{\dagger}\delta\Psi^{A} = D_{\mu}X_{A}D^{\mu}X^{A} + i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}U_{\rho}D_{\mu}X_{A}D_{\nu}X^{A} + F_{A}F^{A} \\ &+ iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X^{A}F_{A} - iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X_{A}F^{A} \\ &+ D_{\mu}X_{A}D^{\mu}X^{A} - i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}U_{\rho}D_{\mu}X_{A}D_{\nu}X^{A} + F_{A}F^{A} \quad (2.41) \\ &- iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X^{A}F_{A} + iU^{\mu}D_{\mu}X_{A}F^{A} \\ &= 2\{D_{\mu}X_{A}D^{\mu}X^{A} + F_{A}F^{A}\} \;. \end{split}$$

When restricted to the contour C, the two terms in the last line are both positive semidefinite, and the critical points are given by

$$D_{\mu}X_{A} = F_{A} = 0. (2.42)$$

Gauge Sector:

A δ -closed deformation for the gauge sector is

$$\int d^3x \left\{ \delta[(\delta\lambda)^{\dagger}\lambda] + \delta[(\delta\hat{\lambda})^{\dagger}\hat{\lambda}] \right\} , \qquad (2.43)$$

where we have *defined*

$$(\delta\lambda)^{\dagger} \equiv -\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}; \quad (\delta\hat{\lambda})^{\dagger} \equiv -\epsilon^{\dagger}\gamma_{\mu\nu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.44)$$

so that the deformation (2.43) is a holomorphic functional of the complexified fields. Note in particular that $(\delta \lambda)^{\dagger}$ is *not* the adjoint of $\delta \lambda$ at generic points in field space, but only when restricted to the contour C, cf. (2.33).

The bosonic part of the deformation (2.43) is given by

$$(\delta\lambda)^{\dagger}\delta\lambda + (\delta\hat{\lambda})^{\dagger}\delta\hat{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu}\hat{F}_{\mu\nu} . \qquad (2.45)$$

When restricted to the contour C this becomes a sum of positive semi-definite terms, with critical points given by

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \hat{F}_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
 (2.46)

2.3.3 Gauge Fixing

We now introduce the usual ghost and anti-ghost action to fix the infinite degrees of freedom of the gauge fields. The ghost term is not invariant under supersymmetry, so one cannot immediately proceed to do localization. To deal with this, we follow [5, 6], and introduce a new fermionic symmetry Δ

$$\Delta \equiv \delta_Q + \delta_B , \qquad (2.47)$$

where δ_Q stands for supersymmetry and δ_B for BRST transformation.

Under a BRST transformation, we have

$$\delta_B A_\mu = \partial_\mu C + i[A_\mu, C] , \ \delta_B \lambda = -i\{\lambda, C\} .$$
(2.48)

and similarly for \hat{A} , $\hat{\lambda}$. Here C is the usual anti-commuting ghost field. It transforms under supersymmetry and BRST as

$$\delta_Q C = 0$$
, $\Delta C = \delta_B C = a_0 - \frac{i}{2} \{C, C\}$, $\Delta a_0 = 0$, (2.49)

where a_0 is a constant ghost-for-ghost field that takes care of the zero mode of C. With this combined transformation, one can verify that

$$\Delta^2 A_{\mu} = -iV^{\nu}F_{\nu\mu} + i[A_{\mu}, a_0] ,$$

$$\Delta^2 \lambda = -iV^{\mu}D_{\mu}\lambda + i[\lambda, a_0] ,$$

$$\Delta^2 C = i[C, a_0] .$$
(2.50)

The rest of the ghost complex transforms under Δ as

$$\Delta \bar{C} = b , \ \Delta b = -iV \cdot D\bar{C} + i[\bar{C}, a_0] ,$$

$$\Delta \bar{a}_0 = \bar{C}_0 , \ \Delta \bar{C}_0 = i[\bar{a}_0, a_0] ,$$

$$\Delta b_0 = C_0 , \ \Delta C_0 = [V \cdot A, b_0] + [A_\mu, \partial^\mu (V \cdot A)] - i \Box (V \cdot A) + i[b_0, a_0] ,$$

(2.51)

where \bar{C} is the anti-ghost, and b is the Lagrangian multiplier; \bar{a}_0, b_0, C_0 and \bar{C}_0 are constant fields needed to fix the zero modes of the ghosts and b.

The gauge-fixing action is

$$i \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ \Delta [\bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) - C\bar{a}_{0}] \}$$

= $i \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ b(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) - \bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}D_{\mu}C + \partial^{\mu}\delta_{Q}A_{\mu} + C_{0}) - (a_{0} - \frac{i}{2}\{C, C\})\bar{a}_{0} + C\bar{C}_{0} \} .$ (2.52)

Note that the ghost, the anti-ghost and the transformation Δ are all anti-commuting.

It can be shown that the integration over all fields in the ghost complex gives the Lorentz gauge. Now this action is invariant under Δ transformation

$$\Delta^{2}[\bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) - C\bar{a}_{0}]$$

$$=\Delta^{2}(\bar{C})(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) + \bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}\Delta^{2}(A_{\mu}) + \Delta^{2}(b_{0}))$$

$$-\Delta^{2}(C)\bar{a}_{0} - C\Delta^{2}(\bar{a}_{0})$$

$$=\Delta^{2}(\bar{C})(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) + \bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}\Delta^{2}(A_{\mu}) + \Delta^{2}(b_{0}))$$

$$-i[C, a_{0}]\bar{a}_{0} - iC[\bar{a}_{0}, a_{0}].$$
(2.53)

The last two terms cancel under the trace. The first two can also be shown to cancel

$$\int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ \Delta^{2}(\bar{C})(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) + \bar{C}(\partial^{\mu}\Delta^{2}(A_{\mu}) + \Delta^{2}(b_{0})) \}$$

$$= \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ (-iV \cdot D\bar{C} + i[\bar{C}, a_{0}])(\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} + b_{0}) + \bar{C}\partial^{\mu}(-iV^{\nu}F_{\nu\mu} + i[A_{\mu}, a_{0}]) + \bar{C}([V \cdot A, b_{0}] + [A_{\mu}, \partial^{\mu}(V \cdot A)] - i \Box(V \cdot A) + i[b_{0}, a_{0}]) \}$$

$$= \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ i[\bar{C}, a_{0}](\partial \cdot A + b_{0}) + i\bar{C}([\partial \cdot A + b_{0}, a_{0}]) - iV \cdot \partial[\bar{C}(\partial \cdot A + b_{0})] + [V \cdot A, \bar{C}](\partial \cdot A + b_{0}) + \bar{C}[V \cdot A, \partial \cdot A + b_{0}] + i\bar{C} \Box(V \cdot A) - i\bar{C} \Box(V \cdot A) + \bar{C}[\partial^{\mu}(V \cdot A), A_{\mu}] + \bar{C}[A_{\mu}, \partial^{\mu}(V \cdot A)] \}$$

$$= 0.$$

2.3.4 Saddle Points

For the gauge sector we replace δ by Δ in (2.43) and modify the deformation as follows

$$\Delta V_{\text{gauge}} = \int dx^3 \Delta \operatorname{tr} \{ \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\dagger} \gamma_{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \lambda \}$$

$$= \int dx^3 \operatorname{tr} \{ \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - i \tilde{\lambda} \not\!\!\!D \lambda \} ,$$
(2.55)

and similarly for the hatted fields. This deformation is Δ -exact and Δ -closed. For the matter sector, Δ is defined to be the same as δ , and the deformation is

The gauge sector localizes to

$$F_{\mu\nu} = 0; \quad \lambda = 0,$$
 (2.57)

where we have restricted to the contour C, cf. (2.33). In particular the saddle points of the gauge field correspond to flat gauge connections over the Euclidean three-torus. For a simply-connected gauge group $\pi_1(G) = 0$, such as $G = SU(N) \times SU(N)$, this implies that

$$A_{\mu} = c^i_{\mu} H_i , \qquad (2.58)$$

where c^i 's are constants and $\{H_i\}$, $i = 1, \cdots, \operatorname{rank}(G)$, is the Cartan subalgebra of G. This can be seen as follows (see e.g. [32, 33]): Since A_{μ} is a flat connection there exists a group element $U \in G$ such that $A_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}UU^{-1}$, at least locally. In other words Uneeds not to be globally defined but is allowed to undergo G-valued jumps as we wind around each of the three circles of the torus. More explicitly, suppose we have a square torus of radius L parameterized by $\{x^{\mu} \in [0, L]\}$. The group element $U(x^1, x^2, x^3)$ obeys nontrivial, in general, boundary conditions which may be parameterized as follows,

$$U(x^{1} + L, x^{2}, x^{3}) = U(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3})\Omega_{1};$$

$$U(x^{1}, x^{2} + L, x^{3}) = U(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3})\Omega_{2};$$

$$U(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3} + L) = U(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3})\Omega_{3},$$

(2.59)

for some constant $\Omega_{\mu} \in G$. In addition, for consistency, Ω_{μ} must mutally commute. Indeed going once around the circle parameterized by x^{μ} and then once around the circle parameterized by x^{ν} must produce the same jump in U as when going first around the x^{ν} direction and then along x^{μ} . This implies, taking (2.59) into account,

$$[\Omega_{\mu}, \Omega_{\nu}] = 0. \qquad (2.60)$$

For a unitary group G, as is the case in the present work, this implies that Ω_{μ} can be put in the form

$$\Omega_{\mu} = \exp(iLc_{\mu}^{j}H_{j}) , \qquad (2.61)$$

up to similarity transformation. Recalling the relation between A_{μ} and U we are thus led to the result cited in (2.58), provided we can show that for any set of mutally commuting Ω_{μ} 's we can always construct a group element $U \sim \exp(ix^{\mu}c^{j}_{\mu}H_{j})$ obeying (2.59).

The proof of the last step proceeds by showing that there is no obstruction in constructing an element $U(x^1x^2, x^3)$ on the edges of a cube of side L such that (2.59) is satisfied. Then U can be continued on the faces of the cube provided $\pi_1(G) = 0$, and finally in the interior provided $\pi_2(G) = 0$, which holds true for $G = SU(N) \times SU(N)$.

An important observation is that the constants c^i_μ should be understood as periodic

variables with periodic identification,

$$c^{i}_{\mu} \sim c^{i}_{\mu} + \frac{2\pi}{L}$$
 (2.62)

This can be seen by performing a gauge transformation generated by $U = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{L}x^{\mu}H_i)$, which shifts A_{μ} in accordance with (2.62). On the other hand the element U thus defined is periodic[§], i.e. as we wind around the x^{μ} direction of the torus it forms a closed loop in group space. But since the group is simply connected U may be continuously deformed to the identity, and the gauge transformation generated by U should act trivially on all fields of the theory. We thus arrive at the identification (2.62).

It follows from the above that the c^i_{μ} 's can be constrained to take values in $[0, \frac{2\pi}{L}]$. In particular taking the infinite-volume limit of the torus, $L \to \infty$, we conclude that the only solution to (2.57) is the trivial flat connection $A_{\mu} = 0$. Of course on \mathbb{R}^3 there is no obstruction to gauging away any flat connection of the form (2.58). The point is that we can formally reproduce this result by considering \mathbb{R}^3 as the infinite-volume limit of T^3 .

The case of $G = U(N) \times U(N)$ presents one crucial difference: $\pi_1(U(N)) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ and thus G is not simply connected. By considering the decomposition of the algebra-valued connection along the G-generators it is not very difficult to see that we may still put the most general flat connection in the form (2.58),

$$A_{\mu} = c^{i}_{\mu}H_{i} + d_{\mu}J + e_{\mu}K , \qquad (2.63)$$

where the first term on the right-hand side is as in the case of $SU(N) \times SU(N)$; d_{μ} , e_{μ} are constants; J, K are the two additional u(1) Cartan generators coming from the

[§]We are adopting the normalization $\exp(2\pi i H_i) = 1$.

decomposition

$$u(N) \oplus u(N) \cong su(N) \oplus su(N) \oplus u(1) \oplus u(1) .$$
(2.64)

Now the previous argument which allowed us to conclude that c^i_{μ} are periodic does not go through for the variables d_{μ} , e_{μ} . The reason is that the gauge transformations generated by $U = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{L}x^{\mu}J)$ and $U = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{L}x^{\mu}K)$ form closed loops in the group space which are not contractible to the identity. Hence the gauge transformations generated by U need not act trivially on all fields of the theory.

In particular our argument that in the infinite-volume limit the only flat connection is the trivial one, does not go through in this case without additional assumptions. If we wish to recover A = 0 as the unique (up to gauge transformations) solution to (2.63) in the infinite-volume limit, we must impose by hand that $U = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{L}x^{\mu}J)$ and $U = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{L}x^{\mu}K)$ act trivially on all fields of the theory.

Finally, the matter sector localizes to the following field configurations

$$F_A = 0; \quad \Psi_A = \Psi^A = 0; \quad X_A = \text{const},$$
 (2.65)

where we have restricted to the contour C, cf. (2.33).

2.3.5 One-loop Determinant

We will now compute the one-loop determinant from the quadratic fluctuations around the following saddle points,

$$A_{\mu} = 0; \quad \lambda = 0;$$

 $F_A = 0; \quad \Psi_A = \Psi^A = 0; \quad X_A = \text{const},$
(2.66)

and similarly for \hat{A} , $\hat{\lambda}$, i.e. we will ignore the contributions from non-vanishing flat gauge connections, as discussed in the previous section.

The full path integral is of the form

$$\int d\varphi \exp\{iS + iS_{g.f.} - t(\Delta V_{gauge} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta V_{matter})\}, \qquad (2.67)$$

where $iS_{g.f.}$ is the gauge-fixing action (2.52), and $\int d\varphi$ stands for integrations over all fields and ghosts; ΔV_{gauge} contains deformations for both hatted and unhatted gauge multiplets.

Next we expand the fields around the saddle points

$$X_A \to X_A^0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} X'_A , \quad \phi \to 0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \phi .$$
 (2.68)

Here X_A^0 is a constant field and X'_A represents the nonzero mode of X_A ; ϕ stands for all fields other than X_A . The path integral (2.67) is *t*-independent thanks to localization. On the other hand, taking $t \to \infty$ allows us to keep only the quadratic terms in the deformation

$$t(\Delta V_{\text{gauge}} + \frac{1}{2}\Delta V_{\text{matter}})$$

$$= \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{\frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}^{A}F^{A\mu\nu} - i\tilde{\lambda}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda\} + \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{\frac{1}{2}\hat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{A}\hat{F}^{A\mu\nu} - i\tilde{\lambda}\partial\!\!/\lambda\}$$

$$+ \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{\partial_{\mu}X_{A}^{\prime}\partial^{\mu}X^{\prime A} + X^{0A}A_{\mu}A^{\mu}X_{A}^{0} + X_{A}^{0}\hat{A}_{\mu}\hat{A}^{\mu}X^{0A} - 2X_{A}^{0}\hat{A}_{\mu}X^{0A}A^{\mu}$$

$$+ F_{A}F^{A} - i\tilde{\Psi}^{A}\partial\!\!\!/\Psi_{A} + \Omega^{AB}\tilde{\lambda}X_{B}^{0}\Psi_{A} + \Omega_{AB}\tilde{\lambda}X^{0B}\Psi^{A} - \Omega^{AB}X_{B}^{0}\tilde{\lambda}\Psi_{A} - \Omega_{AB}X^{0B}\tilde{\lambda}\Psi^{A}\},$$

$$(2.69)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu}^A \equiv \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ is the linearized field strength; some terms have been eliminated using Lorentz gauge.

Determinant from Bosons:

We start with the calculation of the one-loop determinant of the bosonic part. Under

Lorentz gauge, we have

$$\int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr}\{\frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}^{A}F^{A\mu\nu}\} + \int dx^{3}\operatorname{tr}\{\frac{1}{2}\hat{F}_{A\mu\nu}\hat{F}^{A\mu\nu}\} + \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr}\{\partial_{\mu}X_{A}^{\prime}\partial^{\mu}X^{\prime A} + X^{A0}A_{\mu}A^{\mu}X_{A}^{0} + X^{0}A_{\mu}\hat{A}^{\mu}\hat{X}^{A0} - 2X^{0}_{A}\hat{A}_{\mu}X^{A0}A^{\mu} + F_{A}F^{A}\}$$

$$= \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr}\{-A_{\mu}\Box A^{\mu}\} + \int dx^{3}\operatorname{tr}\{-\hat{A}_{\mu}\Box\hat{A}^{\mu}\} + \int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr}\{-X_{A}^{\prime}\Box X^{\prime A} + X^{A0}A_{\mu}A^{\mu}X_{A}^{0} + X^{0}A_{\mu}\hat{A}^{\mu}\hat{A}^{\mu}X^{A0} - 2X^{0}_{A}\hat{A}_{\mu}X^{A0}A^{\mu} + F_{A}F^{A}\}.$$

$$(2.70)$$

On T^3 with periodic conditions, any field φ can be expanded in terms of Fourier modes

$$\varphi = \sum_{\vec{n}} \varphi_{\vec{n}} \exp\{i2\pi \vec{n} \cdot \vec{x}\}, \qquad (2.71)$$

where $\vec{n} = (n_x, n_y, n_z)$ and each n_μ runs over all integers. In addition, for the gauge field the Lorentz gauge implies that for each \vec{n} ,

$$n_x A_{x,\vec{n}} + n_y A_{y,\vec{n}} + n_z A_{z,\vec{n}} = 0.$$
(2.72)

Let us first assume $n_z \neq 0$. (We will come back to the case $n_z = 0$ in the following). Then the previous equation can be used to eliminate $A_{z,\vec{n}}$ via

$$A_{z,\vec{n}} = -\frac{n_x}{n_z} A_{x,\vec{n}} - \frac{n_y}{n_z} A_{y,\vec{n}} .$$
 (2.73)

The gauge fields are in the adjoint representation, $A_{\mu} = A^{a}_{\mu}t_{a}$, where the generators t_{a}
are normalized so that $tr\{t_at_b\} = \delta_{ab}$. The gauge kinetic action becomes

$$\int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr}\{-A_{\mu} \Box A^{\mu}\}$$

$$= \int d^{3}x \sum_{a} \sum_{\vec{n}, n_{z} \neq 0} 4\pi^{2} \vec{n}^{2} \{ (\frac{n_{x}^{2} + n_{z}^{2}}{n_{z}^{2}}) A_{x,-\vec{n}}^{a} A_{x,\vec{n}}^{a} + (\frac{n_{y}^{2} + n_{z}^{2}}{n_{z}^{2}}) A_{y,-\vec{n}}^{a} A_{y,\vec{n}}^{a} \qquad (2.74)$$

$$+ \frac{n_{x}n_{y}}{n_{z}^{2}} A_{x,-\vec{n}}^{a} A_{y,\vec{n}}^{a} + \frac{n_{x}n_{y}}{n_{z}^{2}} A_{y,-\vec{n}}^{a} A_{x,\vec{n}}^{a} \} .$$

By symmetrizing \vec{n} and $-\vec{n}$, for each pair of $(\vec{n}, -\vec{n})$ and each a, this can be written in matrix notation as follows

Similarly, for each $(\vec{n},-\vec{n})$ and a,b, the potentials involving the gauge fields are

$$X^{A0}A^{a} \cdot A^{b}t_{a}t_{b}X^{0}_{A}: \Gamma \times X^{A0}t_{a}t_{b}X^{0}_{A},$$

$$X^{0}_{A}\hat{A}^{a} \cdot \hat{A}^{b}\hat{t}_{a}\hat{t}_{b}X^{A0}: \Gamma \times X^{0}_{A}\hat{t}_{a}\hat{t}_{b}X^{A0},$$

$$-2X^{0}_{A}\hat{A}^{a}_{\mu}\hat{t}_{a}X^{A0}A^{b\mu}t_{b}: \Gamma \times -2X^{0}_{A}\hat{t}_{a}X^{A0}t_{b},$$
(2.76)

where

$$\Gamma \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{n_x^2 + n_z^2}{n_z^2} & 0 & \frac{n_x n_y}{n_z^2} \\ \frac{n_x^2 + n_z^2}{n_z^2} & 0 & \frac{n_x n_y}{n_z^2} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{n_x n_y}{n_z^2} & 0 & \frac{n_y^2 + n_z^2}{n_z^2} \\ \frac{n_x n_y}{n_z^2} & 0 & \frac{n_y^2 n_z^2}{n_z^2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.77)

The matter fields are in the bifundamental representation of the gauge group $U(N) \, \times \,$

U(N). Moreover $X = \sum_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} X^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} |\rho\rangle \otimes |\hat{\rho}\rangle$, where $|\rho\rangle$, $|\hat{\rho}\rangle$ are representatives of the weights in each weight space; we choose the normalization so that $\langle \rho | \rho' \rangle = \delta_{\rho,\rho'}$ and $\langle \hat{\rho} | \hat{\rho}' \rangle = \delta_{\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}'}$, in some gauge-invariant contraction of the relevant color indices. We then have

$$X^{A0}t_{a}t_{b}X^{0}_{A} = \sum_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \sum_{(\rho',\hat{\rho}')} X^{A0(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \langle \hat{\rho} | \otimes \langle \rho | t_{a}t_{b} | \rho' \rangle | \hat{\rho}' \rangle X^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho}')}_{A}$$

$$= \sum_{\rho,\rho',\hat{\rho},\rho''} X^{A0(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \langle \rho | t_{a} | \rho'' \rangle \langle \rho'' | t_{b} | \rho' \rangle X^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})}_{A}$$

$$= \sum_{\rho,\rho',\hat{\rho},\rho''} X^{A0(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \sigma^{(\rho,\rho'')}_{a} \sigma^{(\rho'',\rho')}_{b} X^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})}_{A}, \qquad (2.78)$$

$$X^{0}_{A}\hat{t}_{a}\hat{t}_{b}X^{A0} = \sum_{\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}',\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}'} X^{0(\rho,\hat{\rho})}_{A} \hat{\sigma}^{(\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}')}_{a} \hat{\sigma}^{(\hat{\rho}'',\hat{\rho}')}_{b} X^{A0(\rho,\hat{\rho}')} , \qquad (2.78)$$

$$X^{0}_{A}\hat{t}_{a}X^{A0}t_{b} = \sum_{\rho,\rho',\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}'} X^{0(\rho,\hat{\rho})}_{A} \hat{\sigma}^{(\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}')}_{a} X^{A0(\rho',\hat{\rho}')} \sigma^{(\rho',\rho)}_{b} ,$$

where $\sigma_a^{(\rho,\rho')} \equiv \langle \rho | t_a | \rho' \rangle$ and we used the fact that $\sum_{\rho} | \rho \rangle \langle \rho | = \mathbb{1}$. We then define the following matrices

$$B_{ab} = X^{A0} t_{(a} t_{b)} X^{0}_{A} ,$$

$$C_{ab} = X^{0}_{A} \hat{t}_{(a} \hat{t}_{b)} X^{A0} ,$$

$$D_{ab} = -X^{0}_{A} \hat{t}_{a} X^{A0} t_{b} ,$$
(2.79)

and the deformations that are quadratic in gauge fields can be represented as

The determinant of the tensor product of two matrices A and B is given by

$$\det(A \otimes B) = (\det A)^{\dim B} (\det B)^{\dim A} .$$
(2.81)

Therefore, when $n_z \neq 0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \det(A, \hat{A})|_{n_{z}\neq0} &= \prod_{(\vec{n}, -\vec{n}), n_{z}\neq0} \left\{ (\det A)^{4} \times (\prod_{a} \det \Gamma)^{2} \right\} \\ &= \prod_{(\vec{n}, -\vec{n}), n_{z}\neq0} \left\{ (\det A)^{4} \times (\prod_{a} \frac{(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^{2}}{n_{z}^{4}})^{2} \right\} \\ &= \prod_{(\vec{n}, -\vec{n}), n_{z}\neq0} \left\{ (\det [\frac{A}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}])^{4} \times (\prod_{a} \frac{(4\pi^{2})^{4}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^{6}}{n_{z}^{4}})^{2} \right\} \\ &= \prod_{\vec{n}, n_{z}\neq0} \left\{ (\det [\frac{A}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}])^{2} \times (\prod_{a} \frac{16\pi^{4}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^{3}}{n_{z}^{2}})^{2} \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.82)

where

$$A \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{B} + 4\pi^2 (\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n}) \times \mathbb{1} & \mathbb{D}^{Tr} \\ \mathbb{D} & \mathbb{C} + 4\pi^2 (\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n}) \times \mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.83)

For the case where $n_z = 0$, but n_x or n_y are not equal to zero, the procedure is similar. The determinant coming from integrating over A_μ reads

$$\det(A, \hat{A}) = \prod_{\vec{n}} (\det(\frac{A}{4\pi^2(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}))^2 \prod_a \{ \prod_{\substack{a \ \vec{n}, n_z \neq 0}} [16\pi^4 \frac{(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^3}{n_z^2}]^2 \\ \times \prod_{\vec{n}, n_z = 0, n_x \neq 0} [16\pi^4 \frac{(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^3}{n_x^2}]^2 \prod_{\vec{n}, n_z = n_x = 0, n_y \neq 0} [16\pi^4 \frac{(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^3}{n_y^2}]^2 \}.$$
(2.84)

The contribution to the one-loop determinant coming from the terms involving gauge

fields is thus

$$Z_{1-loop}(A, \hat{A}) = \frac{\prod_{a} \{\prod_{\vec{n}, n_{z} \neq 0} n_{z}^{2} \prod_{\vec{n}, n_{z} = 0, n_{x} \neq 0} n_{x}^{2} \prod_{\vec{n}, n_{z} = n_{x} = 0, n_{y} \neq 0} n_{y}^{2}\}}{\prod_{a} \prod_{\vec{n}} 16\pi^{4}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})^{3}} \times \prod_{\vec{n}} (\det[\frac{A}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}])^{-1}.$$
(2.85)

One may worry about regularizing the numerator. However, we note that the gaugefixing delta function also gives a Jacobian factor to the one-loop determinant. Indeed in the ghost action we have

$$\exp\{i\int d^3x \operatorname{tr}(b\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu})\}\$$

$$=\exp\{i2\pi\sum_{\vec{n}}\sum_{a}b^a_{-\vec{n}}(\vec{n}\cdot\vec{A}^a_{\vec{n}})\}.$$
(2.86)

After integrating out $b^a_{\vec{n}}$ we obtain

$$\prod_{\vec{n}} \prod_{a} \delta(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{A}_{\vec{n}}^{a}) .$$
(2.87)

This product of delta functions imposes the gauge-fixing Lorentz condition and, upon integrating out A_{μ} , \hat{A}_{μ} , gives a Jacobian factor which cancels the numerator of (2.85).

The integral over F_A simply contributes an overall constant factor. Finally we are left

with the integration over X'_A

$$\int d^{3}x \operatorname{tr} \{ -X'_{A} \Box X'^{A} \}$$

$$= \sum_{\vec{n}} 4\pi^{2} \vec{n}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \{ X'_{A,-\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} \}$$

$$= \sum_{\vec{n}} 2\pi^{2} \vec{n}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \{ X'_{A,-\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} + X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} X'_{A,-\vec{n}} \}$$

$$= \sum_{(\vec{n},-\vec{n})} 2\pi^{2} \vec{n}^{2} \operatorname{tr} \{ X'_{A,-\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} + X'_{A,\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{-\vec{n}} + X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{-\vec{n}} + X'^{A}_{\vec{n}} X'^{A}_{-\vec{n}} \} .$$
(2.88)

This integration is Gaussian, and the corresponding determinant is

$$\det X'_{A} = \prod_{A} \prod_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \prod_{\vec{n}} (2\pi^{2}\vec{n}^{2})^{2} , \qquad (2.89)$$

where $(\rho, \hat{\rho})$ runs over the weights of the bifundamental representation. Therefore, the total contribution of the bosonic part to the one-loop determinant reads

$$Z_{1-loop}(Boson) = \frac{1}{\{\prod_{a} \prod_{\vec{n}} 16\pi^{4}(\vec{n}^{2})^{3}\}|_{A,\hat{A}}\{\prod_{A} \prod_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \prod_{\vec{n}} 2\pi^{2}\vec{n}^{2}\}|_{X'}} \times \prod_{\vec{n}} (\det[\frac{\mathbb{A}}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n}\cdot\vec{n})}])^{-1} = \frac{1}{\{\prod_{\vec{n}} [16\pi^{4}(\vec{n}^{2})^{3}]^{d}\}\{\prod_{A} \prod_{\vec{n}} (2\pi^{2}\vec{n}^{2})^{w^{2}}\}} \times \prod_{\vec{n}} (\det[\frac{\mathbb{A}}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n}\cdot\vec{n})}])^{-1}.$$

$$(2.90)$$

Here d is the dimension of the gauge group and w is the dimension of its fundamental representation. For U(N) in particular we have $d = N^2$, w = N.

Determinant from Fermions:

The fermionic part of the deformation is

$$\int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{-i\tilde{\lambda}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda\} + \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{-i\tilde{\hat{\lambda}}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda\} + \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{-i\tilde{\Psi}^{A}\partial\!\!/\Psi_{A} + \Omega_{AB}\tilde{\hat{\lambda}}X^{0B}\Psi^{A} - \Omega^{AB}X^{0}_{B}\tilde{\hat{\lambda}}\Psi_{A} - \Omega_{AB}X^{0B}\tilde{\lambda}\Psi^{A}\}.$$
(2.91)

Using the expansion $\lambda = \lambda_+ \epsilon + \lambda_- \epsilon^c$ for the gaugino kinetic term, we have

$$\int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{-i\tilde{\lambda}\partial\lambda\}$$

$$= \int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr}\{-i(\lambda_{+}V \cdot \partial\lambda_{+} - \lambda_{-}\bar{V} \cdot \partial\lambda_{-} - \lambda_{-}U \cdot \partial\lambda_{+} - \lambda_{+}U \cdot \partial\lambda_{-})\}$$

$$= 2\pi \sum_{a} \sum_{\vec{n}} \{V \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{+,-\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{+,\vec{n}} - \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{-,-\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{-,\vec{n}} - U \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{-,-\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{+,\vec{n}} + (-V \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{+,\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{+,-\vec{n}} + \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{-,\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{-,\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{+,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n}\lambda^{a}_{+,\vec{n}}\lambda^{a}_{+,-\vec{n}} - \bar{U}\},$$

$$(2.92)$$

where we symmetrized the indices +, - and \vec{n} , $-\vec{n}$ of the gaugini in the last equation. For each pair of $(\vec{n}, -\vec{n})$ and each a, this can be written in matrix notation as

Similarly for the matter fermion kinetic term

$$2\pi \sum_{(\vec{n},-\vec{n})} \operatorname{tr}\{(V \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}} - \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}} + (-V \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} - \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} + (-1) \Psi^{A} \leftrightarrow \Psi_{A} .$$

The last term arises due to the symmetrization of Ψ^A and Ψ_A . When decomposed into the weight spaces, this becomes

$$\pi \sum_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \sum_{(\vec{n},-\vec{n})} \{ (V \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} - \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} - U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} + (-V \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} + \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} + U \cdot \vec{n} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \} + (-1) \Psi^{A} \leftrightarrow \Psi_{A} .$$

$$(2.95)$$

For each pair of weights $(\rho, \hat{\rho})$ and each pair of $(\vec{n}, -\vec{n})$, these terms can be written with the help of two matrices

and

$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} & \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} & \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} & \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \\
\Psi_{A+,\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} & \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -\pi V \cdot \vec{n} & \pi U \cdot \vec{n} \\ 0 & 0 & -\pi V \cdot \vec{n} & \pi U \cdot \vec{n} \\ 0 & 0 & -\pi V \cdot \vec{n} & \pi U \cdot \vec{n} \\ \pi V \cdot \vec{n} & -\pi U \cdot \vec{n} & 0 & 0 \\ -\pi U \cdot \vec{n} & -\pi \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.97)

Similarly, the Yukawa interactions can be written as

$$\int dx^{3} \operatorname{tr} \{ \Omega^{AB} \tilde{\lambda} X_{B}^{0} \Psi_{A} + \Omega_{AB} \tilde{\hat{\lambda}} X^{0B} \Psi^{A} - \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} \tilde{\hat{\lambda}} \Psi_{A} - \Omega_{AB} X^{0B} \tilde{\lambda} \Psi^{A} \}$$

$$= a \sum_{\vec{n}} \operatorname{tr} \{ (\Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} \lambda_{-,\vec{n}} - \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} \lambda_{+,\vec{n}}) \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} + (\Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{-,\vec{n}} - \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{+,\vec{n}}) \Omega_{AB} X^{0B}$$

$$- \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} (\hat{\lambda}_{+,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}} - \hat{\lambda}_{-,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}}) - \Omega_{AB} X^{0B} (\lambda_{+,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} - \lambda_{-,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A}) \}$$

$$= a \sum_{(\vec{n},-\vec{n})} \operatorname{tr} \{ (\Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}} \lambda_{-,\vec{n}} - \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} \lambda_{+,\vec{n}}) \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} + (\Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{-,\vec{n}} - \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{+,\vec{n}}) \Omega_{AB} X^{0B}$$

$$- \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} (\hat{\lambda}_{+,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}} - \hat{\lambda}_{-,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{A+,\vec{n}}) - \Omega_{AB} X^{0B} (\lambda_{+,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} - \lambda_{-,-\vec{n}} \Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A})$$

$$+ (\Psi_{A+,\vec{n}} \lambda_{-,-\vec{n}} - \Psi_{A-,\vec{n}} \lambda_{+,-\vec{n}}) \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} + (\Psi_{+,\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{-,-\vec{n}} - \Psi_{-,\vec{n}}^{A} \hat{\lambda}_{+,-\vec{n}}) \Omega_{AB} X^{0B}$$

$$- \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0} (\hat{\lambda}_{+,\vec{n}} \Psi_{A-,-\vec{n}} - \hat{\lambda}_{-,\vec{n}} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}) - \Omega_{AB} X^{0B} (\lambda_{+,\vec{n}} \Psi_{-,-\vec{n}}^{A} - \lambda_{-,\vec{n}} \Psi_{+,-\vec{n}}^{A}) \}.$$
(2.98)

Each term, such as $tr\{\Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}\lambda_{-,\vec{n}}\Omega^{AB}X^0_B\}$ for example, can be written in terms of the algebra representations as follows

$$\sum_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \sum_{(\rho',\hat{\rho}')} \sum_{a} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \langle \hat{\rho} | \langle \rho | \lambda^{a}_{-,\vec{n}} t_{a} | \rho' \rangle | \hat{\rho}' \rangle \Omega^{AB} X^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho}')}_{B}$$

$$= \sum_{\rho,\rho',\hat{\rho}} \sum_{a} \Psi_{A+,-\vec{n}}^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \lambda^{a}_{-,\vec{n}} \sigma^{(\rho,\rho')}_{a} \Omega^{AB} X^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})}_{B} , \qquad (2.99)$$

where $\sigma_a^{(\rho,\rho')} \equiv \langle \rho | t_a | \rho' \rangle$ $(\hat{\sigma}_a^{(\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}')} \equiv \langle \hat{\rho} | \hat{t}_a | \hat{\rho}' \rangle)$. Therefore the matrix elements for each

 $\Psi_A^{(\rho,\hat{\rho})}$ and each λ^a are

where $[\sigma X] \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sigma_a^{(\rho,\rho')} \Omega^{AB} X_B^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})}$ and λ , Ψ are symmetrized. This explains the factor $\frac{1}{2}$ in each entry. A summation over ρ' is understood in $\sigma_a^{(\rho,\rho')} \Omega^{AB} X_B^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})}$.

The fermionic part of the deformation for each pair of $(\vec{n}, -\vec{n})$ can be written in matrix notation as

where

$$M = 2N \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -2\pi V \cdot \vec{n} & 2\pi U \cdot \vec{n} \\ 0 & 0 & 2\pi U \cdot \vec{n} & 2\pi \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} \\ 2\pi V \cdot \vec{n} & -2\pi U \cdot \vec{n} & 0 & 0 \\ -2\pi U \cdot \vec{n} & -2\pi \bar{V} \cdot \vec{n} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(\sigma X)^{A} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{a}^{(\rho,\rho')} \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0(\rho',\hat{\rho})} \times \mathbb{S},$$

$$(X\sigma)_{A} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \Omega_{AB} X^{B0(\rho',\hat{\rho})} \sigma_{a}^{(\rho',\rho)} \times \mathbb{S},$$

$$(\widehat{\sigma X})_{A} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \hat{\sigma}_{a}^{(\hat{\rho},\hat{\rho}')} \Omega_{AB} X^{B0(\rho,\hat{\rho}')} \times \mathbb{S},$$

$$(\widehat{X\sigma})^{A} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0(\rho,\hat{\rho}')} \hat{\sigma}_{a}^{(\hat{\rho}',\hat{\rho})} \times \mathbb{S},$$

$$(\widehat{X\sigma})^{A} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \Omega^{AB} X_{B}^{0(\rho,\hat{\rho}')} \hat{\sigma}_{a}^{(\hat{\rho}',\hat{\rho})} \times \mathbb{S},$$

and

$$\mathbb{S} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.104)

As before we have a, a' = 1, ..., d; $\rho, \hat{\rho} = 1, ..., w$; A = 1, ..., 4, where d is the dimension of the gauge group and w is the dimension of its fundamental representation. Therefore (2.102) is a $2d + 8w^2$ by $2d + 8w^2$ block matrix: each entry is given by one of the above four by four matrices. The matrix (2.102) can be partitioned into four blocks

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_{8d\times 8d} & B_{8d\times 32w^2} \\ C_{32w^2\times 8d} & D_{32w^2\times 32w^2} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} M & 0 & (X\sigma)_A & -(\sigma X)^A \\ 0 & M & -\widehat{(\sigma X)}_A & \widehat{(X\sigma)}^A \\ (X\sigma)_A & -\widehat{(\sigma X)}_A & 0 & N \\ -(\sigma X)^A & \widehat{(X\sigma)}^A & N & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.105)

so that the determinant reads \P

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \det A \det D \det [\mathbb{1} - D^{-1}CA^{-1}B] .$$
 (2.106)

The determinants $\det A$ and $\det D$ are straightforward to compute

$$\det A = (\det M)^{2d} = [16\pi^4 (\vec{n}^2)^2]^{2d} , \qquad (2.107)$$

$$\det D = \prod_{A} (\det N)^{2w^2} = \prod_{A} [\pi^4 (\vec{n}^2)^2]^{2w^2} .$$
(2.108)

Their combined contribution to the one-loop determinant is

$$\prod_{\vec{n}} \{ (4\pi^2 \vec{n}^2)^d \prod_A (\pi^2 \vec{n}^2)^{w^2} \} .$$
 (2.109)

Furthermore the integrations over the ghosts and anti-ghosts for the two gauge groups contribute $(\det \Box)^2 = {\prod_{\vec{n}} (4\pi^2 \vec{n}^2)^d}^2$. When combined with (2.109) this gives

$$\prod_{\vec{n}} \{ (4\pi^2 \vec{n}^2)^{3d} \prod_A (\pi^2 \vec{n}^2)^{w^2} \} .$$
(2.110)

Up to a constant factor, this partially cancels the one-loop determinant from the boson

[¶]We use the notation $\mathbb{A}, \mathbb{B}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{D}$ for the matrices in the bosonic sector, while the matrices A, B, C, D are used for the fermion fields. We hope this doesn't cause any confusion with the Sp(2) indices.

sector, (2.90). We are thus left with only X^0 -dependent contributions from both boson and fermion sectors.

Inserting the localization conditions (2.66) into the off-shell Lagrangian (2.11) gives a vanishing classical contribution. Therefore the partition function is given purely by the one-loop determinant

$$Z = \int \prod_{A} \prod_{(\rho,\hat{\rho})} dX_{A}^{0(\rho,\hat{\rho})} \prod_{B} \prod_{(\rho',\hat{\rho}')} dX^{B0(\rho',\hat{\rho}')} \frac{\prod_{(\vec{n},-\vec{n})} \{\det[\mathbb{1} - D^{-1}CA^{-1}B]\}^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\prod_{\vec{n}} \det[\frac{\mathbb{A}}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n}\cdot\vec{n})}]} .$$
(2.111)

We now make use of the Sylvester identity

$$\det[\mathbb{1} - D^{-1}CA^{-1}B] = \det[\mathbb{1} - BD^{-1}CA^{-1}], \qquad (2.112)$$

where the matrix on the left-hand side above is $32w^2 \times 32w^2$, while the matrix on the right-hand side is $8d \times 8d$. Using the definitions in (2.103) and (2.104), one can show that

$$\det[\mathbb{1} - BD^{-1}CA^{-1}]$$

$$= \det[\mathbb{1} + C^{Tr}D^{-1}CA^{-1}]$$

$$= \det[\mathbb{1} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{B} \quad \mathbb{D}^{Tr} \\ \mathbb{D} \quad \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \frac{\mathbb{S}N^{-1}\mathbb{S}M^{-1}}{2}]$$

$$= \det[\mathbb{1} + \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{B} \quad \mathbb{D}^{Tr} \\ \mathbb{D} \quad \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \frac{\mathbb{1}_{4\times 4}}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}]$$

$$= \{\det[\frac{\mathbb{A}}{4\pi^{2}(\vec{n} \cdot \vec{n})}]\}^{4}.$$
(2.113)

Putting this back into the one-loop determinant, we see that the fermion and boson determinants cancel exactly against each other.

2.4 Discussion

We have partially carried out the localization procedure for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chern-Simons matter theory on T^3 with periodic boundary conditions. In particular we computed the contributions to the partition function from the locus of saddle points with vanishing gauge connection. As expected, restricting to this locus gives a trivial contribution to the partition function, i.e. the bosonic and fermionic contributions exactly cancel each other. Indeed evaluating the partition function on the flat torus at the trivial vacuum (vanishing gauge connection) simply counts the degrees of freedom of the theory, and for a supersymmetric theory one expects a complete cancellation. Of course the full partition function should receive contributions also from saddle points with nonvanishing flat gauge connections, which we have not computed here. We hope to return to this in the future.

Another potentially interesting direction in which this work may be generalized is by allowing for a more general Killing spinor equation than the eq. (2.18) which was used for the present analysis. This may be achieved by coupling to a supergravity background and could provide additional possibilities for spaces on which the theory localizes.

We then conclude this chapter. We will move on to a new topic, the study of HS/CFT dualities, in the next chapter.

3. ONE LOOP TESTS OF SUPERSYMMETRIC HIGHER SPIN AdS_4/CFT_3^*

The problem of constructing field theories describing the consistent propagation and interaction of HS fields has a long history and is a highly non-trivial one. Especially, in the tensionless limit of string theory on flat background all the massive tower of states gets squeezed to a common zero mass level and the free theory is described by an infinite amount of massless free fields with arbitrary integer high spin [34]. Several years ago the consistent cubic vertices of massless HS fields in (A)dS were explicitly constructed by Fradkin and Vasiliev [15] and, remarkably, a fully non-linear theory of interacting higher spins in (A)dS was found by Vasiliev [35–38]. In the context of AdS/CFT, the HS theories have precisely the right structure to be dual to simple vector models at the boundary [16, 18].

In the following we briefly introduce the general Konstein-Vasiliev theories, and then proceed to the study of HS/CFT duality by carrying out the one loop tests of the free energy.

This chapter is based on the work [25] in collaboration with Dr. Yi Pang and Dr. Ergin Sezgin.

3.1 Main idea and General Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories

An important test of the HS/CFT holography is to match the free energy of the bulk theory with that of the CFT on the boundary. Assuming the bulk HS theory possesses an action formulation, the partition function evaluated on Euclidean AdS_4 can be expanded

^{*}Reprinted with permission from "One Loop Tests of Supersymmetric Higher Spin AdS_4/CFT_3 " by Yi Pang, Ergin Segzin and Yaodong Zhu, 2017, *Phys. Rev. D* 95, 026008, Copyright [2017] by the American Physical Society.

in terms of the Newton's constant G_N as

$$F_{\text{bulk}} = \frac{1}{G_N} F_{\text{bulk}}^{(0)} + F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)} + G_N F_{\text{bulk}}^{(2)} + \cdots$$
(3.1)

When the bulk Euclidean AdS_4 is the hyperbolic space H_4 whose conformal boundary is a round S^3 , the free energy of the bulk HS theory should match with that of a free CFT on a round S^3 . The free energy of a free CFT on S^3 takes the simple form [39]

$$F_{\rm CFT} = N F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} , \qquad (3.2)$$

where $F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$ is the free energy of a single component in U(N) vector model. The zerothorder contribution $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(0)}$ has not been computed so far due to the lack of an action for Vasiliev theory with all the required properties. Matching F_{bulk} with F_{CFT} necessarily requires that F_{bulk} is proportional to $F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$ at each order in the small G_N expansion and that G_N is identified in terms of N as

$$G_N^{-1} \to \gamma(N + \Delta N) ,$$
 (3.3)

with γ and ΔN being constants, and ΔN should be a fixed integer for a given bulk/boundary dual pair. Assuming Fronsdal type quadratic action for the massless HS fields, one loop computations have shown that these requirements are fulfilled in the conjectured duality between non-minimal and minimal Type-A theory and the bosonic U(N) and O(N) vector model [20]. In particular, for minimal Type-A model it is shown that $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)} = F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$, and thus indicating $\Delta N = -1$ [20]. However, for the conjectured duality between Type-B theories in Euclidean AdS_4 and the fermionic U(N) and O(N) vector models on the boundary S^3 [18], these requirements are not satisfied since $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)}$ and $F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$ are not proportional to each other. Driven by this mismatch, we extend the previous one loop tests to a wider class of Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories [24] and the corresponding free CFT duals. In particular we study the consequences of supersymmetry which combine Type-A and Type-B spectra with an infinite tower of massless HS fermions.

Spectra of Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories:

The building block for the construction of the physical spectra are the singleton representations of SO(3,2)

$$(\text{Rac}, m), (\text{Di}, n),$$
 (3.4)

where *m* labels the fundamental representations of internal symmetry group u(m), usp(m) or o(m) and same for *n*. It has been shown that the physical spectra of three types of HS theories, based on HS algebras denoted by hu(m; n|4), ho(m; n|4), husp(m; n|4), are obtained from the following tensor products of the singletons

$$hu(m;n|4): S \otimes \overline{S}$$
 (3.5)

$$ho(m;n|4): (S \otimes S)_S \tag{3.6}$$

$$husp(m;n|4): (S \otimes S)_A \tag{3.7}$$

where $(\cdot)_S$ and $(\cdot)_A$ stand for symmetric and antisymmetric tensor products, respectively, and we defined

$$S := (\operatorname{Rac}, m) \oplus (\operatorname{Di}, n) . \tag{3.8}$$

The resulting spectra are as follows [24]

$$hu(m;n|4) : (m^2 - 1, 1) \oplus (1, n^2 - 1) \oplus (1, 1) \oplus (1, 1) \qquad s = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
$$(m, \bar{n}) \oplus (\bar{m}, n) \qquad s = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{5}{2}, \dots$$

$$ho(m;n|4) : (\frac{1}{2}m(m-1),1) \oplus (1,\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)) \qquad s = 1,3,\dots$$
$$(\frac{1}{2}m(m+1)-1,1) \oplus (1,\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)-1) \oplus (1,1) \oplus (1,1) \ s = 0,2,4,\dots$$
$$(3.9)$$
$$(m,n) \qquad s = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{5}{2},\dots$$

$$\begin{aligned} husp(m;n|4) : \left(\frac{1}{2}m(m+1), 1\right) \oplus \left(1, \frac{1}{2}n(n+1)\right) & s = 1, 3, \dots \\ \left(\frac{1}{2}m(m-1) - 1, 1\right) \oplus \left(1, \frac{1}{2}n(n-1) - 1\right) \oplus \left(1, 1\right) \oplus \left(1, 1\right) s = 0, 2, 4, \dots \\ (m,n) & s = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{5}{2}, \dots , \end{aligned}$$

These algebras contain finite dimensional superalgebras only when $m = n = 2^{N/2-1}$ or $m = n = 2^{(N-1)/2}$ for N being even or odd. In these cases we have the isomorphisms

$$shs^{E}(\mathcal{N}|4) \cong \begin{cases} hu\left(2^{\frac{N}{2}-1}; 2^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \middle| 4\right) & \mathcal{N} = 2 \mod 4 ,\\ husp\left(2^{\frac{N}{2}-1}; 2^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \middle| 4\right) & \mathcal{N} = 4 \mod 8 ,\\ ho\left(2^{\frac{N}{2}-1}; 2^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \middle| 4\right) & \mathcal{N} = 8 \mod 8 . \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

and

$$shs^{E}(\mathcal{N}|4) \cong \begin{cases} ho\left(2^{(\mathcal{N}-1)/2}; 2^{(\mathcal{N}-1)/2} \middle| 4\right) & \mathcal{N} = 1 \mod 8, \\ husp\left(2^{(\mathcal{N}-1)/2}; 2^{(\mathcal{N}-1)/2} \middle| 4\right) & \mathcal{N} = 5 \mod 8. \end{cases}$$
 (3.11)

As for the case of $\mathcal{N}=3 \mod 4$, it has been shown in [40] that it is equivalent to the case of $\mathcal{N}=4 \mod 4$.

3.2 Free energies of Konstein-Vasiliev higher spin theories in AdS_4 with S^3 boundary

In this section we shall compute the free energy of Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories in AdS_4 with S^3 boundary, imposing the HS symmetry preserving boundary conditions. Free energy of bosonic HS fields in AdS_4 has been studied in [20,21,41,42]. The regularization scheme that has been used in summing over infinite tower of HS fields, however, is very complicated. Here, we employ a simpler alternate method which utilizes the character of irreducible representation of SO(2,3). As an important consequence, the regularized individual spin contributions are such that the subsequent sum over infinite tower of higher spins is finite, thereby avoiding the need for additional regularization of this sum. This method was introduced in [43] to compute the one loop free energy of massive HS fields, but was not applied to the computation of the above free energies to exhibit the contributions of the infinite tower of odd and even spins separately. In what follows we shall use the alternate method to compute these contributions separately. We then generalize the method and apply it to the computation in bulk fermion sector in the subsequent subsection.

The one loop correction to the free energy is defined as $F^{(1)} = -\log Z^{(1)}$ where $Z^{(1)}$ is the one loop partition function. For HS theory with n_S real scalars, n_P pseudoscalars, n_1 copies of fields with $s = 1, 3, ..., \infty, n_2$ copies of fields with $s = 2, 4, ..., \infty$ fields and n_F copies of spin $1/2, 3/2, ..., \infty$ fields, we have

$$F^{(1)}(n_S, n_P, n_1, n_2, n_F) = \frac{1}{2} n_S \log \det_1 \mathcal{D}_B(1, 0) + \frac{1}{2} n_P \log \det_2 \mathcal{D}_B(2, 0)$$

+ $\frac{1}{2} n_1 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\log \det \mathcal{D}_B(2k+2, 2k+1) - \log \det \mathcal{D}_B(2k+3, 2k) \right]$ (3.12)
+ $\frac{1}{2} n_2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[\log \det \mathcal{D}_B(2k+1, 2k) - \log \det \mathcal{D}_B(2k+2, 2k-1) \right]$
- $\frac{1}{2} n_F \log \det \mathcal{D}_F(\frac{3}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{1}{2} n_F \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[\log \det \mathcal{D}_F(k+\frac{3}{2}, k+\frac{1}{2}) - \log \det \mathcal{D}_F(k+\frac{5}{2}, k-\frac{1}{2}) \right],$

where we have defined

$$\mathcal{D}_B(\Delta, s) = \left[-\nabla^2 + \Delta(\Delta - 3) - s \right] ,$$

$$\mathcal{D}_F(\Delta, s) = \left[-\nabla^2 + \Delta(\Delta - 3) + \frac{9}{4} \right] .$$
(3.13)

The negative contributions in the bosonic sector and the positive contributions in the fermionic sector are due to ghosts. In computing det₁ and det₂, the irregular ($\Delta_{-} = 1$) and regular ($\Delta_{+} = 2$) boundary conditions are to be used.

For a differential operator of the form $\mathcal{D} = -\nabla^2 + X$, or $\mathcal{D} = -\nabla^2 + Y$, writing

$$-\log \det \mathcal{D} = \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} K_{\mathcal{D}}(t) , \qquad K_{\mathcal{D}}(t) := \operatorname{Tr} \left[e^{-t\mathcal{D}} \right] , \qquad (3.14)$$

and defining the spectral zeta function

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{D}}(z) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)} \int_0^\infty dt \, t^{z-1} K_{\mathcal{D}}(t) \,, \qquad (3.15)$$

one finds the standard result [44]

$$-\log \det \mathcal{D} = \zeta_{\mathcal{D}}(0) \log(\ell^2 \Lambda^2) + \zeta_{\mathcal{D}}'(0) , \qquad (3.16)$$

where ℓ is the AdS radius and Λ is the renormalization scale. For fields of aribrary spins in hyperbolic space H_4 , the spectral zeta function technique has been developed in [45,46] to compute their one loop effective potentials.

3.2.1 Bosons

Upon Euclideanization of AdS_4 to H_4 , the boundary is S^3 and in this setting various free energies of the bosonic HS theory are given by

$$F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\zeta_{(1,0)}^{B}(0) + \sum_{s=2,4,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B}(0) \Big) \Big] \log(\ell^{2}\Lambda^{2}) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\zeta_{(1,0)}^{B\prime}(0) + \sum_{s=2,4,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B\prime}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B\prime}(0) \Big) \Big] ,$$

$$F_{\text{even 2}}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\zeta_{(2,0)}^{B}(0) + \sum_{s=2,4,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B\prime}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B\prime}(0) \Big) \Big] \log(\ell^{2}\Lambda^{2}) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\zeta_{(2,0)}^{B\prime}(0) + \sum_{s=2,4,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B\prime}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B\prime}(0) \Big) \Big] ,$$

$$F_{\text{odd}}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{s=1,3,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B\prime}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B\prime}(0) \Big) \log(\ell^{2}\Lambda^{2}) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{s=1,3,\cdots}^{\infty} \Big(\zeta_{(s+1,s)}^{B\prime}(0) - \zeta_{(s+2,s-1)}^{B\prime}(0) \Big) \Big] , \qquad (3.17)$$

where $F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)}$ and $F_{\text{even 2}}^{(1)}$ denote the total free energy of all even spin fields $s = 0, 2, 4 \cdots$, in which the scalar satisfies $\Delta = 1$ and $\Delta = 2$ boundary conditions, respectively, and $F_{\text{odd}}^{(1)}$ denotes the total free energy of all odd spin fields $s = 1, 3, 5 \cdots$.

As stated earlier, we now employ a simpler method than those used previously, utiliz-

ing the character of irreducible representation of SO(2,3). The method is based on the observation that the spectral zeta function of a bosonic spin-s field can be recast in the form [43]

$$\zeta^B_{(\Delta,s)}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \Big[\mu(z,\beta) + \nu(z,\beta) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \alpha^2} \Big] \chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) \Big|_{\alpha=0} , \qquad (3.18)$$

in which

$$\chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) = \frac{e^{-\beta(\Delta-\frac{3}{2})}\sin[(s+\frac{1}{2})\alpha]}{4\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}\sin\frac{\alpha}{2}(\cosh\beta-\cos\alpha)},$$

$$\mu(z,\beta) = \frac{1}{3}\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}\left[f_1(z,\beta)\left(-6+\sinh^2\frac{\beta}{2}\right)+4f_3(z,\beta)\sinh^2\frac{\beta}{2}\right],$$

$$\nu(z,\beta) = -4f_1(z,\beta)\sinh^3\frac{\beta}{2},$$

$$f_n(z,\beta) = \sqrt{\pi}\int_0^\infty duu^n \tanh(\pi u)(\frac{\beta}{2u})^{z-\frac{1}{2}}J_{z-1/2}(u\beta),$$
(3.19)

where $\chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta, \alpha)$ is the character of a representation of SO(3, 2) labeled by $D(\Delta, s)$. Owing to the $e^{-\beta(\Delta-\frac{3}{2})}$ factor in the character, $\sum_s \zeta_{(\Delta,s)}(z)$ is convergent. Therefore, no regularization is needed in performing the sum over infinitely many spins. This is the desired feature for computing the one loop free energy of HS theory where the summation over infinitely many spins is encountered. It was also noticed by [43] that since the one loop free energy depends only on $\zeta(0)$ and $\zeta'(0)$, an alternate zeta function $\tilde{\zeta}(z)$ is physically equivalent to the original $\zeta(z)$, provided that $\tilde{\zeta}(0) = \zeta(0)$, and $\tilde{\zeta}'(0) = \zeta'(0)$. Thus, for the convenience of calculation, one can in fact utilize an alternate zeta function which is physically equivalent to the original zeta function. For bosonic HS fields, one choice of the alternate zeta function takes the form [43]

$$\widetilde{\zeta}^{B}_{(\Delta,s)}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2z)} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\beta \,\beta^{2z-1} \coth\frac{\beta}{2} \left[1 + \left(\sinh^{2}\frac{\beta}{2}\right) \,\partial_{\alpha}^{2} \right] \chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) \Big|_{\alpha=0} \,. \tag{3.20}$$

The physical equivalence between the alternate spectral zeta function and the original one (3.18) is shown in the appendix. The total character of all even spin fields and that of all odd spin fields are computed as

$$\chi_{\text{even }1}(\beta,\alpha) = \chi_{1,0}(\beta,\alpha) + \sum_{s=2,4,\dots} (\chi_{s+1,s}(\beta,\alpha) - \chi_{s+2,s-1}(\beta,\alpha))$$

$$= \frac{1 + \cos\alpha + \cosh\beta + \cosh 2\beta}{4(\cos\alpha - \cosh\beta)^2(\cos\alpha + \cosh\beta)}, \quad (3.21)$$

$$\chi_{\text{even }2}(\beta,\alpha) = \chi_{2,0}(\beta,\alpha) + \sum_{s=2,4,\dots} (\chi_{s+1,s}(\beta,\alpha) - \chi_{s+2,s-1}(\beta,\alpha))$$

$$= \frac{1 + \cos\alpha + \cos 2\alpha + \cosh\beta}{4(\cos\alpha - \cosh\beta)^2(\cos\alpha + \cosh\beta)}, \quad (3.22)$$

$$\chi_{\text{odd}}(\beta,\alpha) = \sum_{s=1,3,\dots} (\chi_{s+1,s}(\beta,\alpha) - \chi_{s+2,s-1}(\beta,\alpha))$$

$$= \frac{\cos\alpha + \cosh\beta + 2\cos\alpha\cosh\beta}{4(\cos\alpha - \cosh\beta)^2(\cos\alpha + \cosh\beta)}. \quad (3.23)$$

Substituting the results above into (3.20), we find

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\zeta}^B_{\text{even},1}(z) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(2z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \beta^{2z-1} \frac{\cosh^2 \beta}{4 \sinh^3 \beta} ,\\ \widetilde{\zeta}^B_{\text{even},2}(z) &= -\frac{1}{\Gamma(2z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \beta^{2z-1} \frac{1+2 \cosh \beta}{4 \sinh^3 \beta} ,\\ \widetilde{\zeta}^B_{\text{odd}}(z) &= -\widetilde{\zeta}^B_{\text{even}\,1}(z) . \end{split}$$
(3.24)

With the help of the following identities

$$\frac{1}{\sinh^3 \frac{\beta}{2}} = \frac{2}{\beta^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \frac{1}{\sinh \frac{\beta x}{2}} \Big|_{x=1} - \frac{1}{2 \sinh \frac{\beta}{2}},$$

$$4^{-z} \zeta(2z, \frac{a}{2}) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \beta^{2z-1} \frac{e^{-a\beta}}{1 - e^{-2\beta}},$$
 (3.25)

where $\zeta(a, b)$ is the Hurwitz zeta function, we finally obtain

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_{\text{even 1}}^{B}(z) = 4^{-(2+z)} \Big[3\zeta(2z, -\frac{1}{2}) + 4\zeta(2z-2, -\frac{1}{2}) + 8\zeta(2z-1, -\frac{1}{2}) \\ + (4^{z}-1)\zeta(2z) + 3(4^{z}-4)\zeta(2z-2) - 4(4^{z}-2)\zeta(2z-1) \Big] ,$$

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_{\text{even 2}}^{B}(z) = 4^{-(1+z)} \Big[-4\zeta(2z-2, 0) - 4\zeta(2z-1, 0) + (4^{z}-1)\zeta(2z) \\ -4^{z}\zeta(2z-2) + 4\zeta(2z-1) \Big] .$$
(3.26)

By using the relation between $F^{(1)}$ and spectral zeta function, one arrives at the results

$$F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{16} \left(2\log 2 - \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} \right) , \qquad F_{\text{even 2}}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{16} \left(2\log 2 - \frac{5\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} \right) ,$$

$$F_{\text{odd}}^{(1)} = -F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)} . \qquad (3.27)$$

Note that the potential logarithmic divergences in $F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)}$ and $F_{\text{even 2}}^{(1)}$ have canceled out, and the above finite results are from $\tilde{\zeta}^{B'}(0)$ terms, in agreement with [20]. Furthermore, these results can be used as building blocks for the computation of the free energies of the Konstein-Vasiliev models we are interested in, thanks to the observation that for all those models discussed in Section 3.1, it is always the case that

$$n_2 = n_S + n_P , (3.28)$$

where we recall that n_2 is number of copies of even fields with $s = 2, 4, ... \infty, n_S$ is the number of scalars and n_P is the number of pseudoscalars.

3.2.2 Fermions

We now compute the one loop free energy of all fermionic HS fields. The spectral zeta function of a spin-*s* fermionic fields is given by

$$\zeta_{(\Delta,s)}^{F}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\beta \Big[\mu(z,\beta) + \nu(z,\beta) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \alpha^{2}} \Big] \chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) \Big|_{\alpha=0} , \qquad (3.29)$$

where

$$\chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) = \frac{e^{-\beta(\Delta-\frac{3}{2})}\sin[(s+\frac{1}{2})\alpha]}{4\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}\sin\frac{\alpha}{2}(\cosh\beta-\cos\alpha)},$$

$$\mu(z,\beta) = \frac{1}{3}\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}\left[f_1(z,\beta)\left(-6+\sinh^2\frac{\beta}{2}\right)+4f_3(z,\beta)\sinh^2\frac{\beta}{2}\right],$$

$$\nu(z,\beta) = -4f_1(z,\beta)\sinh^3\frac{\beta}{2},$$

$$f_n(z,\beta) = \sqrt{\pi}\int_0^\infty duu^n \coth(\pi u)(\frac{\beta}{2u})^{z-\frac{1}{2}}J_{z-1/2}(u\beta).$$
(3.30)

To compute the one loop free energy of all fermionic HS fields, we propose the following alternate spectral zeta function, which is much easier to use. The physical equivalence between the alternate spectral zeta function (3.31) and the original one (3.29) is shown in the appendix.

$$\widetilde{\zeta}_{(\Delta,s)}^{F}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2z)} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\beta \beta^{2z-1} \Big[\frac{1}{4} \sinh \frac{\beta}{2} + \frac{1}{\sinh \frac{\beta}{2}} + \sinh \frac{\beta}{2} \partial_{\alpha}^{2} \Big] \chi_{\Delta,s}(\beta,\alpha) \Big|_{\alpha=0} (3.31)$$

The sum of characters of all fermionic HS fields is computed as

$$\chi_{\frac{3}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(\beta,\alpha) + \sum_{s=3/2}^{\infty} \left[\chi_{s+1,s}(\beta,\alpha) - \chi_{s+2,s-1}(\beta,\alpha) \right] = \frac{\cos\frac{\alpha}{2}\cosh\frac{\beta}{2}}{(\cos\alpha - \cosh\beta)^2} .$$
(3.32)

It is straightforward to check that

$$\left[\frac{1}{4}\sinh\frac{\beta}{2} + \frac{1}{\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}} + \left(\sinh\frac{\beta}{2}\right)\partial_{\alpha}^{2}\right] \times \left(\chi_{\frac{3}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(\beta,\alpha) + \sum_{s=3/2}^{\infty} \left[\chi_{s+1,s}(\beta,\alpha) - \chi_{s+2,s-1}(\beta,\alpha)\right]\right)\Big|_{\alpha=0} = 0, \quad (3.33)$$

which indicates that the total one loop free energy of fermionic HS fields in fact vanishes.

3.2.3 Summary

For a Konstein-Vasiliev higher theory consisting of n_S real scalars, n_P pseudoscalars, n_1 copies of fields with $s = 1, 3, ..., \infty$, $n_2 = n_S + n_P$ copies of fields with $s = 2, 4, ..., \infty$ fields and n_F copies of spin $1/2, 3/2, ..., \infty$ fields, we have

$$F^{(1)}(n_S, n_P, n_1, n_2, n_F) = \frac{\log 2}{8}(n_S + n_P - n_1) - \frac{\zeta(3)}{16\pi^2}(3n_S + 5n_P - 3n_1), (3.34)$$

where we have used the relation $n_2 = n_S + n_P$. The values of n_S , n_P and n_1 can be read off from (3.9) for various Konstein-Vasiliev models. Substituting them into the equation above, we obtain

$$hu(m;n|4): F_{hu}^{(1)} = -\frac{\zeta(3)}{8\pi^2}n^2, \qquad (3.35)$$

$$ho(m;n|4): F_{ho}^{(1)} = \frac{\log 2}{8}(m+n) - \frac{\zeta(3)}{16\pi^2}(3m+4n+n^2), \qquad (3.36)$$

$$husp(m;n|4): F_{husp}^{(1)} = -\frac{\log 2}{8}(m+n) + \frac{\zeta(3)}{16\pi^2}(3m+4n-n^2).$$
(3.37)

The one loop free energy of husp(m; n|4) model is related to the one of ho(m; n|4) model via $m \to -m$, $n \to -n$. The ordinary supersymmetric HS models correspond to the cases $m = n = 2^{\frac{N}{2}-1}$ for even \mathcal{N} and $m = n = 2^{(\mathcal{N}-1)/2}$ for odd \mathcal{N} . As for the ordinary supersymmetric HS models with internal symmetries, we recall that their spectra can be obtained by assigning fundamental representations of the internal symmetry group to the $OSp(\mathcal{N}|4)$ singletons, and working out the their two-fold tensor products. The resulting spectra are provided in Table 5 of [40]. In particular, the number of fermions with $s = \frac{1}{2} \mod 2$ and $s = \frac{3}{2} \mod 2$ are the same. As a consequence, the contributions of the fermions to the one loop free energy will continue to vanish since in (3.31) we found that fermions with each half integer spin occurring once give vanishing contribution. Consequently, the bulk free energy becomes the sum of free energies of Type-A and Type-B models with the desired internal symmetries, and both log 2 and $\zeta(3)$ terms will show up in the one loop free energy. This information is sufficient to perform the one loop test by means of comparing the bulk and boundary free energies, as we shall see at the end of next section.

3.3 Free energies of free CFT's on S^3 and comparison

The free energies of free scalars and free fermions which are conformally coupled to S^3 have been studied in [39]. A conformally coupled free scalar and a free fermion on S^3 are described by the following two actions respectively

$$S_{S} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x \sqrt{g} \Big[(\nabla \phi)^{2} + \frac{3}{4L^{2}} \phi^{2} \Big] , \quad S_{D} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x \sqrt{g} \psi^{\dagger} (i \not\!\!D \psi) , \qquad (3.38)$$

where L is the radius of the round S^3 . Free energies of the above two theories are defined as usual

$$F_S = -\log Z_S = \frac{1}{2} \log \det[\Lambda^{-2} \mathcal{O}_S], \quad \mathcal{O} = -\nabla^2 + \frac{3}{4L^2},$$

$$F_D = -\log Z_D = -\log \det[\Lambda^{-1} \mathcal{O}_D], \quad \mathcal{O} = i \not D. \qquad (3.39)$$

Using zeta function, F_S and F_D can be computed straightforwardly and the results are [39]

$$F_S = \frac{1}{16} \left(2\log 2 - \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} \right), \quad F_D = \frac{1}{8} \left(2\log 2 + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} \right). \tag{3.40}$$

Notice that the free energy of a Majorana fermion on S^3 is $\frac{1}{2}F_D$.

A bulk HS theory is conjectured to be dual to a free vector model when the boundary conditions of the bulk fields preserve the HS symmetry [16, 17], which is the case here. Assuming the bulk HS theory possesses an action, its free energy associated with AdS_4 should have the form displayed in (3.1) where G_N is the Newton's constant. In cases where the boundary of AdS_4 is S^3 , the bulk free energy should be compared with that of a free vector model on S^3 order by order in 1/N expansion. Hence the comparison requires an identification between G_N and N. It was suggested by [20] that in general the relation between G_N and N is of the form given in (3.3) where γ and ΔN are constants and especially ΔN should be an integer. The basic fields in the vector model constitute a vector in the fundamental representation of a classical Lie group, which can be U(N), O(N) or USp(N) in our cases. The free energy of a free vector model can be computed exactly and be put in the form[†]

$$F_{\rm CFT} = N F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} , \qquad (3.41)$$

where we use $F_{CFT}^{(0)}$ to denote the contribution of a single component in the vector. For F_{bulk} to match with F_{CFT} , it is clear that the bulk free energy at each order in G_N expansion should all be proportional to $F_{CFT}^{(0)}$.

Various one loop tests of HS holography have been carried out in the literature [20,41].

[†]Strictly speaking, the bulk HS theory is dual to the U(N), O(N) or USp(N) singlet sector of a free CFT. The partition function of a free CFT on S^3 is evaluated in the vacuum which is already a singlet state under the corresponding symmetry group in each case. Thus, imposing the singlet constraint should not affect the free energy.

For instance, the non-minimal Type-A model is conjectured to be dual to the U(N) singlet sector of N complex scalars. When HS symmetry is preserved by the boundary condition, $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)}$ was found to be 0, indicating that G_N^{-1} is identified with N at one loop order. For minimal A model, the conjectured dual CFT is the O(N) singlet sector of N real scalars. In this case, $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)}$ is equal to F_S , the free energy of a real free scalar (3.40). Thus, matching the bulk and boundary free energies at one loop order requires G_N^{-1} being identified with N - 1. The husp(2; 0|4) Vasiliev theory is conjectured to be dual to the USp(N) singlet sector of N complex scalars and $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)}$ is equal to $-F_S$. Therefore, for husp(2; 0|4) higher spin theory, G_N^{-1} is identified with N + 1 at one loop order.

In this section, we consider the cases in which the bulk HS symmetry is preserved by the boundary condition, thus the CFT duals are certain singlet sectors of free CFTs composed by free scalars and free fermions. For the hu(m;n|4) theory, the dual CFT consists of Nm complex free scalars ϕ^{ia} , i = 1, 2, ...N, a = 1, 2, ...m and Nn Dirac fermions ψ^{ir} , r = 1, 2, ...n. The $m^2 \Delta = 1$ scalars and $n^2 \Delta = 2$ pseudoscalars correspond to the operators

$$\bar{\phi}_{ia}\phi^{ib}, \qquad \tilde{\psi}^c{}_{ia}\psi^{ib}. \tag{3.42}$$

Free energy of this theory is given by

$$F_{\rm CFT} = N F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} , \quad F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} = 2m F_S + n F_D , \qquad (3.43)$$

where F_S and F_D are given in (3.40).

For the ho(m; n|4) theory, the dual CFT consists of Nm real free scalars ϕ^{ia} , i = 1, 2, ...N, a = 1, 2, ...m and Nn majorana fermions ψ^{ir} , r = 1, 2, ...n. The $m^2 \Delta = 1$

scalar fields and $n^2 \Delta = 2$ pseudoscalars correspond to the operators

$$\phi^{ia}\phi^{jb}\delta_{ij}, \qquad \tilde{\psi}^{ia}\psi^{jb}\delta_{ij}. \tag{3.44}$$

The free energy is given by

$$F_{\rm CFT} = N F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} , \quad F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} = m F_S + \frac{1}{2} n F_D .$$
 (3.45)

For the husp(m;n|4) theory, the dual CFT consists of Nm complex free scalars ϕ^{ia} , i = 1, 2, ...N, a = 1, 2, ...m and Nn Dirac fermions ψ^{ir} , r = 1, 2, ...n, subject to the symplectic reality condition. The $m^2 \Delta = 1$ scalar fields and $n^2 \Delta = 2$ pseudoscalars correspond to the operators

$$\phi^{ia}\phi^{jb}\Omega_{ij}\,,\qquad \tilde{\psi}^{ia}\psi^{jb}\Omega_{ij}\,,\qquad(3.46)$$

where Ω_{ij} is the USp(N) invariant tensor. Free energy of this theory is given by

$$F_{\rm CFT} = N F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} , \quad F_{\rm CFT}^{(0)} = m F_S + \frac{1}{2} n F_D .$$
 (3.47)

Since supersymmetric HS theories can be mapped to special cases of Konstein-Vasiliev models, we will not give separate discussions on them.

As discussed before, duality between the bulk HS theory and boundary free CFT may be achieved only if $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)}$ is proportional to $F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$. Using (3.34), (3.40), (3.43), (3.45) and (3.47), we find that this requirement amounts to

$$(m+n)(3n_S + 5n_P - 3n_1) = 3(m-n)(n_S + n_P - n_1), \qquad (3.48)$$

obtained by setting the ratios of $\log 2$ and $\xi(3)$ dependent terms equal to each other. Taking the values of n_S , n_P and n_1 from (3.9), these ratios for the bulk sides can be read off from (3.35), (3.36) and (3.37) in terms of m and n. One can show that for all three Konstein-Vasiliev models, the only solution to the equation above is given by n = 0, which implies bosonic Type-A models. In this case the $\log 2$ and $\zeta(3)$ dependent terms arise in the same ratio as of a single real scalar field, and we have the result

$$F_{hu(m;0|4)}^{(1)} = 0 , \qquad F_{ho(m;0|4)}^{(1)} = mF_S , \qquad F_{ho(m;0|4)}^{(1)} = -mF_S . \tag{3.49}$$

Therefore, assuming that $F_{\text{bulk}}^{(0)} = F_{\text{CFT}}^{(0)}$, the bulk and boundary free energies match with each other provided that

$$hu(m; 0|4) : G_N^{-1} \to N ,$$

$$ho(m; 0|4) : G_N^{-1} \to N - 1 ,$$

$$husp(m; 0|4) : G_N^{-1} \to N + 1 .$$
(3.50)

The holographic dictionaries relating G_N to N in various HS models have been put forward in [20] via testing the holography of hu(1; 0|4), ho(1; 0|4) and husp(2; 0|4) models at one loop level. Here, we have extended the validity of these holographic mappings to hu(m; 0|4), ho(m; 0|4) and husp(m; 0|4) Konstein-Vasiliev models. We see that the inclusion of infinite tower of bulk fermions does not cure the problem with the mismatch of the free energies in the Type-B model, which corresponds to the case in which m = 0 and $n \neq 0$, and its conjectured dual.

Finally, we consider the ordinary supersymmetric models with internal symmetry discussed earlier, whose spectra are given in Table 5 of [40]. In Section 3 we found that the contributions of the bulk fermions give vanishing contributions to one loop free energy and consequently the bulk one loop free energy becomes the sum of the ones of Type-A and Type-B models with the desired internal symmetries. In particular, there is still a nonvanishing $\zeta(3)$ term. On the other hand it is easy to show that the $\zeta(3)$ dependent terms on the CFT side vanish. Therefore, we conclude the problem of free energy mismatch will persist in ordinary supersymmetric HS theories with internal symmetry.

3.4 One loop free energies of supersymmetric higher spin theories in AdS_4 with $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$ boundary

In thermal AdS_4 , the one loop free energy of the bulk theory takes the form [21]

$$F_{\text{bulk}}^{(1)} = F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}} + \beta E_{c \text{ bulk}} + a_{\text{bulk}} \log \Lambda , \qquad (3.51)$$

where β is the period of the imaginary time, $F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}}$ is the thermal free energy which can be computed by taking the log of the thermal partition function as $F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}} \equiv \beta^{-1} \log Z_{\text{bulk}}$ with $Z_{\text{bulk}} \equiv \text{tr } e^{-\beta H_{\text{bulk}}}$, and a_{bulk} is the anomaly coefficient related to the Seeley coefficient. The trace denotes the sum over all HS particle states. a_{bulk} is proportional to the integral of local curvature invariants, and should be the same for AdS_4 with S^3 boundary and for the thermal AdS_4 . Thus, after summing over spins the total a_{bulk} should vanish as shown in previous sections. $E_{c \text{bulk}}$ is the one loop contribution to the Casimir energy which can be extracted from the thermal free energy in a standard way (cf. (3.55), (3.56)).

The free energy of the U(N), O(N) or USp(N) singlet sector of a free vectorial CFT on $S^1_\beta \times S^2$ takes similar form

$$F_{\rm CFT} = F^{\rm singlet}(\beta)_{\rm CFT} + \beta E_{c\,\rm CFT} + a_{\rm CFT} \log \Lambda \,, \tag{3.52}$$

in which $F(\beta)_{CFT}$ is the free energy of the subsector in Hilbert space consisting of only the states that are invariant under the required symmetry group. The Casimir energy $E_{c CFT}$ is

given by NE_0 , where E_0 is the Casimir energy of a single conformally invariant free field on $S^1_{\beta} \times S^2$. The anomaly coefficient a_{CFT} vanishes on $S^1_{\beta} \times S^2$, which is conformally flat and has vanishing Euler number. Therefore, there are no logarithmic divergent terms on both the bulk and the boundary sides. There remains comparison of the thermal part of the free energies and the Casimir energies on both sides. The thermal part of the free energies are expected to match since, by definition, the bulk and boundary thermal partition functions which give rise to the corresponding thermal free energies are both equal to the character of the HS algebra associated with the spectrum of the HS theory. The comparison between the bulk and boundary Casimir energies, however, is not straightforward, since different from $E_{c \text{ bulk}}$, the Casimir energy on the CFT side is not directly related to the thermal free energy of the singlet sector through (3.55). Holographic matching of the free energies at $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$ demands that $E_{c \text{ bulk}}$ is an integer times the Casimir energy of a single conformally invariant free field on $S^1_{\beta} \times S^2$.

In this section, we first study the one loop free energy of Konstein-Vasiliev theory in thermal AdS_4 with $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$ boundary. We then compare the bulk result with the free energy of the corresponding dual CFT at $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$. Recall that there exist generalizations of d > 4 Vasiliev theory which are dual to the U(N) or O(N) singlet sector of free scalars or fermions [47]. Free energy of this type of HS theory in thermal AdS_d has been calculated in [21] and compared with $O(N^0)$ term in the free energy of the large N U(N) or O(N)vectorial free CFT. It was found that the matching of free energy implies shifts in the relation between G_N^{-1} and N at leading order by an integer.

Different from [21] where the bulk theories are purely bosonic, in our case the bulk theory includes also fermionic HS fields. Accordingly, the dual CFT consists of both scalars and fermions. In particular, the fermionic HS fields are dual to the bilinear conserved currents built out of both scalars and fermions. State operator correspondence then implies the existence of scalar-fermion mixed states in the Hilbert space that are singlet under the required symmetry group. These scalar-fermion mixed states contribute to the thermal free energy of the singlet sector nontrivially, which means that the $F^{\text{singlet}}(\beta)$ for a CFT involving both scalars and fermions cannot be obtained by a simple sum of the $F^{\text{singlet}}(\beta)$'s of a pure-scalar CFT and of a pure-fermion CFT.

Below we start with the computation of the free energies in Konstein-Vasiliev models, which include supersymmetric HS theories as special cases. The story is far more elaborate in higher dimensions. In particular, we refer the readers to [48,49] and [50] for the case of 5D, and [51] for the case of 7D.

3.4.1 The bulk side

As stated earlier, the one loop free energy of a massless field in thermal AdS_4 has the structure displayed in (3.51) with the vanishing log divergence. $F(\beta)$ can be obtained from the grand canonical partition function as

For bosons:
$$F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}} = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \mathcal{Z}(m\beta)$$
, (3.53)

For fermions:
$$F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} \mathcal{Z}(m\beta)$$
. (3.54)

Here $\mathcal{Z}(\beta)$ is the one-particle canonical partition function. The Casimir energy $E_{c \text{ bulk}}$ can be obtained from the energy ζ -function as

$$E_{c\,\text{bulk}} = \pm \frac{1}{2} \zeta_E(-1) ,$$
 (3.55)

where \pm correspond to bosonic and fermionic cases respectively. The energy ζ -function is related to the one-particle partition function by a Mellin transform

$$\zeta_E(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \beta^{z-1} \mathcal{Z}(\beta) .$$
(3.56)

In D = 4, the thermal one-particle partition function for a scalar field is given by

$$\mathcal{Z}_0^{(\Delta)} = \frac{q^{\Delta}}{(1-q)^3} \quad \Delta > \frac{1}{2} ,$$
 (3.57)

where Δ is the AdS energy and $q = e^{-\beta}$ [52]. Thermal one-particle partition function for $s \ge \frac{1}{2}$ massless field takes the form

$$\mathcal{Z}_s(\beta) = \frac{q^{s+1}}{(1-q)^3} \left[2s + 1 - (2s-1)q \right].$$
(3.58)

From the results derived in [21], we deduce the useful formulae[‡]

$$\begin{aligned} F_{\text{even 1}}^{(1)} &= F(\beta)_{\text{even 1}} = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 1}}(m\beta) ,\\ \mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 1}}(\beta) &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{q(1+q)^2}{(1-q)^4} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{q(1+q^2)}{(1-q^2)^2} = \frac{1}{2} [\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(\beta)]^2 + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2\beta) ,\\ F_{\text{even 2}}^{(1)} &= F(\beta)_{\text{even 2}} = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 2}}(m\beta) ,\\ \mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 2}}(\beta) &= \frac{2q^2}{(1-q)^4} - \frac{q^2}{(1-q^2)^2} = \frac{1}{2} [\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\beta)]^2 - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2\beta) ,\\ F_{\text{odd 1}}^{(1)} &= F(\beta)_{\text{odd}} = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{odd}}(m\beta) ,\\ \mathcal{Z}_{\text{odd}}(\beta) &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{q(1+q)^2}{(1-q)^4} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{q(1+q^2)}{(1-q^2)^2} = \frac{1}{2} [\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(\beta)]^2 - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2\beta) , \end{aligned}$$
(3.59)

where for later convenience we express the results in terms of the characters $\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(\beta)$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\beta)$ of the conformally coupled free scalar and the free real fermion which realize the spin-0 and spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ singleton representations of the SO(3, 2), respectively

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{0}(\beta) = \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+q)}{(1-q)^{2}}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\beta) = \frac{2q}{(1-q)^{2}}.$$
(3.60)

 $^{^{\}ddagger}$ In the rest of this subsection the thermal free energies and partition functions refer to those of the bulk theory.

By using (3.55) and (3.56), one can show that $\mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 1}}(\beta)$, $\mathcal{Z}_{\text{even 2}}(\beta)$ and $\mathcal{Z}_{\text{odd}}(\beta)$ all lead to vanishing Casimir energy [21][§]. Therefore we simply dropped E_c term in (3.59). Also one should note that

$$\frac{1}{2} [\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\beta)]^2 + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2\beta) = \frac{1}{2} [\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(\beta)]^2 - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2\beta) .$$
(3.61)

For all the fermionic fields, we find that the total one-particle canonical partition function is given by

$$\mathcal{Z}^{F}(\beta) = \sum_{s=\frac{1}{2}}^{\infty} \frac{q^{s+1}}{(1-q)^{3}} \Big[2s+1-(2s-1)q \Big] = \frac{2q^{\frac{3}{2}}(1+q)}{(1-q)^{4}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{0}(\beta)\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\beta) .$$
(3.62)

Using the total one-particle canonical partition function, we can construct the energy ζ -function for fermions

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_E^F(z) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)} \int_0^\infty d\beta \beta^{z-1} \frac{2e^{-\frac{3}{2}\beta}(1+e^{-\beta})}{(1-e^{-\beta})^4} \\ &= 2\sum_{n=1}^\infty \binom{n+2}{3} [(n+\frac{1}{2})^{-z} + (n+\frac{3}{2})^{-z}] \\ &= \frac{1}{8}\zeta(z,\frac{5}{2}) - \frac{1}{12}\zeta(z-1,\frac{5}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}\zeta(z-2,\frac{5}{2}) + \frac{1}{3}\zeta(z-3,\frac{5}{2}) \\ &- \frac{1}{8}\zeta(z,\frac{3}{2}) - \frac{1}{12}\zeta(z-1,\frac{3}{2}) + \frac{1}{2}\zeta(z-2,\frac{3}{2}) + \frac{1}{3}\zeta(z-3,\frac{3}{2}) . \end{aligned}$$
(3.63)

This vanishes at z = -1. Therefore, the total Casimir energy for fermionic HS fields vanishes in thermal AdS_4 as well, and the corresponding one loop free energy is simply

$$F^{(1)F} = F(\beta)_{\text{bulk}}^F = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} \mathcal{Z}^F(m\beta) .$$
(3.64)

Similar technique using SO(3,2) character has been applied to compute one-loop free energy of HS theories constructed using higher-order singleton [53], where vanishing of Casimir energy was also observed.

Summarizing the results above and using the spectra given in (3.9), we find that the one loop free energies for generic Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories are given by

$$hu(m;n|4): F_{hu}^{(1)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k} \Big[m \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \,(-)^{k+1} \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \Big]^2 \,, \tag{3.65}$$

$$ho(m;n|4): F_{ho}^{(1)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2k} \left(\left[m \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \right]^2 + m \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2k\beta) - n \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2k\beta) \right), \tag{3.66}$$

$$husp(m;n|4): F_{husp}^{(1)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2k} \left(\left[m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \right]^2 - m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2k\beta) + n \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2k\beta) \right).$$
(3.67)

The free energy of husp(m; n|4) theory can be obtained from that of the ho(m; n|4) theory by $m \to -m, n \to -n$.

3.4.2 The CFT side and comparison

In this section, we calculate the partition function of the singlet sector of free CFTs on $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$. We closely follow the technique developed in [54, 55]. The partition function of a CFT on $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$ is equal to the thermal partition function due to the vanishing of Casimir energy and logarithmic divergence. Therefore, we have

$$Z(\beta) = \sum_{i \in \text{physical states}} q^{E_i} , \quad q = e^{-\beta} , \qquad (3.68)$$

where the physical states are restricted to be the singlet states of U(N), O(N) or USp(N)for our purpose. We have also used the fact that there is no non-trivial chemical potential in the system. The thermal partition functions of the U(N) and O(N) singlet sectors of free scalar and free fermion theories have been studied in [21, 56]. We generalize their
results to the cases with both scalars and fermions. We first consider the U(N) singlet sector of a free CFT with Nm complex free scalars and Nn Dirac fermions. As shown in [21, 56], the thermal partition function can be expressed as a path integral localized on the eigenvalues of U(N) matrix

$$Z_{U(N)}(\beta) = e^{-F(\beta)_{U(N)}} = \int \prod_{i=1}^{N} d\alpha_i e^{-S(\alpha_1,\dots\alpha_N)} ,$$

$$S(\alpha_1,\dots\alpha_N) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i\neq j=1}^{N} \log \sin^2 \frac{\alpha_i - \alpha_j}{2} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{N} f_\beta(\alpha_i) ,$$

$$f_\beta(\alpha) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} c_k(\beta) \cos(k\alpha) , \quad c_k(\beta) = -\frac{1}{k} \Big[m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \Big] (3.69)$$

where the matter contents affect the effective action through $c_k(\beta)$. In the large N limit, the integral over α_i can be replaced by the path integral over the eigenvalue density $\rho(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in (-\pi, \pi)$. $\rho(\alpha)$ satisfies the standard normalization

$$\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\alpha \rho(\alpha) = 1.$$
(3.70)

The effective action in terms of $\rho(\alpha)$ takes the form

$$S(\rho) = N^2 \int d\alpha d\alpha' K(\alpha - \alpha')\rho(\alpha)\rho(\alpha') + 2N \int d\alpha \rho(\alpha) f_{\beta}(\alpha) ,$$

$$K(\alpha - \alpha') = -\frac{1}{2}\log(2 - 2\cos\alpha) , \qquad f_{\beta}(\alpha) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} c_k(\beta)\cos(k\alpha) . \qquad (3.71)$$

Integrating out ρ , one obtains

$$F(\beta)_{U(N)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k [c_k(\beta)]^2 = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k} \Big[m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \Big]^2 \,, \quad (3.72)$$

which coincides with one loop free energy for hu(m; n|4) higher spin theory (3.65). Next, we study the O(N) singlet sector of a free CFT with Nm real free scalars and Nn Majorana fermions. This is a generalization of the results in [21], where the free CFT consists of only scalars or fermions. It is suggested in [21] that, one can choose N to be even, namely N=2N for simplicity in the large N. The difference between even N and odd Ncases is at the next order in 1/N expansion. Free energy of the O(2N) singlet sector of a free CFT with Nm real free scalars and Nn Majorana fermions can again be written as a path integral over the eigenvalues of O(N) matrix. The effective potential of the O(N)singlet sector is given by [21]

$$S(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_N) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j=1}^N \log \sin^2 \frac{\alpha_i - \alpha_j}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j=1}^N \log \sin^2 \frac{\alpha_i + \alpha_j}{2} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^N f_\beta(\alpha_i) 3,73)$$

where f_{β} is the same as the one in (3.69). The effective potential for the O(N) singlet sector differs from that of the U(N) by the $\log \sin^2 \alpha$ terms which come from the Van der Monde determinant or the Haar measure. In the large N limit, the path integral over α_i can again be recast into an integral over the eigenvalue density $\rho(\alpha)$. After integrating out ρ , one obtains

$$F(\beta)_{O(N)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k}{2} \Big([c_k(\beta)]^2 - \frac{2}{k} c_{2k}(\beta) \Big)$$

$$= -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2k} \Big(\Big[m \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \Big]^2 + m \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2k\beta) - n \,\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2k\beta) \Big) \,,$$
(3.74)

which matches the one loop free energy of ho(m; n|4) HS theory in (3.66). In the last case, we consider the USp(N) singlet sector of a free CFT with Nm complex free scalars ϕ^{ia} , i = 1, 2, ...N, a = 1, 2, ...m and Nn Dirac fermions subject to the symplectic real condition. Since N is even in this case, we denote N by 2N. The effective potential of the USp(N) singlet sector takes the form

$$S(\alpha_{1},...\alpha_{N}) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j=1}^{N} \log \sin^{2} \frac{\alpha_{i} - \alpha_{j}}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \log \sin^{2} \frac{\alpha_{i} + \alpha_{j}}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \log \sin^{2} \alpha_{i} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{N} f_{\beta}(\alpha_{i}) .$$
(3.75)

In the large N limit, the path integral over α_i can be evaluated by using the same technique as before. The free energy of the USp(N) singlet sector of a free CFT is obtained as

$$F(\beta)_{USp(N)} = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k}{2} \Big([c_k(\beta)]^2 + \frac{2}{k} c_{2k}(\beta) \Big)$$

$$= -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2k} \Big(\Big[m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(k\beta) + n \, (-)^{k+1} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(k\beta) \Big]^2 - m \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_0(2k\beta) + n \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\frac{1}{2}}(2k\beta) \Big) ,$$
(3.76)

which matches one loop free energy of husp(m; n|4) HS theory in (3.67).

3.5 Mixed boundary conditions in bulk and interacting N = 1 SCFT

In $\mathcal{N} = 1$ HS theory, the OSp(1|4) invariant boundary conditions are given in [18]. To describe this, we write the boundary behavior $(\rho \to 0)$ of the complex scalar $\phi = A + iB$ as

$$A = \rho \alpha_{+} + \rho^{2} \beta_{+} , \quad B = \rho \alpha_{-} + \rho^{2} \beta_{-} , \qquad (3.77)$$

and define the 3D, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superfields

$$\Phi_{-} = \alpha_{-} + i\tilde{\theta}\eta_{-} - \frac{\tilde{\theta}\theta}{2i}\beta_{+}, \quad \Phi_{+} = \alpha_{+} + i\tilde{\theta}\eta_{+} + \frac{\tilde{\theta}\theta}{2i}\beta_{-}.$$
(3.78)

The boundary conditions preserving OSp(1|4) take the form

$$\Phi_{-} = \lambda \Phi_{+} , \qquad (3.79)$$

where λ is an arbitrary real number. In terms of the new scalar fields we have

$$A' = \sin \vartheta A - \cos \vartheta B , \quad B' = \cos \vartheta A + \sin \vartheta B , \qquad (3.80)$$

where $\tan \vartheta = \lambda$, and the boundary condition (3.79) is equivalent to

$$\alpha'_{+} = 0 , \quad \beta'_{-} = 0 . \tag{3.81}$$

The linearized bulk scalar field equations would remain the same form under the SO(2) rotation, thus the newly defined scalar fields A' and B' possess the same Feffer-Graham expansion as the original scalar fields A and B. The boundary condition (3.81) implies that near the boundary

$$A' = \rho^2 \beta'_+, \quad B' = \rho \alpha'_-.$$
 (3.82)

Therefore, in computing the one loop free energy, A' should have $\Delta = 2$, while B' should have $\Delta = 1$, which does not affect the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ HS spectrum and the corresponding one loop calculation. On the CFT side, the boundary condition (3.79) implies the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ free CFT being deformed by a supersymmetric double-trace term

$$\Delta S = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int d^3x d^2\theta \mathcal{O}^2 , \qquad (3.83)$$

where \mathcal{O} is given by

$$\mathcal{O} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} W^2$$
, $W = \varphi + i\tilde{\theta}\psi + \frac{\theta\theta}{2i}f$. (3.84)

We compute the difference between the free energy of the deformed CFT and that of the free CFT, following the procedure adopted in [39, 57]. Denoting the partition function of

the free CFT by Z_0 , we calculate

$$\Delta F = -\log \frac{Z}{Z_0} \,. \tag{3.85}$$

Using the Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation, we have

$$\frac{Z}{Z_0} = \frac{1}{\int D\Sigma \exp(\frac{1}{2\lambda} \int dz' \Sigma^2)} \int D\Sigma \Big\langle \exp\Big[\int dz \Big(\frac{1}{2\lambda} \Sigma^2 + \Sigma \mathcal{O}\Big)\Big]\Big\rangle_0, \qquad (3.86)$$

where Σ is an auxiliary superfield and z denotes the supercoordinate. In the large N limit, the higher point functions of \mathcal{O} are suppressed. This allows us to write

$$\left\langle \exp\left[\int dz \Sigma \mathcal{O}\right] \right\rangle_0 = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2} \left\langle \left(\int dz \Sigma \mathcal{O}\right)^2 \right\rangle_0 + o(1/N) \right].$$
 (3.87)

Note that Σ and \mathcal{O} are single-trace operators of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superfields, say M and W respectively, each with component fields A^i, λ^i, B^i and ϕ^i, ψ^i, f^i , where B and f are auxiliary fields, and the index i stands for the representation of O(N). The component fields obey the following superconformal transformations

$$\delta A = \frac{1}{4}\tilde{\xi}\lambda \qquad \qquad \delta\phi = \frac{1}{4}\tilde{\xi}\psi \qquad (3.88)$$

$$\delta\lambda = \partial A\xi - \frac{1}{4}B\xi + A\eta \qquad \delta\psi = \partial \phi\xi - \frac{1}{4}f\xi + \phi\eta \tag{3.89}$$

$$\delta B = -\tilde{\xi} \nabla \lambda \qquad \qquad \delta f = -\tilde{\xi} \nabla \psi \qquad (3.90)$$

where ξ and η are spinors satisfying the conformal Killing spinor equation $\nabla_{\mu}\xi = \gamma_{\mu}\eta$.

Integrating out the spinor coordinates θ and $\tilde{\theta}$, we obtain

$$\int dz \frac{1}{2\lambda} \Sigma^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda} \int dx^3 \sqrt{g} (B^i A^i A^j A^j + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\lambda}^i \lambda^i A^j A^j + \tilde{\lambda}^i \lambda^j A^i A^j)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda} \int dx^3 \sqrt{g} (\Sigma_2 \Sigma_1 + \Sigma_{3/2} \Sigma_{3/2}) , \qquad (3.91)$$

$$\int dz \Sigma \mathcal{O} = \int dx^3 \sqrt{g} (f^i \phi^i A^j A^j + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\psi}^i \psi^i A^j A^j + B^i A^i \phi^j \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\lambda}^i \lambda^i \phi^j \phi^j + 2 \tilde{\psi}^i \lambda^j \phi^i A^j)$$

$$= \int dx^3 \sqrt{g} (\mathcal{O}_2 \Sigma_1 + \Sigma_2 \mathcal{O}_1 + 2 \mathcal{O}_{3/2} \Sigma_{3/2}) , \qquad (3.92)$$

where we defined

$$\Sigma_{1} = A^{i}A^{i}, \quad \mathcal{O}_{1} = \phi^{i}\phi^{i}, \quad \Sigma_{3/2} = A^{i}\lambda^{i}, \quad \mathcal{O}_{3/2} = \phi^{i}\psi^{i},$$

$$\Sigma_{2} = B^{i}A^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\lambda}^{i}\lambda^{i}, \quad \mathcal{O}_{2} = f^{i}\phi^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\psi}^{i}\psi^{i},$$
(3.93)

with the lower indices labeling the dimension of the single-trace operators.

With the above preparation the second factor of (3.86) at large N is

$$\int D\Sigma \exp\left[\frac{1}{2\lambda} \int dz \Sigma^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \left(\int dz \Sigma \mathcal{O}\right)^{2} \right\rangle_{0}\right]$$

$$= \int D\Sigma \exp\left[\frac{1}{\lambda} \int dx^{3} \sqrt{g} (\Sigma_{2}\Sigma_{1} + \Sigma_{3/2}\Sigma_{3/2}) + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \left(\int dx^{3} \sqrt{g} (\mathcal{O}_{2}\Sigma_{1} + \Sigma_{2}\mathcal{O}_{1} + 2\mathcal{O}_{3/2}\Sigma_{3/2})\right)^{2} \right\rangle_{0}\right]$$

$$= \int D\Sigma \exp\left[\frac{1}{\lambda} \int dV (\Sigma_{2}\Sigma_{1} + \Sigma_{3/2}\Sigma_{3/2}) + \frac{1}{2} \int \int dV dV' \left(\Sigma_{1}(x)\Sigma_{1}(x') \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{2}(x)\mathcal{O}_{2}(x') \right\rangle_{0} + \Sigma_{2}(x)\Sigma_{2}(x') \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}(x)\mathcal{O}_{1}(x') \right\rangle_{0} + 4\Sigma_{3/2}(x)\Sigma_{3/2}(x') \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{3/2}(x)\mathcal{O}_{3/2}(x') \right\rangle_{0}\right],$$
(3.94)

where $dV \equiv dx^3 \sqrt{g}$, and we dropped vanishing terms in the two-point function to reach

the last line.

The integral in (3.86) then becomes gaussian, which integrates to give

$$\frac{Z}{Z_0} = \frac{\det\left(\mathbb{1} + 2\lambda \langle \mathcal{O}_{3/2}\mathcal{O}_{3/2}\rangle_0\right)}{\left\{\det\left(\frac{\lambda}{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_2\mathcal{O}_2\rangle_0\right)\det\left(\frac{\lambda}{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_1\rangle_0\right)\det\left(\mathbb{1} - (\frac{\lambda}{4} \langle \mathcal{O}_2\mathcal{O}_2\rangle_0)^{-1}(\frac{\lambda}{4} \langle \mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_1\rangle_0)^{-1}\right)\right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(3.95)

At $\lambda \to \infty$, the change of the free energy compared to the free theory is

$$\Delta F = -\log \frac{Z}{Z_0} = -\operatorname{tr} \log \left(2\langle \mathcal{O}_{3/2} \mathcal{O}_{3/2} \rangle_0 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \log \left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_0 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \log \left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_0 \right).$$
(3.96)

The two-point functions $\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_0$ and $\langle \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_0$ can be expanded in terms of scalar harmonics on S^3 [57]

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(x)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(x')\rangle_0 = \sum_{\ell m} g_{\ell}^{\Delta} Y_{\ell m}^*(x)Y_{\ell m}(x') , \qquad (3.97)$$

where g_{ℓ}^{Δ} is given by

$$g_{\ell}^{\Delta} = R^{3-2\Delta} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}} 2^{3-\Delta} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta)} \frac{\Gamma(\ell + \Delta)}{(3 + \ell - \Delta)} \,. \tag{3.98}$$

Since the harmonics satisfy orthonormal relations, we have

$$\int \sqrt{g} d^3 y \langle \mathcal{O}_2(x) \mathcal{O}_2(y) \rangle_0 \langle \mathcal{O}_1(y) \mathcal{O}_1(x') \rangle_0 = \sum_{\ell m} g_\ell^{\Delta=2} g_\ell^{\Delta=1} Y_{\ell m}^*(x) Y_{\ell m}(x') .$$
(3.99)

It is straightforward to see that $g_{\ell}^{\Delta=2}g^{\Delta=1}$ is independent of ℓ , and therefore according to [57], $\operatorname{tr} \log \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_0 + \operatorname{tr} \log \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_0$ does not contribute to ΔF .

Similarly, for fermionic two-point function, it is shown in [39] that $tr \log \langle O_{3/2} O_{3/2} \rangle_0$

is also zero. Therefore, in the IR there is no modification to the free energy given by the double-trace deformation.

When λ is small, one can apply perturbation theory to compute ΔF induced by the deformation. As shown in [39] the change of free energy caused by the deformation is proportional to the beta function of the deformation coupling. The deformation appearing here is exactly marginal in the $N \to \infty$ limit, which implies that the beta function of the coupling constant is suppressed by 1/N. Thus, at small coupling it can also be seen that the deformation does not affect the $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$ free energy. In summary, although we have not computed the free energy of the deformed theory for arbitrary λ , the vanishing of ΔF at $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$ in both the strong and weak coupling limits provides strong evidence that ΔF does not receive $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$ contribution from the supersymmetric double-trace deformation, which is exactly marginal in the $N \to \infty$ limit.

3.6 Discussion

We have carried out one loop tests of the conjectured dualities between Konstein-Vasiliev HS theories in AdS_4 with S^3 and $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$ boundaries. Our results for the free energies extend previous ones [20, 21, 41] by inclusion of fermionic bulk degrees of freedom. In computing the one loop free energies of bosonic and fermionic HS fields in AdS_4 with S^3 boundary, we have adopted the modified spectral zeta function method suggested by [43], thereby reproducing the one loop free energy for bosonic HS fields in a much simpler way without the ambiguities encountered in [20, 41]. We also find that the total one loop free energy of an infinite tower of bulk fermionic fields vanishes.

Matching the bulk fields with boundary operators suggests that the possible CFT duals of Konstein-Vasiliev theories based on hu(m; n|4), ho(m; n|4) and husp(m; n|4), and subject to HS symmetry preserving boundary conditions, are respectively the U(N), O(N) and USp(N) singlet sectors of free scalars and free fermions vector representations of the bosonic subalgebras conformally coupled to S^3 . We find that the free energy of the HS theory may match with that of the free CFT only when the bulk theories are hu(m; 0|4), ho(m; 0|4), husp(m; 0|4) Konstein-Vasiliev theories, and with identifications $G_N^{-1} = \gamma(N + \Delta N)$ with suitable integers ΔN . These are generalized Type-A theories with bosonic scalars on the boundary and bosonic bulk HS fields containing even parity scalars. Thus, in particular, the free energies for generalized Type-B models with fermions on the S^3 boundary and bosonic HS fields including odd parity scalar fields do not match. The mismatch in the case of m = 0, n = 1 corresponding to the simplest Type-B model has already been noted in [20] where the one loop free energy $F^{(1)} = -\zeta(3)/(8\pi^2)$ obtained in the bulk does not agree with the free energy of Dirac fermions on S^3 boundary. We have also calculated the free energies of Konstein-Vasiliev theories in AdS_4 with $S_{\beta}^1 \times S^2$ boundary. In this case, we find that the free energies of all three families of Konstein-Vasiliev theories match those of the conjectured dual free CFTs.

Turning to the problem of mismatch in free energies of Type-B model and its conjectured dual, one may have to take into account the issue of how to impose the O(N)invariance condition on the CFT side. A natural way of implementing it is to gauge the O(N) symmetry by means of vector gauge field with level k Chern-Simons kinetic term. This term breaks parity but the result for the free energy of the parity invariant model can be obtained in a limit in which the CS gauge field decouples. It has been suggested in [20] that as the fermions coupled to CS on the boundary give rise to a shift in the level k, it may not be justified to obtain the result for parity-preserving case by a naive subtraction of CS contribution from the free energy on the CFT side. However, one expects that this effect becomes irrelevant in the decoupling limit in which $k \to \infty$. In fact, we have examined the procedure of decoupling CS in the large k limit by evaluating the S^3 free energies for ABJ model based on $U(N)_k \times U(1)_{-k}$ [6, 58] and a few $\mathcal{N} = 3$ CS matter theories in which the matter sector consists of fundamental hypermultiplets [59–61]. After subtracting the contribution from pure CS term, we indeed obtain the free energies of free vector models. Therefore, the puzzle of free energy mismatch in Type-B remains unresolved and its solution requires deeper understanding of HS/vector model holography.

We conclude the chapter at this point. In next chapter we will focus on a parallel test of the HS/CFT duality, by comparing the three-point functions on both sides.

4. THREE-POINT FUNCTION TESTS OF HS/CFT DUALITIES

In this chapter we compute the tree-level three-point Witten diagrams of HS theories in AdS_4 without supersymmetry, and compare them with the known results on the CFT side [62–64]. More specifically, due to the non-localities present in the HS theories, we are only able to calculate the three-point functions with one scalar leg. In the pioneered work [22] the authors have adopted certain special kinematics in the computation of the three-point Witten diagrams with spins $s_1 - s_2 - 0$ for parity-preserving HS theories, and have shown that the coefficients of the leading terms (which are functions of s_1 and s_2 and thus nontrivial) match with the ones on CFT side. We will sharpen and expand considerably this test. In particular, we provide simplifications of the computations, and produce the full structures of the HS correlation functions. We also establish nontrivial new tests of the holography for the parity-violating HS theories.

In the following we first give out our convention for AdS_4 and review the structure of the CFT correlators in Chern-Simons matter theories, and discuss the general structure of HS interactions and relation to the Vasiliev equations. We then carry out the computation of the cubic Witten diagrams and compare the results with the ones in CFTs.

This chapter is based on the work [26] in collaboration with Dr. Ergin Sezgin and Dr. Evgeny Skvortsov.

4.1 Notation and Conventions in AdS_4

We adopt the mostly plus convention for the metric $\eta_{\underline{m}} = (-+++)$, which makes the Euclidean rotation easier to implement. Choosing $x^{\underline{m}} = (\vec{x}, z)$ to be Poincare coordinates with z being the radial coordinate and \vec{x} the three coordinates along the boundary, the AdS_4 -background can be described by vierbein $h_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and spin-connection that splits into

(anti) self-dual parts $\omega_{(0)\underline{m}}{}^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{\omega}_{(0)\underline{m}}{}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$:

$$h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2z} \sigma_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} dx^{\underline{m}} , \qquad \omega_{(0)}^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{i}{2z} \vec{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} \cdot d\vec{x} , \qquad \bar{\omega}_{(0)}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{i}{2z} \vec{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} \cdot d\vec{x} .$$
(4.1)

The matrices $\sigma_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ are constant and in our convention they are given by $\sigma_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\beta}} = (\vec{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta}, i\epsilon^{\alpha\beta})$. We have the relations

$$\mathbf{x}^{\alpha\beta} = \vec{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} \cdot \vec{\mathbf{x}} , \qquad \mathbf{x}^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \mathbf{x}^{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{x}_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad \sigma_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \sigma_{\underline{n}\,\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = -2\eta_{\underline{mn}} , \qquad (4.2)$$

$$x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \mathbf{x}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + iz\epsilon^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad x^2 = \mathbf{x}^2 + z^2, \qquad \mathbf{x}_{ij} = |\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{x}_j|.$$
 (4.3)

The inverse vierbein $h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{\underline{m}} = -z\sigma_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{\underline{m}}$ obeys the relations

$$h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}_{\underline{m}}h^{\underline{n}}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \delta^{\underline{n}}_{\underline{m}} , \qquad h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}_{\underline{m}}h^{\underline{m}}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}} , \qquad (4.4)$$

and the AdS_4 metric tensor and spin connection are given by

$$g_{\underline{m}\underline{n}} = -h_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}h_{\underline{n}\,\alpha\dot{\alpha}}dx^{\underline{m}}dx^{\underline{n}} = \frac{1}{2z^2}\eta_{\underline{m}\underline{n}}dx^{\underline{m}}dx^{\underline{n}}, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\Omega = \frac{1}{4i} \left[\omega_{(0)\,\alpha\beta} y^{\alpha} y^{\beta} + \bar{\omega}_{(0)\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}} y^{\dot{\beta}} + 2h_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} y^{\alpha} \bar{y}^{\dot{\beta}} \right] \,. \tag{4.6}$$

We use the raising and lowering conventions: $X^{\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}X_{\beta}$ and $X_{\alpha} = X^{\beta}\epsilon_{\beta\alpha}$ with $\epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\epsilon^{\beta\gamma} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}$, and similar conventions for the dotted indices. We use the convention $\epsilon_{12} = -\epsilon_{21} = 1$.

4.2 CFT

In this section we review the general structure of correlation function in three dimensions and list the results available in the literature for free theories and, more generally, for Chern-Simons matter theories. The advantage of three dimensions is that one can benefit from the fact that $so(2,1) \sim sp(2)$.

4.2.1 General Structure of the Correlators

In three dimensions a traceless rank-s so(2, 1)-tensor is equivalent to a symmetric rank-2s spin-tensor. It is convenient to contract the Lorentz indices of tensor operators with auxiliary polarization vectors that are now replaced by polarization spinors, which we denote by $\eta \equiv \eta^{\alpha}$. Therefore, a weight- Δ , rank-s tensor operator $O_{\Delta}^{a_1...a_s}$ is replaced by a generating function $O_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}, \eta)$:

$$O_{\Delta}^{a_1...a_s}(\mathbf{x}) \longrightarrow O_{\Delta}^{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}}(\mathbf{x}^{\beta\gamma}) \longrightarrow O_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x},\eta) = O_{\Delta}^{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}}(\mathbf{x})\eta_{\alpha_1}...\eta_{\alpha_{2s}} .$$
(4.7)

Suppose we are given a number of operators $O(\mathbf{x}_i, \eta_i)$ that are inserted at points \mathbf{x}_i and whose tensor indices are contracted with polarization spinors η^i_{α} . The conformal group acts in the usual way. In particular, Lorentz transformations correspond to an Sp(2) matrix $A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ that acts both on coordinates \mathbf{x}_i and polarization spinors η^i :

$$\mathbf{x}^{\beta\delta} \to A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} A_{\gamma}{}^{\delta} \mathbf{x}^{\alpha\gamma} , \qquad \qquad \eta^{i}_{\alpha} \to A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \eta^{i}_{\beta} . \tag{4.8}$$

It is useful to define the inversion map as

$$R\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{\vec{\mathbf{x}}}{\mathbf{x}^2} , \qquad R\eta^a_\alpha = \frac{\mathbf{x}_\alpha{}^\beta\eta^a_\beta}{\mathbf{x}^2} , \qquad Rx^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{x^2} = \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + iz\epsilon^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{\mathbf{x}^2 + z^2} , \qquad (4.9)$$

Then, it is not hard to see that the following structures are conformally invariant [63]:

$$Q_{jk}^{i} = \eta_{\alpha}^{i} \left(R[\mathbf{x}_{j} - \mathbf{x}_{i}] - R[\mathbf{x}_{k} - \mathbf{x}_{i}] \right)^{\alpha\beta} \eta_{\beta}^{i} , \qquad RQ_{jk}^{i} = Q_{jk}^{i} .$$
(4.11)

There is also one more structure that is parity-odd:

$$S_{jk}^{i} = \frac{\eta_{\alpha}^{k}(\mathbf{x}_{ki})^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{ij})^{\beta\gamma}\eta_{\gamma}^{j}}{\mathbf{x}_{ij}\mathbf{x}_{ik}\mathbf{x}_{jk}}, \qquad \qquad RS_{jk}^{i} = -S_{jk}^{i}.$$
(4.12)

Any three-point correlation function $\langle O_1(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta^1) O_2(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta^2) O_3(\mathbf{x}_3, \eta^3) \rangle$ can be decomposed into an obvious prefactor times a polynomial in Q, P, S structures:

$$\langle O_1(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta^1) O_2(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta^2) O_3(\mathbf{x}_3, \eta^3) \rangle = \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{12}^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 - \Delta_3} \mathbf{x}_{13}^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_3 - \Delta_2} \mathbf{x}_{23}^{\Delta_2 + \Delta_3 - \Delta_1}} f(P, Q, S) \,.$$
(4.13)

The function f must comply with the spin of the operators and also should not contain any redundant structures that are possible due to not all of Q, P, S being independent. As we will need only two- and three-point correlation functions, it is convenient to introduce the following notation

$$Q_1 \equiv Q_{32}^1$$
, $Q_2 \equiv Q_{13}^2$, $Q_3 \equiv Q_{21}^3$, $S_3 \equiv S_{21}^3$. (4.14)

The even power of any odd structure is even, which is manifested by [63]

$$S_3^2 + Q_1 Q_2 - P_{12}^2 \equiv 0. (4.15)$$

This is the only relation we need for the $s_1 - s_2 - 0$ correlators. The even structures P, Q can be identified as the building blocks of the simplest correlators that are completely fixed

by conformal symmetry

$$\langle j_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) j_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) \rangle \sim \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{12}^2} \delta_{s_1, s_2}(P_{12})^{s_1 + s_2} ,$$
 (4.16)

$$\langle j_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) j_0(\mathbf{x}_2) j_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle \sim \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{31}} (Q_1)^{s_1} ,$$
 (4.17)

where we assumed that j_s is the spin-s conserved tensor and the weight of scalar operator j_0 is $\Delta = 1$. The conservation of currents can be imposed with the help of a simple third order operator:

$$\operatorname{div} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \eta_{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\beta}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^{\alpha\beta}} \,. \tag{4.18}$$

4.2.2 Free Boson

The simplest example of duality is between the (non)-minimal the Type-A HS gravity and (U(N)) O(N) free scalars. Dropping the canonical normalization factors, the twopoint functions for the U(N) case are

$$U(N): \qquad \langle \bar{\phi}_a(\mathbf{x})\phi^b(0)\rangle = \delta^b_a \frac{1}{|\mathbf{x}|} , \qquad (4.19)$$

where a, b = 1, ..., N. As is well known [22, 65, 66], it is convenient to pack the HS currents into generating functions

$$j(\mathbf{x},\eta) = f(u,v)\bar{\phi}_a(\mathbf{x}_1)\phi^a(\mathbf{x}_2)\Big|_{\mathbf{x}_i=\mathbf{x}}, \qquad u = \frac{1}{2}\eta^\alpha\eta^\beta\partial^1_{\alpha\beta}, \quad v = \frac{1}{2}\eta^\alpha\eta^\beta\partial^2_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(4.20)

The conservation of the current implies a simple differential equation for f. The most convenient formulae are obtained [66,67] with the help of an auxiliary generating function $C^a(\eta|x)$ for the derivatives of the scalar field. It obeys $\partial_{\alpha\beta}C^a = \frac{i}{2}\partial_\alpha\partial_\beta C^a$, which is solved by $C^a = \cos \left[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{u}\right] \phi^a(\mathbf{x})$. The generating function of the HS currents then has a simple factorized form:

$$j(\mathbf{x},\eta) = C_a(u)C^a(-v) = \cos[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{u}]\cos[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{-v}]\bar{\phi}_a(\mathbf{x}_1)\phi^a(\mathbf{x}_2)\Big|_{\mathbf{x}_i=\mathbf{x}}.$$
 (4.21)

The two-point function of the currents is then

$$\langle j_s j_s \rangle_{f.b.} \equiv \langle j(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) j(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{12}^2} \cosh\left(2P_{12}\right) ,$$
 (4.22)

where we introduced a shorthand notation j_s for $j(\mathbf{x}_i, \eta_i)$ and the arguments are in accordance with its position inside the brackets; f.b. refers to "free boson". Sometimes we have to distinguish the first member of the family $j_0 \equiv \bar{\phi}_a(\mathbf{x})\phi^a(\mathbf{x})$ from the others. The simplest three-point function, which is fixed by the symmetry, is

$$\langle j_s j_0 j_0 \rangle_{f.b.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{13} \mathbf{x}_{23}} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}Q_1\right).$$
 (4.23)

The three-point functions with two HS currents are assembled into

$$\langle j_s j_s j_0 \rangle_{f.b.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{13} \mathbf{x}_{23}} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}Q_1 + \frac{1}{2}Q_2\right) \cos P_{12} .$$
 (4.24)

The three-point functions of the three HS currents are [68] (see also [63, 67, 69–71]):

$$\langle j_s j_s j_s \rangle_{f.b.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{31}} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}Q_1 + \frac{1}{2}Q_2 + \frac{1}{2}Q_3\right) \cos(P_{12}) \cos(P_{23}) \cos(P_{31}) \,. \tag{4.25}$$

It is also useful to consider the case of U(N)-singlet constraint with leftover U(M) global symmetry. The generating function is

$$\langle j_s j_s j_0 \rangle_{f.b.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{13} \mathbf{x}_{23}} \exp\left[-\frac{i}{2}(Q_1 + Q_2)\right] \cos P_{12} .$$
 (4.26)

This is the most general case, all others being simple truncations. Imposing the bose symmetry we get (4.24). Truncation to even spins only gives the O(N) case.

4.2.3 Free Fermion

The second example is the duality of the Type-B theory and a theory of free U(N) or USp(N) fermions, of which we consider the former. The two-point function is

$$U(N): \qquad \langle \tilde{\psi}^c{}_{a\alpha}(\mathbf{x})\psi^b_\beta(0)\rangle = \delta^b_a \frac{1}{2} \frac{\vec{\mathbf{x}} \cdot \vec{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}}{|\mathbf{x}|^3} = \delta^b_a \partial_{\alpha\beta} |\mathbf{x}^2|^{-\frac{1}{2}} . \tag{4.27}$$

HS currents are constructed analogously

$$j(\eta, \mathbf{x}) = f(u, v) \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \psi^{a}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \psi_{a\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \Big|_{\mathbf{x}_{i} = \mathbf{x}}, \qquad (4.28)$$

and again the useful trick is to pack the derivatives into C^a as follows

$$\partial_{\alpha\beta}C^a = \frac{i}{2}\partial_\alpha\partial_\beta C^a$$
, $C^a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{u}}\sin\left[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{u}\right]\psi^a_\alpha(\mathbf{x})\eta^\alpha$. (4.29)

The generating function of the HS currents has the factorized form:

$$j(\eta, \mathbf{x}) = C^{a}(u)C_{a}(-v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-uv}} \sin\left[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{u}\right] \sin\left[2e^{i\pi/4}\sqrt{-v}\right]\psi^{a}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{1})\psi_{a\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{2})\Big|_{\mathbf{x}_{i}=\mathbf{x}}.$$
(4.30)

The two-point function is normalized in the same way as that of the free boson:

$$\langle j_s j_s \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{12}^2} \cosh\left(2P_{12}\right) , \qquad \langle \tilde{j}_0 \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{1}{4\mathbf{x}^4} , \qquad (4.31)$$

where f.f. refers to "free fermion". Here the scalar singlet operator

$$\tilde{j}_0 = \tilde{\psi}^c{}_a\psi^a \tag{4.32}$$

has dimension 2 and is not captured by the generating function above. The three-point function of \tilde{j}_0 vanishes due to parity

$$\langle \tilde{j}_0 \tilde{j}_0 \tilde{j}_0 \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f.} = 0.$$

$$(4.33)$$

For the other cases we find (see also [63, 67, 69–71]):

$$\langle j_s j_s \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{2\cos(\frac{1}{2}Q_1 + \frac{1}{2}Q_2)}{x_{23}^2 x_{13}^2} S_3 \sin P_{12} ,$$
 (4.34)

$$\langle j_s \tilde{j}_0 \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{2 \sin \frac{1}{2} Q_1}{x_{12} x_{23}^3 x_{31}} Q_1 ,$$
 (4.35)

and

$$\langle j_s j_s j_s \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{31}} \sin(\frac{1}{2}Q_1 + \frac{1}{2}Q_2 + \frac{1}{2}Q_3) \sin(P_{12}) \sin(P_{23}) \sin(P_{31}) .$$
 (4.36)

Note that the expression for the correlators of j_s is valid for $s \ge 1$ only, while any insertion of \tilde{j}_0 should be treated separately. Again, it is useful to work with the free fermion with leftover U(M) global symmetry and the generating function is

$$\langle j_s j_s \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{23}^2 \mathbf{x}_{13}^2} \exp(\frac{i}{2}Q_1 + \frac{i}{2}Q_2) S_3 \sin P_{12} .$$
 (4.37)

4.2.4 Critical Boson

Critical Boson theory is the IR fixed point under a double-trace deformation $(\phi^2)^2$. The regime that is relevant for AdS/CFT is the large-N, see e.g. [72,73] for the systematic 1/N expansion. To the leading order in 1/N the correlation function of HS currents j_s , s > 0 stays the same as in the free boson theory, i.e. (4.25). The dimension of the lowest singlet operator ϕ^2 , which is usually dubbed σ , jumps from 1 for free boson to 2 + O(1/N) for critical one. Therefore, the spectrum of the singlet operators in the critical boson theory looks like that of the free fermion in $N = \infty$ limit. For this reason the scalar singlet is denoted as \tilde{j}_0 . Correlation functions with a number of \tilde{j}_0 insertions are related to those in the free boson theory by attaching propagators of the σ -field. In [64] the three-point functions $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle$ were fixed by employing the non-conservation equation in the Chern-Simons matter theories. The result is

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{c.b.} = f_{s_1, s_2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{13}^2 \mathbf{x}_{23}^2} (Q_1)^{s_1} (Q_2)^{s_2} \sum_k A_k \left(\frac{P_{12}^2}{Q_1 Q_2}\right)^k ,$$
 (4.38)

where *c.b.* refers to "critical boson", f_{s_1,s_2} is a overall spin-dependent factor and the coefficients obey $A_{-1} = 0$, $A_0 = 1$ and the rest are generated via

$$A_n = \frac{A_{n-1}\left(s_1s_2 + (2n-1-s_1)(2n-1-s_2) - 5n + 4\right)\right) - 2A_{n-2}(n-s_1-2)(n-s_2-2)}{n(2n-1)}$$

The coefficients f_{s_1,s_2} depend on normalization of $\langle j_s j_s \rangle_{c.b.}$ two-point functions. We choose the same normalization as in the free boson theory (4.22), which gives:

$$f_{s_1,s_2} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2}2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \,. \tag{4.39}$$

4.2.5 Critical Fermion

Critical fermion is the Gross-Neveu model, i.e. free fermion with $(\tilde{\psi}^c \psi)^2$ -deformation added. The large-N expansion works fine despite the apparent non-renormalizability of the interactions, see e.g. [74,75]. Again, the correlation functions of HS currents $j_s, s > 0$ are the same as in the free fermion theory (4.36) to the leading order in 1/N, while the dimension of $\sigma = \bar{\psi}\psi$ jumps from 2 in the free theory to $1 + \mathcal{O}(1/N)$ in the Gross-Neveu one. Therefore, the spectrum of singlet operators looks like that of the free boson theory in the $N = \infty$ limit and we use the same notation j_0 for $\bar{\psi}\psi$. The three-point functions $\langle j_{s_1}j_{s_2}j_0 \rangle$ were found in [64] to have the form:

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{c.f.} = g_{s_1, s_2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{13} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{12}} S_3 P_{12}(Q_1)^{s_1 - 1} (Q_2)^{s_2 - 1} \sum_k A_k \left(\frac{P_{12}^2}{Q_1 Q_2}\right)^k , \quad (4.40)$$

where c.f. refers to "critical fermion", $A_{-1} = 0$, $A_0 = 1$ and the rest of A_k is generated via

$$A_n = -\frac{8A_{n-2}(-n+s_1+1)(-n+s_2+1) - 4A_{n-1}((2n-s_1-1)(2n-s_2-1) + n+s_1s_2)}{4n(2n+1)}$$

The overall factor in our normalization is

$$g_{s_1,s_2} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2}2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \,. \tag{4.41}$$

4.2.6 Chern-Simons Matter Theories

There are four theories that are obtained by coupling the free/critical boson/fermion theories discussed above to Chern-Simons gauge field. The conjecture of three-dimensional bosonization is that they are equivalent in pairs under an appropriate identification of parameters N and $\lambda = N/k$. We are interested in $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle$ and $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle$ correlators, which are constrained to be [62]:

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{B_{\cdot}} = \tilde{N} \left[\cos \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{f.b_{\cdot}} + \sin \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{odd} \right] , \qquad (4.42a)$$

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{F_{\cdot}} = \tilde{N} \left[\cos \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f_{\cdot} f_{\cdot}} + \sin \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{odd} \right] , \qquad (4.42b)$$

where *B*. and *F*. refer to CS-boson and CS-fermion, respectively. Here \tilde{N} and θ are two macroscopical parameters and we recall that $\cos^2 \theta = 1/(1 + \tilde{\lambda}^2)$. This result holds true to the leading order in \tilde{N} but to all orders in $\tilde{\lambda}$. The expressions in terms of the microscopical parameters depend on type of theory and on N, $\lambda = N/k$. We can work with \tilde{N} and θ since their microscopical origin is invisible from the bulk. Note that the odd structures are different in the two cases (they even have different conformal dimensions due to j_0 and \tilde{j}_0). In fact the two odd structures can be found as the regular correlators on the opposite side of the bosonization duality:

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{odd} = \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{c.f.}, \qquad \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{odd} = \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{c.b.}.$$
(4.43)

As far as $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle$ correlators are concerned, all the results reviewed in the previous sections follow from (4.42) and this is the structure we would like to reproduce from the bulk side, including the details of the correlators and normalization factors. Note that the term 'parity odd correlator' corresponding to the second part of (4.42) may not have anything to do with parity, in view of (4.43). For example, the usual parity even correlator $\langle j_s j_s \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{c.b.}$ in the critical boson theory appears to be odd from the point of view of the dual fermionic theory.

4.3 Higher Spin Interactions

We briefly review the structure of the equations that results from the Vasiliev equations [35]. For more detailed reviews, we refer to [38, 42, 76]. The corrections to the free equations that are bilinear in the fields were worked out in [22, 76–78]. The main conclusion that is based on [22, 78] is that, up to quadratic order, the Klein-Gordon equation is sourced by two type of terms. One part is fixed by the HS algebra and is local enough for the computation of the correlation functions using field theory tools. A second part gives rise to infinities, though a proposal has been made [79] on how to obtain finite results by a set of field redefinitions. While our computations will mostly be based on the use of the first part, we shall nonetheless test this proposal as well in Section 4.5, and comment further about it in Section 4.7.

The convenient field variables that a HS theory can be built with are the Fronsdal fields. The Vasiliev equations yield first order differential equations, which upon solving for the auxiliary fields give equations in term of the Fronsdal fields and an infinitely many of differential consequences of these equations, which we drop.

For the purpose of computing tree-level Witten diagrams it is sufficient to impose the transverse and traceless gauge. Then the 4d free Fronsdal equations for spins $s \ge 1$ read:

$$(\Box + 2(s^2 - 2s - 2))\Phi_{\underline{m}_1 \dots \underline{m}_s} = 0 , \quad \Phi^{\underline{n}}_{\underline{nm}_3 \dots \underline{m}_s} = 0 , \quad \nabla^{\underline{n}}\Phi_{\underline{nm}_2 \dots \underline{m}_s} = 0 .$$
(4.44)

To make a link to the frame-like and then to the unfolded formulation of the 4d HS theories we replace a set of the traceless world tensors $\Phi_{\underline{m}_1 \dots \underline{m}_s}$ with the generating function in the spinorial language as

$$\Phi(y,\bar{y}|x) = \sum_{s} \frac{1}{s!s!} \Phi_{\alpha_1...\alpha_s,\dot{\alpha}_1...\dot{\alpha}_s}(x) y^{\alpha_1}...y^{\alpha_s} \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}_1}...\bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}_s} .$$
(4.45)

Then the gauge-fixed Fronsdal equations, as recovered from the 4d HS theory, read:

$$\left(\Box + 2(N^2 - 2N - 2)\right)\Phi = 0, \qquad (\partial\nabla\bar{\partial})\Phi = 0, \qquad (4.46)$$

where N is the number operator $N = y^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha}$ that counts spin (equivalently we can use $\bar{N} = \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\dot{\alpha}}$). The last equation manifests the transverse gauge.

In the unfolded approach [80], a specific multiplet of HS fields is packed into generating functions ω and C that take values in a HS algebra. In our case the relevant HS algebra [81] is the even part of the Weyl algebra A_2 . It is convenient to split the four generators of A_2 into (anti)-fundamentals of $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$

$$[\hat{y}_{\alpha}, \hat{y}_{\beta}] = 2i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \qquad [\hat{y}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{y}_{\dot{\beta}}] = 2i\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}. \tag{4.47}$$

In practice, non-commuting operators \hat{y}_{α} and $\hat{\bar{y}}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are replaced by commuting variables y_{α} , $\bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ while the product is replaced with the star product

$$(f \star g)(y, \bar{y}) = f(y, \bar{y}) \exp i \left[\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial y^{\beta}} + \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}}} \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial \bar{y}^{\dot{\beta}}} \right] g(y, \bar{y}) . \tag{4.48}$$

The bosonic higher spin algebra is defined as the even subalgebra, i.e. $f(y, \bar{y}) \in hs$ implies $f(y, \bar{y}) = f(-y, -\bar{y})$. It is straightforward to tensor any higher spin algebra with matrix algebra as to get U(N) extension, for example. The SUSY case are studied in [24].

The field content consists of one-form $\omega = \omega_{\underline{m}}(y, \overline{y}|x) dx^{\underline{m}}$ and zero-form $C = C(y, \overline{y}|x)$. In free theory the Fronsdal fields can be identified with certain components of ω , which in the traceless gauge is

$$h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi(y,\bar{y}|x) \in \omega(y,\bar{y}|x) \tag{4.49}$$

 ω and C obey the following linearized equations, known as the on mass-shell theorem

(OMST) [80],

$$\mathsf{D}\omega = \mathcal{V}(\Omega, \Omega, C) , \qquad \widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C = 0 , \qquad (4.50)$$

where $\mathcal{V}(\Omega, \Omega, C)$ is a star function quadratic in Ω and linear in C, and

$$\mathsf{D}\omega \equiv d\omega - \Omega \star \omega - \omega \star \Omega = \nabla \omega - h^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} (y_{\alpha} \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} \partial_{\alpha}) \omega , \qquad (4.51)$$

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C \equiv dC - \Omega \star C + C \star \pi(\Omega) = \nabla C + ih^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(y_{\alpha}\bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} - \partial_{\alpha}\bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}})C.$$
(4.52)

The AdS_4 connection Ω is defined in section 4.1, and the Lorentz covariant derivative acts in the same way on $\omega(y, \bar{y}|x)$ and $C(y, \bar{y}|x)$ as

$$\nabla \equiv d - \omega_{(0)}^{\alpha\beta} y_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} - \bar{\omega}_{(0)}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\beta}} .$$
(4.53)

The difference between D and \widetilde{D} is due to automorphism π : $\pi(f)(y, \overline{y}) = f(y, -\overline{y}) = f(-y, \overline{y})$. The vertex that relates the order-*s* curl of the Fronsdal field to the HS Weyl tensors reads

$$\mathcal{V}(\Omega,\Omega,C) = A \left[H^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} C(y,0) e^{-i\theta} + \bar{H}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\beta}} C(0,\bar{y}) e^{i\theta} \right],$$
(4.54)

where $H^{\alpha\beta} = h^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} \wedge h^{\beta\gamma}$, and analogously for $\bar{H}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$. The constant A is an arbitrary normalization factor that we choose to be A = i/4. The linearized equations (4.50) are invariant under the linearized HS gauge transformations

$$\delta\omega = \mathsf{D}\xi \,, \qquad \delta C = 0 \,. \tag{4.55}$$

Equations (4.50) are equivalent to Fronsdal equations supplemented with differential con-

sequences thereof. Up to the second order the unfolded equations should have the following schematic form

$$d\omega = \omega \star \omega + \mathcal{V}(\omega, \omega, C) + \mathcal{V}^2(\omega, \omega, C, C) + \mathcal{O}(C^3), \qquad (4.56a)$$

$$dC = \omega \star C - C \star \pi(\omega) + \mathcal{U}(\omega, C, C) + \mathcal{O}(C^3), \qquad (4.56b)$$

where the vertices \mathcal{V}^2 and \mathcal{U} need to be specified. The free equations result upon substituting $\omega \to \Omega + \omega$ and picking the terms that are linear in ω and C:

$$\mathsf{D}\omega^{(1)} = \mathcal{V}(\Omega, \Omega, C^{(1)}), \qquad \qquad \widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C^{(1)} = 0.$$
(4.57)

At the second order the weak-field expansion over the AdS background leads to

$$\mathsf{D}\omega^{(2)} - \mathcal{V}(\Omega, \Omega, C^{(2)}) = \omega^{(1)} \star \omega^{(1)} + \mathcal{V}(\Omega, \omega^{(1)}, C^{(1)}) + \mathcal{V}(\Omega, \Omega, C^{(1)}, C^{(1)}) , \quad (4.58)$$

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C^{(2)} = \omega^{(1)} \star C^{(1)} - C^{(1)} \star \pi(\omega^{(1)}) + \mathcal{V}(\Omega, C^{(1)}, C^{(1)}) .$$
(4.59)

We see that the second order fluctuations are sourced by the terms that are bilinear in the first order fluctuations. The terms that are bilinear in the zero-forms, the CC-terms for short, can be non-local. The part of the equations that does not have any problems with locality comes from the commutator in the HS algebra

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C^{(2)} = \omega^{(1)} \star C^{(1)} - C^{(1)} \star \pi(\omega^{(1)}) + \mathcal{O}(C^2) .$$
(4.60)

For some values of spins we do not expect the CC-terms to contribute. Indeed, when one of the legs is scalar, there is a unique (parity-preserving) coupling $s_1 - s_2 - 0$, [82]. It is non-abelian whenever $s_1 \neq s_2$ and is abelian for $s_1 = s_2$.

Let us note that the computation of correlators from the equations of motion that are not

derived from an action principle does not guarantee the bose symmetry of the correlators under the permutation of the points. The same correlator $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle$ can be obtained in two different ways: either by treating j_{s_1} , j_{s_2} as sources and then solving for the scalar field or by treating j_{s_1} , j_0 as sources and solving for the spin- s_2 Weyl tensor. Both computations are possible with (4.60). It was checked in [22] for the leading coefficients that the two ways of getting the same correlator give a bose symmetric correlator.

Lastly, Eq.(4.60) remains consistent if the fields ω , C are extended to matrix-valued fields. This way one can introduce Yang-Mills groups on top of the HS algebra. On the CFT side this should correspond to leftover global symmetries, i.e. those symmetries that remain after the singlet constraint is imposed.

4.4 Kinematics of the Boundary-to-Bulk Propagators

In this section we discuss the boundary-to-bulk propagators for HS fields. The problem has been extensively studied starting from the lower spin fields, see e.g. [83]. Specifically, we need the unfolded propagators, i.e. the propagators for the Fronsdal fields supplemented with derivatives thereof as to obey the free equations (4.50). In some form the unfolded propagators were found in [22]. In [70] it was observed that the propagators are simple functions that depend on a few universal geometrical data, which is the spinorial analog of [84].

4.4.1 Definitions

One of the basic objects is the Witten bulk-to-boundary propagator for the scalar field from the bulk point $x^{\underline{m}} = (x^i, z)$ to the boundary point x_a

$$K_a = \frac{z}{(x - x_a)^2 + z^2} \,. \tag{4.61}$$

We often set $x_a = 0$ in this section as the generic point can be recovered thanks to the threedimensional Poincaré invariance. The propagator is the boundary limit of the geodesic distance, which the bulk-to-bulk propagator should depend on. It obeys the regular ($\Delta =$ 1) boundary condition. The propagator K can be used to define a wave-vector, which turns into bi-spinor $F^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$ in the 4d spinorial language:

$$d\ln K = F_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (4.62)$$

where

$$F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \left(\frac{2z}{\mathbf{x}^2 + z^2}\mathbf{x}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{\mathbf{x}^2 - z^2}{\mathbf{x}^2 + z^2}\,i\epsilon^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right)\,.\tag{4.63}$$

It will play the same role as the on-shell momentum p plays for e^{ipx} and is the boundary limit of the vector that is tangent to the geodesic connecting two bulk points. There also exist the parallel-transport bi-spinors $\Pi^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}$ given by

$$\Pi^{\alpha\beta} = K\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{z}}\,\mathbf{x}^{\alpha\beta} + \sqrt{z}\,i\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\right) \,, \quad \bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} = K\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{z}}\,\mathbf{x}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} - \sqrt{z}\,i\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}\right) = (\Pi^{\alpha\beta})^{\dagger} \,, \quad (4.64)$$

that allow one to propagate the boundary polarization spinors into the bulk:

$$\xi^{\alpha} = \Pi^{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\beta} e^{+i\frac{\pi}{4}} , \qquad \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = (\xi^{\alpha})^{\dagger} = \bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}\eta_{\beta} e^{-i\frac{\pi}{4}} .$$
(4.65)

This is the full set of the data that any propagator can depend on. The set is closed under covariant derivatives:

$$\nabla F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}} h^{\delta\dot{\gamma}} F_{\delta}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} = 0 , \qquad (4.66)$$

and the parallel transported spinors obey

$$\nabla \xi^{\alpha} - F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}} \,\xi_{\delta} h^{\delta \dot{\gamma}} = 0 , \qquad \nabla \xi^{\dot{\alpha}} - F_{\delta}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,\xi_{\dot{\gamma}} h^{\delta \dot{\gamma}} = 0 . \tag{4.67}$$

In practice it is useful to rewrite the Lorentz-covariant derivatives with all indices being explicit:

$$\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}K = KF_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} , \quad \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\xi_{\beta} = F_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}\xi_{\alpha} , \quad \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\beta}} = F_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\xi_{\dot{\alpha}} , \quad \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}F_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + F_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}F_{\beta\dot{\beta}} .$$

$$(4.68)$$

As a consequence of the differential constraints above one also finds

$$(\Box - 4)K = 0$$
, $(\Box - 6)F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = 0$, $(\Box - 4)\xi^{\alpha} = 0$, $(\Box - 4)\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = 0$. (4.69)

4.4.2 Algebraic Identities

The quantities defined above obey several algebraic identities. The wave-vector satisfies

$$F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}F^{\beta}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} , \qquad F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}F_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\beta}} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} . \tag{4.70}$$

It behaves in many respects as a 'symplectic' structure that converts the dotted and undotted indices to each other as follows

$$F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}}\,\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\gamma}\beta} = i\Pi^{\alpha\beta}\,, \qquad F_{\gamma}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}\,\Pi^{\gamma\beta} = -i\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}\,, \qquad \Pi^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}\,\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\gamma} = -iKF^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\,, \qquad (4.71)$$

$$\xi^{\alpha} = F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,, \qquad \qquad \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = \xi^{\alpha} F_{\alpha}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{4.72}$$

The parallel-transport bi-spinors $\Pi^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}$ obey identities similar to (4.70):

$$\Pi^{\alpha\beta}\Pi^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} = K\epsilon^{\alpha\gamma} , \qquad \qquad \bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\gamma}}{}_{\beta} = K\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}} , \qquad (4.73)$$

$$\Pi^{\beta\alpha}\Pi_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} = K\epsilon^{\alpha\gamma} , \qquad \qquad \bar{\Pi}^{\beta\alpha}\bar{\Pi}_{\dot{\beta}}{}^{\gamma} = K\epsilon^{\alpha\gamma} . \qquad (4.74)$$

There are also useful identities involving the one-form $h^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = dx \underline{m} h_{\underline{m}}^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$:

$$(F \cdot h)F^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + h^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}} h^{\beta \dot{\beta}} F_{\beta}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (4.75)$$

$$(F \cdot h)\xi^{\alpha} + (F^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}} h_{\beta}{}^{\dot{\gamma}} - F_{\beta\dot{\gamma}} h^{\alpha\dot{\gamma}})\xi^{\beta} = 0, \qquad (4.76)$$

which result from the fact that anti-symmetrization over any three spinorial indices vanishes identically.

4.4.3 Inversion Map

The basic computational tool we will employ is based on the inversion trick [85]. For that reason it is important to know the transformation properties of the variables defined above under the inversion isometry of AdS_4 . Since the boundary-to-bulk objects K, F, ξ and $\bar{\xi}$ depend both on the bulk point, on the boundary point and polarization spinor η , the inversion map on the AdS-side should be accompanied by the inversion map on the boundary. Using the inversion map rules (4.9), we derive the following transformation properties:

$$K(R(\mathbf{x}, z); R\mathbf{x}_i) = \mathbf{x}_i^2 K(\mathbf{x}, z; \mathbf{x}_i) , \qquad (4.77a)$$

$$\Pi^{\alpha\beta}(R(\mathbf{x},z);R(\mathbf{x}_i)) = -J^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}}\,\bar{\Pi}^{\dot{\gamma}}{}_{\delta}\,(\mathbf{x},z;\mathbf{x}_i)\mathbf{x}_i^{\delta\beta}\,,\tag{4.77b}$$

$$\xi^{\alpha}(R(\mathbf{x},z);R(\mathbf{x}_{i},\eta_{i})) = +iJ^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}}\,\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\gamma}}(\mathbf{x},z;\mathbf{x}_{i},\eta_{i}), \qquad (4.77c)$$

$$\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}(R(\mathbf{x},z);R(\mathbf{x}_i,\eta_i)) = -iJ_{\gamma}^{\dot{\alpha}}\,\xi^{\gamma}(\mathbf{x},z;\mathbf{x}_i,\eta_i)\;, \tag{4.77d}$$

$$F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(R(\mathbf{x},z);R(\mathbf{x}_i)) = J^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}} J_{\beta}{}^{\dot{\alpha}} F^{\beta\dot{\beta}}(\mathbf{x},z;\mathbf{x}_i) , \qquad (4.77e)$$

where we defined $J^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$ as

$$J^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{\sqrt{x^2}} = \frac{x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + iz\epsilon^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}}{\sqrt{x^2 + z^2}}, \qquad \qquad J^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\gamma}}J^{\beta\dot{\gamma}} = -\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(4.78)

4.5 Vertices and Propagators

In this section we discuss the boundary-to-bulk propagators for HS fields and evaluate the vertex (4.60) on the propagators.

4.5.1 Propagators

With the help of the geometric objects introduced in Section 4.4 it is very easy to construct propagators. First of all, there is a unique expression for the Fronsdal field propagator:

$$\Phi_{\alpha(s),\dot{\alpha}(s)} = -2\sigma^{2s}A \frac{\Gamma[s]\Gamma[s]}{\Gamma[2s]} \left[K\xi_{\alpha(s)}\bar{\xi}_{\dot{\alpha}(s)}\right] , \qquad (4.79)$$

where A is the factor from the free unfolded equations (4.54), σ is a parameter that counts spin, the Γ -functions will be explained later as the most convenient normalization.

In practice we need the propagators for ω and C fields that enter the unfolded equations. These fields encode derivatives of the Fronsdal field. The propagators can be written in a very compact form as[†]

$$\omega = -2\sigma^2 A K h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \xi^{\alpha} \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \int_0^1 dt \, \exp i [\sigma t y^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} - (1-t)\sigma \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\xi}_{\dot{\alpha}}] ,$$

$$C = K \exp i [-y_{\alpha} F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \sigma y^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} + \theta] + K \exp i [-y_{\alpha} F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} - \sigma \bar{y}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} - \theta] , \quad (4.80)$$

$$= K \exp i [-y_{\alpha} F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{y}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \sigma y^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} + \theta] + h.c. ,$$

where A is a constant that is related to the normalization of the free unfolded equations (4.54). The *h.c.* operation is defined as

$$h.c.(\xi) = -\bar{\xi}, \qquad \qquad h.c.(\theta) = -\theta \qquad (4.81)$$

and σ is just a factor that counts spins, so can be put to one or any $\sigma(s)$. We will fix this normalization later.

4.5.2 Vertices

Let us remind that the equation we will extract the correlation function from is

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{D}}C^{(2)} = \omega \star C - C \star \pi(\omega) + \mathcal{O}(C^2) , \qquad (4.82)$$

where we evaluate the r.h.s. on the propagators and then solve for the Klein-Gordon equation. Expanding the master zero-form C as

$$C(y,\bar{y}|x) = \phi(x) + \phi_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}(x)y^{\alpha}\bar{y}^{\alpha} + \cdots, \qquad (4.83)$$

[†]The unfolded propagators were first found in [22] in a different form, especially the ω propagator where the gauge ambiguity is essential. The C propagator was cast into the form below in [70], see also [68,69,71].

the Klein-Gordon equation with a source is hidden in the first order form:

$$d\phi - ih_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\phi^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = h^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (4.84)$$

$$\nabla \phi^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + h^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \phi + \dots = h^{\beta \dot{\beta}} P^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}_{\beta \dot{\beta}} , \qquad (4.85)$$

where the one-form ${\cal P}=h^{lpha\dot{lpha}}P_{lpha\dot{lpha}}$ denotes the source built out of the free fields:

$$\mathcal{P} = \omega \star C - C \star \pi(\omega) \tag{4.86}$$

and we need the first two Taylor coefficients only:

$$\mathcal{P} = h^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \left[P_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + P_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}^{\beta \dot{\beta}} y_{\beta} \bar{y}_{\dot{\beta}} + \cdots \right] .$$
(4.87)

The first constraint can be solved for the auxiliary field $\phi^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$ and the result then plugged into the second one to get the Klein-Gordon equation with a source [18]:

$$(\Box - 4)\phi = \left[\nabla^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} + i\partial^{\alpha}\partial^{\dot{\alpha}}P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right]\Big|_{y,\bar{y}=0}.$$
(4.88a)

Since the propagators are known, we can get the source explicitly as

$$(\Box - 4)\phi = -4AK_1K_2 \int_0^1 dt \left[(1 + h.c.)(1 + \pi_{\xi_1}) \left(w + it(1 - t)w^2 + itw\xi_1\xi_2 \right) B \right],$$
(4.88b)

$$B = \exp i[t(1-t)w + t\xi_1\xi_2 + \theta], \qquad (4.88c)$$

$$w = (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1) ,$$
 (4.88d)

where K_1 , ξ_1 refer to ω and K_2 , ξ_2 , F_2 to C, and

$$(\xi_1\xi_2) \equiv \xi_1^{\alpha}\xi_{2\alpha} , \qquad (\xi_1F_2\bar{\xi}_1) \equiv \xi_{1\alpha}F^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\xi_{2\dot{\alpha}} .$$
 (4.89)

Here π_{ξ} is the twist map that is now realized on ξ (or $\overline{\xi}$ due to the bosonic projection), $\pi(\omega) = \omega(-\xi, \overline{\xi}) = \omega(\xi, -\overline{\xi})$. The appearance of π_{ξ_1} is responsible for the difference between HS fields with and without additional Yang-Mills groups. If we keep π_{ξ_1} then in the dual CFT the correlators $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle$ will vanish for $s_1 + s_2$ odd. If we drop π_{ξ_1} then on the CFT side $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle$ does not vanish for $s_1 + s_2$ odd and therefore we have a leftover global symmetry group. The latter case is more general and is easier to deal with.

On expanding the generating function (4.88b) and picking the terms of spins s_1 from ω and s_2 from C we find the vertex evaluated on the propagators in a very simple form[‡]

$$(\Box - 4)\phi = -4AK_1K_2\sum_{s_1, s_2} V_{s_1, s_2, 0} , \qquad (4.90a)$$

$$V_{s_1,s_2,0} = v_{s_1,s_2,0} \left[(\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1)^{s_1 - s_2} (\xi_1 \xi_2)^{2s_2} e^{i\theta} + h.c. \right],$$
(4.90b)
$$i^{s_1 + s_2 - 1} \Gamma(a_1 + a_2 + 1)$$

$$v_{s_1,s_2,0} = \frac{i^{s_1+s_2-1}\Gamma(s_1+s_2+1)}{\Gamma(2s_1)\Gamma(2s_2+1)},$$
(4.90c)

for $s_1 > s_2$. As we already commented in the Introduction, the vertex above can be used to obtain $0 - s_1 - s_2$ correlators for $s_1 \neq s_2$, but extrapolation to $s_1 = s_2$ will give the correct answer too since the correlation function depends smoothly on spins. Nevertheless, the 0 - s - s correlators should originate from the *CC*-terms in (4.56b), which previously gave infinite result [22, 86]. Therefore, we would like to use the proposal of [79], where

[‡]This vertex is also present in [22], but it does not seem to have such a simple form as below, which should be related to the ω propagator being in a different gauge.

the new CC-terms are

$$\mathcal{U}(h, C, C) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 d\tau \, \int \frac{d\bar{u}d\bar{v}}{(2\pi)^2} \, e^{i\bar{u}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{v}^{\dot{\beta}}} \, h_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} y^{\alpha} \left[\tau\bar{u} + (1-\tau)\bar{v}\right]^{\dot{\alpha}} \, C(\tau y, \bar{y} + \bar{u}) C((1-\tau)y, \bar{y} + \bar{v}) \\ + \text{h.c.}$$
(4.91)

A simple computation along the lines above gives[§]

$$(\Box - 4)\phi = -4AK_1K_2\sum_{s} V_{s,s,0}.$$
(4.92)

Therefore, the 0 - s - s vertex turns out to have the same form as the naive extrapolation of (4.90) and will give the correct answer without any additional computation needed once (4.90) is shown to be correct.

4.6 Computation of the Cubic Amplitude

From the bulk vertex (4.90b), the Witten diagram amplitude for $\langle J_{s_1}J_{s_2}J_0\rangle$ for $s_1 > s_2$ is obtained as

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} c_0 v_{s_1, s_2, 0} \times \times \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} \, dz}{z^4} K_1 K_2 (K_3)^{\Delta} (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1)^{s_1 - s_2} [(\xi_1 \xi_2)^{2s_2} e^{i\theta} + (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)^{2s_2} e^{-i\theta}] ,$$

$$(4.93)$$

where

$$K_{i} = K(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_{i}, z) , \quad F_{i}^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = F^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_{i}, z) , \quad \xi_{i}^{\alpha} = \xi^{\alpha}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_{i}, z; \eta_{i}) , \quad \bar{\xi}_{i}^{\dot{\alpha}} = \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_{i}, z; \eta_{i}) .$$
(4.94)

[§]The issue of θ -dependence is unclear to us since in [79] it was proposed to take the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric HS model and truncate it to the bosonic one using the boundary conditions that contain θ -dependence. Nevertheless, our bosonic truncation which does not rely on imposition of θ -dependent boundary conditions gives the right answer.

The factor (-4A) in (4.93) does not have any physical meaning and is an arbitrary normalization factor between ω and C in (4.54). For convenience, we reproduce the factor

$$v_{s_1,s_2,0} = \frac{i^{s_1+s_2-1}\Gamma(s_1+s_2+1)}{\Gamma(2s_1)\Gamma(2s_2+1)} .$$
(4.95)

Also, we introduced normalization factors c_s for each of the three fields. These cannot be fixed from the equations of motion and correspond to a freedom on the CFT side to normalize at will the two-point functions $\langle j_s j_s \rangle$. Lastly, there are two options for boundary conditions on the scalar fields: $\Delta = 1$ and $\Delta = 2$.

The three-point integrals are doable in principle due to the fact that one can always 'scalarize' the integrand by representing all $x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ -factors as derivatives with respect to the boundary points x_i . The scalar three-point integral was done long ago in [85]. The problem is to scalarize in the most efficient way as to break as less symmetries as possible. We extend the inversion method of [85] to our case. Firstly, using the translation invariance we can set $x_1 = 0$. Then, we apply the inversion map both to the boundary and bulk data. As a result the basic structures that enter the integrand drastically simplify:

$$\frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} \to \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} , \qquad (4.96a)$$

$$K_1 \to z$$
, (4.96b)

$$K_{2,3} \to \mathbf{x}_{2,3}^2 K_{2,3} ,$$
 (4.96c)

$$(\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1) \to 2z K_2 [\eta_1 (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_2) \eta_1] = -2z K_2 T_{11} ,$$
 (4.96d)

$$(\xi_2 F_1 \bar{\xi}_2) \to 2K_2^2 [\eta_2 (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_2) \eta_2] = -2K_2^2 T_{22} ,$$
 (4.96e)

$$(\xi_1\xi_2) + (\bar{\xi}_1\bar{\xi}_2) \to -2zK_2(\eta_1\eta_2) ,$$
 (4.96f)

$$(\xi_1\xi_2) - (\bar{\xi}_1\bar{\xi}_2) \to 2iK_2[\eta_1(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_2)\eta_2] = -2iK_2T_{12} , \qquad (4.96g)$$

where we defined

$$T_{ij} = -[\eta^i_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_2)^{\alpha\beta}\eta^j_{\beta}], \qquad (4.97)$$

and we will use the same notation for the variables after the inversion is applied. Our strategy is to rewrite the integrand in terms of simple differential operators acting on a scalar integrand

$$\int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} z^a (K_2)^b (K_3)^\Delta = (\mathbf{x}_{23})^{a-b-\Delta} I_{a,b,\Delta} , \qquad (4.98)$$

where

$$I_{a,b,\Delta} = \frac{\pi^{3/2}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}(a+b-\Delta)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}(a-b+\Delta)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}(-a+b+\Delta)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}(a+b+\Delta-3)\right)}{2\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(\Delta)} \tag{4.99}$$

There are three operators that can be immediately observed to generate the same structures that occur under the integral sign:

$$O_{11} = (\eta_1 \partial_2 \eta_1) \equiv \eta_1^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2^{\alpha\beta}} \eta_1^{\beta} , \qquad O_{12} = (\eta_1 \partial_2 \eta_2) , \qquad O_{22} = (\eta_2 \partial_2 \eta_2) .$$
(4.100)

The operators act on K_2 factors only and yield:

$$O_{ij}f(K_2) = \frac{(K_2)^2}{z} \frac{\partial}{\partial K_2} f(K_2) T_{ij} .$$
(4.101)

There is one relation between T_{ij} that is the bulk analog of the $S_3^2 + Q_1Q_2 - P_{12}^2 \equiv 0$ relation:

$$(T_{12})^2 = T_{11}T_{22} + \mathbf{x}_{23}^2(\eta_1\eta_2)^2 \,. \tag{4.102}$$
The integrand can be represented as a function of O_{ij} and $(\eta_1\eta_2)$ acting on the scalar integrand, and there is more than one way to do so due to the identity above. Then, the integral can be done and one is left with the same functional acting on some powers of $|x_{23}|$, which clearly generates some function of the conformally invariant structures resulting from setting $x_1 = 0$ followed by the inversion map:

$$x_{2,3} \to \frac{1}{x_{2,3}}$$
, (4.103a)

$$x_{23} \to \frac{x_{23}}{x_2 x_3}$$
, (4.103b)

$$P_{12} \to (\eta_1 \eta_2) ,$$
 (4.103c)

$$Q_1 \to -[\eta_1 \mathbf{x}_{23} \eta_1],$$
 (4.103d)

$$Q_2 \to + [\eta_2 \mathbf{x}_{23} \eta_2] \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{23}^2},$$
 (4.103e)

$$S_3 \to + [\eta_1 \mathbf{x}_{23} \eta_2] \frac{1}{\mathbf{x}_{23}}$$
 (4.103f)

It is convenient to use the same notation T_{ij} for the corresponding structures on the boundary $T_{ij} = [\eta_i \mathbf{x}_{23} \eta_j]$ since they arise under the action of O_{ij} on \mathbf{x}_{23} resulting from the integral. In other words, if O_{ij} applied to the l.h.s. (4.98), it generates bulk T_{ij} defined in (4.97), and if O_{ij} acts on the r.h.s. of (4.98), it generates the boundary T_{ij} .

4.6.1 Leading Coefficients

Our goal is to reproduce the full structure of the three-point functions. However, it is useful to perform a few simple checks of the duality that do not require establishing a full dictionary between bulk and boundary. It is clear that O_{ij} operators when applied one after another produce

$$O_{11}^{n_1}O_{12}^{n_2}O_{22}^{n_3}(K_2)^a = \frac{\Gamma[a+n]}{z^n\Gamma[a]}(K_2)^{a+n}T_{11}^{n_1}T_{12}^{n_2}T_{22}^{n_3} + \mathcal{O}(\eta_1\eta_2) , \qquad (4.104)$$

where $n = n_1 + n_2 + n_3$. Therefore, up to P_{12} -terms, which are represented by $\mathcal{O}(\eta_1\eta_2)$ after the inversion, the bulk computation amounts to pulling out the T_{ij} structures as powers of O_{ij} , computing the scalar integral and then pushing the O_{ij} factors in. In the last step operators O_{ij} act on x_{23} resulting from the bulk integral and generate $Q_{1,2}$ modulo $Q_1Q_2 \sim -S_3^2$.

Type-A, $\Delta = 1$:

In the case of $\Delta = 1$ and $\theta = 0$ a simple computation gives:

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} c_0 v_{s_1, s_2, 0} I_{s_1, s_2, 0}^{\Delta = 1} \times \left[(Q_1)^{s_1} (Q_2)^{s_2} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}) \right] ,$$

$$(4.105)$$

where $I_{s_1,s_2,0}$ is the factor that comes from the bulk

$$I_{s_1,s_2,0}^{\Delta=1} = \frac{\pi^3 \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)^{s_1+s_2} \left(-\right)^{s_1} \Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{s_1 \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-s_2\right) \Gamma(s_1+s_2+1)} \,. \tag{4.106}$$

This should be compared with the generating function (4.24) in free boson theory:

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.b.} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{s_1+s_2} \frac{1}{s_1! s_2!} \left[(Q_1)^{s_1} (Q_2)^{s_2} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}) \right] .$$
(4.107)

Since the normalization of the boundary-to-bulk propagators is not yet fixed, we should compare two function of s_1, s_2 , the bulk result and the CFT result, up to a product of functions of s_1 and s_2 separately. In doing so we can find that the normalization factor is

$$c_s = -\frac{4^s}{\pi} \ . \tag{4.108}$$

[¶]What we compute would correspond to the dual theory with U(M) global symmetry (4.26). The same comment applies to all correlators below.

With this normalization we have a perfect match up to the terms of order $(\eta_1\eta_2) = P_{12}$, namely

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.} = \langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.b.} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}) .$$
(4.109)

Type-B, $\Delta = 2$:

The same computation but for $\Delta=2$ and $\theta=\pi/2$ leads to

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}$$

= $(-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} \tilde{c}_0 v_{s_1, s_2, 0} I_{s_1, s_2, 0}^{\Delta = 2} \left[(Q_1)^{s_1 - 1} (Q_2)^{s_2 - 1} P_{12} S_3 + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right] .$ (4.110)

Here we assumed that the normalization of the scalar field propagator \tilde{c}_0 can be different from c_0 due to the change in boundary conditions. The bulk integral and other factors combine into $I_{s_1,s_2,0}^{\Delta=2}$ as follows

$$I_{s_1,s_2,0}^{\Delta=2} = -\frac{\pi^3 s_2 \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)^{s_1+s_2-1} \left(-\right)^{s_1} \Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-s_2\right) \Gamma(s_1+s_2+1)} .$$
(4.111)

We note that one factor of P_{12} jumps out of the integral and the subleading terms are of order P_{12}^2 . The result should be compared with the generating function (4.34) in free fermion theory:

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.f.}$$

= $\frac{i^{s_1+s_2-2}}{\mathbf{x}_{23}^2 \mathbf{x}_{13}^2 2^{s_1+s_2-2}} \frac{2}{(s_1-1)!(s_2-1)!} \left[(Q_1)^{s_1-1} (Q_2)^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right] .$ (4.112)

We find the two results to agree, namely

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.} = -\frac{\tilde{c}_0}{c_0} \langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.f.} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}) .$$
(4.113)

Once the normalization factors c_s are fixed by the Type-A duality the match just observed is even more nontrivial because the only freedom that we have is an overall spinindependent factor.^{||} The canonical normalization of the scalar field propagators [85] is such that $\tilde{c}_0/c_0 = -2$.

4.6.2 Complete Dictionary

We would like to reproduce the full structure of CFT correlators. The idea is to take the subleading terms into account and express the bulk integrand as the action of a differential operator in O_{ij} on the scalar integrand. The operators O_{ij} produce T_{ij} and the subleading terms are obtained due to

$$O_{11}T_{22} = (\eta_1\eta_2)^2$$
, $O_{22}T_{11} = (\eta_1\eta_2)^2$, $O_{12}T_{12} = -\frac{1}{2}(\eta_1\eta_2)^2$. (4.114)

Operators O_{ij} commute with each other. Moreover, O_{11} does not produce any subleading terms at all. Then the action of any power of, say O_{12} , can be evaluated starting from $(x \equiv x_{23})$

$$O_{12}f(\mathbf{x}^2, T_{12}) = \left(-T_{12}\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^2} - \frac{1}{2}(\eta_1\eta_2)^2\frac{\partial}{\partial T_{12}}\right)f(\mathbf{x}^2, T_{12}), \qquad (4.115)$$

^{||}The generating functions of the HS currents built out of free bosons and fermions, which were introduced in Section 4.2, are components of the supermultiplet of HS currents. Therefore, the normalization of the HS currents in free boson and free fermion are naturally related to each other.

and exponentiating it as

$$\exp[tO_{12}] \, (\mathbf{x}^2)^{-a} = \left(\mathbf{x}^2 - tT_{12} + \frac{t^2}{4}(\eta_1\eta_2)^2\right)^{-a} \,, \tag{4.116}$$

.

which leads to Gegenbauer polynomials:

$$(O_{12})^{n}(\mathbf{x}^{2})^{-a} = \sum_{k} A_{k}^{a,n} (\eta_{1}\eta_{2})^{2k} (T_{12})^{n-2k} (\mathbf{x}^{2})^{-(a+n-k)}, \quad A_{k}^{a,n} = \frac{(-)^{k} n! \Gamma(a-k+n)}{4^{k} k! \Gamma(a)(n-2k)!}.$$

$$(4.117)$$

In particular, we find (4.104)

$$(O_{12})^{n} (\mathbf{x}^{2})^{-a} = \frac{\Gamma[a+n]}{\Gamma[a]} (\mathbf{x}^{2})^{-(a+n)} (T_{12})^{n} + \mathcal{O}(\eta_{1}\eta_{2}) .$$
(4.118)

In fact, we will use the inversion formula:

$$\sum_{k=0} B_k^{a,n} (\eta_1 \eta_2)^{2k} (O_{12})^{n-2k} (\mathbf{x}^2)^{-(a+k-n)} = (\mathbf{x}^2)^{-a} (T_{12})^n , \quad B_k^{a,n} = \frac{\Gamma[a+k-n]n!}{\Gamma[a]4^k k! (n-2k)!} (\eta_1 \eta_2)^{2k} .$$
(4.119)

The same formula works in the bulk if we replace $|x^2|^{-1}$ by K_2/z and T_{ij} by the bulk T_{ij} (4.97) which we happen to denote by the same symbol, as explained below (4.103). Therefore, any T_{12} structure can also be factored out.

4.6.3 Complete Three-Point Functions

We can now compute (4.93) for general θ . The choice $\Delta = 1$ should be compared with CS-boson and $\Delta = 2$ with CS-fermion.

The computation is now reduced to the following simple steps: (i) express the integrand in terms of $(\xi_1\xi_2) \pm (\bar{\xi}_1\bar{\xi}_2)$; (ii) apply the inversion map and express the integrand in terms of T_{ij} ; (iii) T_{11} is factored out immediately, while T_{12} is pull out with the help of (4.119) as certain polynomial in O_{12} ; (iv) the integral can be done; (v) the operators O_{ij} should be evaluated in terms of T_{ij} , which is easy for O_{11} and we use (4.117) for O_{12} ; (vi) powers of T_{ij} should be replaced by Q_1, Q_2, P_{12}, S_3 .

As the first step we need the following simple identity, which reveals the dependence on θ of the final result as well as how it splits into parity-even and parity-odd structures:

$$\begin{split} &[(\xi_{1}\xi_{2})^{2s_{2}}e^{i\theta} + (\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\xi}_{2})^{2s_{2}}e^{-i\theta}] \\ &= \sum_{k} \frac{2\cos\theta}{4^{s_{2}}} C_{2k}^{2s_{2}}[(\xi_{1}\xi_{2}) + (\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\xi}_{2})]^{2s_{2}-2k}[(\xi_{1}\xi_{2}) - (\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\xi}_{2})]^{2k} \\ &+ \sum_{k} \frac{2i\sin\theta}{4^{s_{2}}} C_{2k+1}^{2s_{2}}[(\xi_{1}\xi_{2}) + (\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\xi}_{2})]^{2s_{2}-2k-1}[(\xi_{1}\xi_{2}) - (\bar{\xi}_{1}\bar{\xi}_{2})]^{2k+1} \,. \end{split}$$
(4.120)

Since the θ -dependence is fixed, in computing the correlation functions it is sufficient to choose either $\theta = 0$ or $\theta = \pi/2$ and for each of these cases to consider the $\Delta = 1$ and $\Delta = 2$ boundary conditions for the scalar field. Therefore, we need to compute four bulk integrals. In fact, these terms can be computed in the parity even Type-A,B theories but with different choice of boundary conditions for the scalar field, see also the end of Section 4.2.6.

The comment that applies to all the cases considered below is that the generating functions of correlators depend smoothly on spins and therefore it should be possible to extrapolate the result in the case of $s_1 > s_2$ to the case of $s_1 = s_2$, which is an argument used in [22]. The assumption $s_1 > s_2$ was used to pick only $\omega_{s_1}C_{s_2}$ terms and for the opposite situation we find contribution from $\omega_{s_2}C_{s_1}$, which is the same. Therefore, the computation below covers all possible s_1 and s_2 .

Another comment is that the results we obtain in the bulk are valid for the case of U(N)CFT's that have HS currents with all integer spins (there are only HS currents with even spin in the O(N) case). Also, the bulk results are valid for the case of the leftover global symmetry on the CFT side. The projection onto the singlet sector is trivial and can be obtained by taking the bose symmetric part of the correlator, as discussed in Section 4.5.2. It should be noted that the result of [64], which we will compare the AdS/CFT correlators with, were obtained assuming that the prediction of the slightly broken HS symmetry [62] extends to all integers spins and possibly to the case of leftover global symmetries.

Type-A, Free Boson:

The integral corresponding to $\Delta = 1$ and $\theta = 0$ is given by

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=0} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} c_0 v_{s_1,s_2,0} \times \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} K_1 K_2 K_3 (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi_1})^{s_1-s_2} \sum_k \frac{2}{4^{s_2}} C_{2k}^{2s_2} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) + (\bar{\xi_1} \bar{\xi_2})]^{2s_2-2k} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) - (\bar{\xi_1} \bar{\xi_2})]^{2k} .$$

$$(4.121)$$

The final result for the right hand side of this equation is the following triple sum

$$\sum_{k=0}^{s_2} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-i} \frac{(-1)^{k-j} i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{s_1-s_2+1} \Gamma(2(-k+s_1+s_2)) \Gamma\left(-i+k+s_1-s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} i! j! (2s_1-1)! (2s_2-2k)! (-i+2s_1)! (-i-j+k)!} \times \frac{Q_1^{s_1-s_2} P_{12}^{2(i+j-k+s_2)} \left(P_{12}^2 - Q_1 Q_2\right)^{-i-j+k}}{x_{12} x_{13} x_{23}} , \qquad (4.122)$$

where we undid the inversion map. This expression can be supplemented with the $s_2 > s_1$ contribution, extended to diagonal $s_1 = s_2$, as we explained above, then summed over spins as to build a generating function. This gives the result:

$$\frac{2}{\mathbf{x}_{12}\mathbf{x}_{13}\mathbf{x}_{23}}\exp\left(\frac{i}{2}Q_1 + \frac{i}{2}Q_2\right)\cos P_{12}.$$
(4.123)

This matches exactly the CFT three-point function:

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=0} = \langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.b.} .$$
(4.124)

This result is slightly new as we managed to reproduce the full structure of the CFT correlators from the local HS equations where the field theory methods can be applied, and we note that no regularization of infinities is required. The leading coefficients were found in [22] and the same generating function resulted from the non-local CC-terms after some regularization in [68].

Type-B, Free Fermion:

The integral corresponding to $\Delta = 2$ and $\theta = \pi/2$ reads

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta = 2, \theta = \frac{\pi}{2}} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} \tilde{c}_0 v_{s_1, s_2, 0} \times \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} K_1 K_2 K_3^2 (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1)^{s_1 - s_2} \sum_k \frac{2i}{4^{s_2}} C_{2k+1}^{2s_2} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) + (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2s_2 - 2k - 1} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) - (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2k+1} .$$

$$(4.125)$$

The right hand side of this equation can be brought to the form

$$\frac{\tilde{c}_{0}}{c_{0}} \sum_{k=0}^{s_{2}-1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-i} \frac{(-1)^{j+k} 2^{s_{1}-s_{2}+1} i^{s_{1}+s_{2}} \Gamma(-2k+2s_{1}+2s_{2}-1) \Gamma\left(-i+k+s_{1}-s_{2}+\frac{3}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} i! j! \Gamma(2s_{1}) \Gamma(-i+2s_{1}+1) \Gamma(2s_{2}-2k) \Gamma(-i-j+k+1)}} \times \frac{S_{3} Q_{1}^{s_{1}-s_{2}} P_{12}^{2i+2j-2k+2s_{2}-1} \left(P_{12}^{2}-Q_{1} Q_{2}\right)^{-i-j+k}}{x_{23}^{2} x_{13}^{2}} \,. \tag{4.126}$$

As before, this expression can be supplemented with the $s_2 > s_1$ contribution, extended to diagonal $s_1 = s_2$, then summed over spins as to build a generating function. The result is:

$$-\frac{\tilde{c}_0}{c_0} \frac{\exp(\frac{i}{2}Q_1 + \frac{i}{2}Q_2)}{\mathbf{x}_{23}^2 \mathbf{x}_{13}^2} S_3 \sin P_{12} , \qquad (4.127)$$

and matches exactly the CFT three-point function (4.37):**

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=2,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = \langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{f.f.} .$$
(4.128)

where we recall that the prefactor accounts for the difference in the boundary conditions for the scalar field and is equal to -2.

Type-A, Critical Boson:

We take the $\Delta = 1$ Type-A expression (4.121) and simply set $\Delta = 2$. This gives

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, \eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, \eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta = 2, \theta = 0} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} \tilde{c}_0 v_{s_1, s_2, 0} \times \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} K_1 K_2 K_3^2 (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1)^{s_1 - s_2} \sum_k \frac{2}{4^{s_2}} C_{2k}^{2s_2} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) + (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2s_2 - 2k} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) - (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2k} .$$

$$(4.129)$$

The right hand side of this equation is evaluated to yield

$$\frac{\tilde{c}_{0}}{c_{0}} \sum_{k=0}^{s_{2}} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-i} \frac{(-1)^{k-j} 2^{s_{1}-s_{2}+1} i^{s_{1}+s_{2}} \Gamma(-2k+2s_{1}+2s_{2}) \Gamma(-i+k+s_{1}-s_{2}+1)}{\sqrt{\pi} i! j! \Gamma(2s_{1}) \Gamma(-i+2s_{1}+1) \Gamma(-2k+2s_{2}+1) \Gamma\left(-i-j+k+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \times \frac{Q_{1}^{s_{1}-s_{2}} P_{12}^{2(i+j-k+s_{2})} \left(P_{12}^{2}-Q_{1}Q_{2}\right)^{-i-j+k}}{x_{23}^{2} x_{13}^{2}} .$$
(4.130)

The three-point function in the CS-fermion theory was found in a form of recurrence relations in [64] (see also Section 4.2.4). We find that the triple sum above is an explicit solution to those recursion relations. The leading coefficient is

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=2,\theta=0} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\tilde{c}_0}{c_0} \frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1} Q_2^{s_2}}{\mathbf{x}_{23}^2 \mathbf{x}_{13}^2} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}) .$$

$$(4.131)$$

^{**}We again note that the answer is formally for the free fermion with leftover U(M) global symmetry.

The sum (4.130) can be evaluated explicitly:

$$\frac{\tilde{c}_{0}}{c_{0}} \sum_{l=0}^{s_{2}} \frac{(-1)^{l} i^{s_{1}+s_{2}} 2^{1+s_{1}-s_{2}} \Gamma(1+l+s_{1}-s_{2}) \Gamma\left(2(-l+s_{1}+s_{2})\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+l) \Gamma(2s_{1}) \Gamma(1+2s_{1}) \Gamma(1-2l+2s_{2})} \\
\times {}_{2}F_{1}(l-s_{2},\frac{1}{2}+l-s_{2},\frac{1}{2}+l-s_{1}-s_{2},1) \\
\times \frac{(Q_{1})^{s_{1}-s_{2}}(P_{12})^{2(s_{2}-l)}(S_{3})^{2l}}{x_{23}^{2} x_{13}^{2}} \quad (\text{Type-A}, \Delta=2) .$$
(4.132)

The computation shows that it is more convenient to use the S_3 variable. Indeed, the bulk integral gives S_3 after O_{12} is applied. We expect this to be the case for the most general case of three non-zero spins too: it may be more convenient to express even structures in terms of even functions of the odd S structures.

Type-B, Critical Fermion:

Using the same technique as before we can compute the parity odd integral for $\Delta = 1$, which for $\Delta = 2$ reproduced the free fermion result, the only modification required being $K_3^2 \rightarrow K_3$:

$$\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = (-4A) c_{s_1} c_{s_2} c_0 v_{s_1,s_2,0} \times \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{x} dz}{z^4} K_1 K_2 K_3 (\xi_1 F_2 \bar{\xi}_1)^{s_1-s_2} \sum_k \frac{2i}{4^{s_2}} C_{2k+1}^{2s_2} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) + (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2s_2-2k-1} [(\xi_1 \xi_2) - (\bar{\xi}_1 \bar{\xi}_2)]^{2k+1}$$

$$(4.133)$$

As a result, the right hand side of this equation yields the following triple sum representation for the critical fermion:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{s_2-1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-i} \frac{(-1)^{j+k} i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{s_1-s_2+1} \Gamma(-2k+2s_1+2s_2-1) \Gamma(-i+k+s_1-s_2+1)}{\sqrt{\pi} i! j! \Gamma(2s_1) (-2k+2s_2-1)! \Gamma(-i+2s_1+1) \Gamma\left(-i-j+k+\frac{3}{2}\right)} \times \frac{S_3 Q_1^{s_1-s_2} P_{12}^{2i+2j-2k+2s_2-1} \left(P_{12}^2 - Q_1 Q_2\right)^{-i-j+k}}{x_{12} x_{13} x_{23}} .$$

$$(4.134)$$

In [64], see also Section 4.2.5, the generating function of the correlators was found in CSboson theory in an implicit form of a recurrence relation. The triple sum above provides an explicit solution to this system. The leading coefficient is easy to find, and gives

$$\left\langle J_{s_1}(\mathbf{x}_1,\eta_1) J_{s_2}(\mathbf{x}_2,\eta_2) J_0(\mathbf{x}_3) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right\rangle_{h.s.}^{\Delta=1,\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -\frac{i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{-s_1-s_2+2}}{\Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s_1+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{Q_1^{s_1-1} Q_2^{s_2-1} S_3 P_{12}}{\mathbf{x}_{12} \mathbf{x}_{23} \mathbf{x}_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(P_{12}^2) \right)$$

The sum (4.134) can be evaluated explicitly, giving:

$$\sum_{l=0}^{s_2-1} \frac{(-1)^l i^{s_1+s_2} 2^{s_1-s_2+1} \Gamma(1+l+s_1-s_2) \Gamma(2s_1+2s_2-2l-1)}{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3}{2}+l) \Gamma(2s_1) \Gamma(2s_1+1) \Gamma(2s_2-2l)} \times {}_2F_1(\frac{1}{2}+l-s_2,1+l-s_2,\frac{3}{2}+l-s_1-s_2,1) \Big) \times \frac{(Q_1)^{s_1-s_2} (P_{12})^{2(s_2-l)-1} (S_3)^{2l+1}}{x_{12} x_{13} x_{23}} \quad (\text{Type-B}, \Delta=1) .$$

$$(4.136)$$

Summary:

Combining all the four cases together with the θ dependence (4.120) we have confirmed that the structure of $\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle$ is in accordance with the CFT result (4.42):

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{B_{\cdot}} = \tilde{N} \left[\cos \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{f.b_{\cdot}} + \sin \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} j_0 \rangle_{odd} \right] , \qquad (4.137a)$$

$$\langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{F_{\cdot}} = \tilde{N} \left[\cos \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{f.f_{\cdot}} + \sin \theta \langle j_{s_1} j_{s_2} \tilde{j}_0 \rangle_{odd} \right] .$$
(4.137b)

Here we restored the bulk coupling constant $G = 1/\tilde{N}$. The θ -dependence results from the fact that the (anti)-selfdual HS Weyl tensors are identified with the order *s*-curls of the

Fronsdal field with a phase shift (4.54)

$$C_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_{2s}} = e^{+i\theta} \,\nabla_{\alpha_1}{}^{\dot{\alpha}_1} \dots \nabla_{\alpha_s}{}^{\dot{\alpha}_s} \phi_{\alpha_{s+1}\dots\alpha_{2s},\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_s} , \qquad (4.138a)$$

$$C_{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_{2s}} = e^{-i\theta} \nabla^{\alpha_1}{}_{\dot{\alpha}_1} \dots \nabla^{\alpha_s}{}_{\dot{\alpha}_s} \phi_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_s,\dot{\alpha}_{s+1}\dots\dot{\alpha}_{2s}} .$$
(4.138b)

Given the θ -dependence, the four structures in (4.137) can be found by evaluating the bulk integral for $\Delta = 1, 2$ and $\theta = 0, \pi/2$, as we did.

4.7 Discussion

By isolating the scalar field equation in the Vasiliev theory up to quadratic terms in fields, we managed to extract the ωC -correction to the scalar field equation and produce the full structure of the correlators. The perfect agreement with the CFT results is found, including the θ -dependence and the parity-violating structures, which were recently derived in [64] on the CFT side.

Notice that, different from the previous one loop test of the free energies, here we found the perfect match between the tree-level three-point functions of Type-B model and its corresponding dual. The latter result concretely supports the duality between Type-B theory/fermionic vector model. We believe that the mismatch in the one loop test requires deeper understanding of the structure of the free energy, and will propose a few possible solutions to this mismatch in the conclusion. We also address that in this work we only obtained the cubic Witten diagrams involving one scalar field. The calculation of the correlators with three general spins is obstructed by the non-localities present is HS theories, and remains to be an open problem. We shall comment further on the issue of non-localities in the conclusions below.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In this dissertation we have mainly discussed two topics: application of localization to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theory in 3D and the tests of HS/CFT dualities.

In the work on the first topic, we considered the most general $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal Chern-Simons matter theory with global symmetry Sp(2) and gauge group $U(N) \times U(N)$. We have shown that the Lagrangian in the on-shell formulation of the theory admits one more free parameter as compared to the theory formulated in off-shell $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace. We found that the vanishing of the deformation under supersymmetry transformation requires the curvature of the 3D space being zero or negative, therefore the theory on T^3 can be formally localized. Localization procedure has then been partially carried out for the theory on T^3 with periodic boundary conditions. In particular we have shown that restricting to the saddle points with vanishing gauge connection gives a trivial contribution to the partition function, i.e. the bosonic and fermionic contributions exactly cancel each other.

Our results have the following implication for the partition function of the ABJM model on T^3 . Our analysis of the saddle points shows that the classical CS action vanishes on the locus of flat gauge connections on T^3 . Since the one-loop determinant around the saddle points does not introduce any dependence on the two CS levels, it follows by the localization argument that the partition function is independent of the level $k \equiv k_1 = -k_2$. Hence we may compute the partition function in the limit $k \to \infty$ with N fixed, which corresponds to vanishing 't Hooft coupling. In this limit the matter sector becomes free and decouples from the CS action. Therefore the resulting partition function factorizes into a pure supersymmetric CS partition function and a free matter piece. The latter is trivial, i.e. the bosonic and fermionic contributions exactly cancel each other. Moreover our localization results can be applied to the pure CS partition function to show that the contribution from the saddle points with vanishing gauge connection is also trivial. As mentioned above, this is consistent with what one expects for a supersymmetric theory.

Moving on to the second topic, we first computed the one loop free energy for 4DVasiliev higher spin gravities based on Konstein-Vasiliev algebras hu(m; n|4), ho(m; n|4)or husp(m; n|4) and subject to higher spin preserving boundary conditions, which are conjectured to be dual to the U(N), O(N) or USp(N) singlet sectors, respectively, of free CFTs on the boundary of AdS_4 . Ordinary supersymmetric higher spin theories appear as special cases of Konstein-Vasiliev theories, when the corresponding higher spin algebra contains $OSp(\mathcal{N}|4)$ as subalgebra. In AdS_4 with S^3 boundary, we utilized a regularization scheme for individual spins that employs their character such that the subsequent sum over all spins is finite, thereby avoiding the need for additional regularization. Interestingly the contribution of the infinite tower of bulk fermions vanishes, and as a result, the free energy is the sum of those which arise in Type-A and Type-B models with internal symmetries. Thus the known mismatch between the bulk and boundary free energies for Type-B model persists, and ordinary supersymmetric higher spin theories exhibit the mismatch as well. The only models that have a match are Type-A models with internal symmetries, corresponding to n = 0. The matching requires identification of the inverse Newton's constant G_N^{-1} with N plus a proper integer as was found previously for special cases. In AdS_4 with $S^1 \times S^2$ boundary, the bulk one loop free energies match those of the dual free CFTs for arbitrary m and n. We have also shown that a supersymmetric double-trace deformation of free CFT based on OSp(1|4) does not contribute to the $\mathcal{O}(N^0)$ free energy, as expected from the bulk.

Turning to the problem of mismatch in free energies of Type-B model and its conjectured dual, one may have to take into account the issue of how to impose the O(N)invariance condition on the CFT side. A natural way of implementing it is to gauge the O(N) symmetry by means of vector gauge field with level k Chern-Simons kinetic term. This term breaks parity but the result for the free energy of the parity invariant model can be obtained in a limit in which the CS gauge field decouples. It has been suggested in [20] that as the fermions coupled to CS on the boundary give rise to a shift in the level k, it may not be justified to obtain the result for parity-preserving case by a naive subtraction of CS contribution from the free energy on the CFT side. However, one expects that this effect becomes irrelevant in the decoupling limit in which $k \to \infty$. In fact, we have examined the procedure of decoupling CS in the large k limit by evaluating the S^3 free energies for ABJ model based on $U(N)_k \times U(1)_{-k}$ [6, 58] and a few $\mathcal{N} = 3$ CS matter theories in which the matter sector consists of fundamental hypermultiplets [59–61]. After subtracting the contribution from pure CS term, we indeed obtain the free energies of free vector models. Therefore, the puzzle of free energy mismatch in Type-B remains unresolved and its solution requires deeper understanding of HS/vector model holography. In this context, it has been suggested by [87] and explored further in [88] that the vector-like limit of ABJ model based on $U(N)_k \times U(M)_{-k}$ is given by

$$N, k \to \infty$$
 with $\lambda \equiv \frac{N}{k}$ and M finite. (5.1)

In this limit, the ABJ theory effectively behaves like a $\mathcal{N} = 6$ CS gauged vector model with U(M) flavor symmetry [87]. Its bulk dual is conjectured to be the parity violating $\mathcal{N} = 6 U(M)$ gauged Vasiliev theory [87]. The parity violating angle θ_0 is conjectured to be related to the CFT 't Hooft coupling by $\theta_0 = \pi \lambda/2$ [87][†].

Complementary to the one loop test of the free energy, we conducted another test of

[†]Besides the Newton constant which is small in the limit described above, there is also a bulk 't Hooft coupling $g_{\text{bulk}}^2 M \sim M/N \ll 1$. String theory emerges when $M/N \sim 1$. Due to strong interactions, the HS particles form U(M) singlet states which are described by the color neutral string states. Since the M theory circle $R_{11} \sim (M/k^5)^{1/6}$ shrinks and $\sqrt{\alpha'}/R_{\text{AdS}} \sim (k/M)^{1/4} \rightarrow \infty$, this is type IIA string in the high energy limit. The $\mathcal{N} = 6$ parity violating U(M) gauged Vasiliev theory can be perceived as a deconfinement phase of type IIA string when $M/N \ll 1$, in which the string states fragment into HS particles colored under U(M) [87].

the HS/CFT duality by computing the parity-preserving and parity-violating three-point amplitudes with one scalar leg in higher spin gravity and compare results with those of Chern-Simons matter theories. The three-point correlators of the free boson, free fermion, critical vector model and Gross-Neveu model are reproduced including the dependence on the Chern-Simons coupling. We have also performed a simple test of the modified higher spin equations proposed in [79] and found that the results are consistent with the AdS/CFT correspondence.

In this work we could not extract the correlators for general three spins due to nonlocalities present in the additional CC-terms [22, 68, 78] that need to be taken into account. These non-localities make the coefficient of the bulk vertex infinite, resulting in infinite correlators. The infinity is due to the presence of infinitely many of higher derivative copies of the same vertex that are stacked in the CC-terms. The divergences at tree level must not arise in any field theory, including HS theories.[‡] Indeed, the correlation functions on the CFT side are finite. Moreover, there is a one-to-one correspondence between all possible three-point correlators and cubic vertices in AdS, which allows one to manufacture an action up to the cubic terms that will yield any given three-point correlation functions and no infinities can arise. This was explicitly done for some of the cubic vertices in [89–91] (full cubic action of Type-A in any dimension was obtained in [91]), see also [92] for the quartic results. In the recent paper [79] it was conjectured how to modify the CC-terms as to make them local. The field redefinition that does the job is non-local and changes the coefficient of the correlator from an infinite number to a finite one. Moreover, the CC-terms correspond to the abelian vertices at this order (in the sense that are not fixed by the HS symmetry) and can in principle be arbitrary. Also, non-local redefinitions can result in any given coefficient [78, 93–96]. Nonetheless, the proposal

 $^{^{\}ddagger}$ There exist extremal correlators and the divergences observed in [22, 68, 78] have nothing to do with those.

of [79] involves a specific type of field redefinition, and as such it can be treated as a conjecture. Taking this point of view, we have tested this redefinition, which involves the CC terms, and we have found that it does produce an answer for the spin 0 - s - s amplitude that agrees with the CFT result. Further tests of this conjecture will require the study of more three-point functions, namely those involving three arbitrary spins, and then of higher order amplitudes, which may possibly require higher order extension of the proposed field redefinition as well.

REFERENCES

- J. M. Maldacena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113–1133, arXiv:hep-th/9711200 [hep-th]. [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.2,231(1998)].
- [2] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, "Janus Configurations, Chern-Simons Couplings, And The theta-Angle in N=4 Super Yang-Mills Theory," JHEP 06 (2010) 097, arXiv:0804.2907 [hep-th].
- [3] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D. L. Jafferis, and J. Maldacena, "N=6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals," *JHEP* 10 (2008) 091, arXiv:0806.1218 [hep-th].
- [4] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, "Gauge symmetry and supersymmetry of multiple M2-branes," *Phys. Rev.* D77 (2008) 065008, arXiv:0711.0955 [hep-th].
- [5] V. Pestun, "Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 313 (2012) 71–129, arXiv:0712.2824 [hep-th].
- [6] A. Kapustin, B. Willett, and I. Yaakov, "Exact Results for Wilson Loops in Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories with Matter," *JHEP* 03 (2010) 089, arXiv:0909.4559 [hep-th].
- [7] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi, and S. Lee, "Notes on SUSY Gauge Theories on Three-Sphere," *JHEP* 03 (2011) 127, arXiv:1012.3512 [hep-th].
- [8] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi, and S. Lee, "SUSY Gauge Theories on Squashed Three-Spheres," JHEP 05 (2011) 014, arXiv:1102.4716 [hep-th].

- [9] A. Tanaka, "Localization on round sphere revisited," JHEP 11 (2013) 103, arXiv:1309.4992 [hep-th].
- [10] L. F. Alday, D. Martelli, P. Richmond, and J. Sparks, "Localization on Three-Manifolds," JHEP 10 (2013) 095, arXiv:1307.6848 [hep-th].
- [11] Y. Imamura and D. Yokoyama, "N=2 supersymmetric theories on squashed three-sphere," *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012) 025015, arXiv:1109.4734 [hep-th].
- [12] J. Kallen, "Cohomological localization of Chern-Simons theory," JHEP 08 (2011)008, arXiv:1104.5353 [hep-th].
- [13] K. Ohta and Y. Yoshida, "Non-Abelian Localization for Supersymmetric Yang-Mills-Chern-Simons Theories on Seifert Manifold," *Phys. Rev.* D86 (2012) 105018, arXiv:1205.0046 [hep-th].
- [14] J. Nian, "Localization of Supersymmetric Chern-Simons-Matter Theory on a Squashed S^3 with $SU(2) \times U(1)$ Isometry," *JHEP* 07 (2014) 126, arXiv:1309.3266 [hep-th].
- [15] E. S. Fradkin and M. A. Vasiliev, "On the Gravitational Interaction of Massless Higher Spin Fields," *Phys. Lett.* B189 (1987) 89–95.
- [16] I. R. Klebanov and A. M. Polyakov, "AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model,"
 Phys. Lett. B550 (2002) 213–219, arXiv:hep-th/0210114 [hep-th].
- [17] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, "Massless higher spins and holography," Nucl. Phys.
 B644 (2002) 303–370, arXiv:hep-th/0205131 [hep-th]. [Erratum: Nucl. Phys.B660,403(2003)].
- [18] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, "Holography in 4D (super) higher spin theories and a test via cubic scalar couplings," JHEP 07 (2005) 044, arXiv:hep-th/0305040 [hep-th].

- [19] R. G. Leigh and A. C. Petkou, "Holography of the N=1 higher spin theory on AdS(4)," JHEP 06 (2003) 011, arXiv:hep-th/0304217 [hep-th].
- [20] S. Giombi and I. R. Klebanov, "One Loop Tests of Higher Spin AdS/CFT," JHEP
 12 (2013) 068, arXiv:1308.2337 [hep-th].
- [21] S. Giombi, I. R. Klebanov, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Partition Functions and Casimir Energies in Higher Spin AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d ," *Phys. Rev.* **D90** no. 2, (2014) 024048, arXiv:1402.5396 [hep-th].
- [22] S. Giombi and X. Yin, "Higher Spin Gauge Theory and Holography: The Three-Point Functions," JHEP 09 (2010) 115, arXiv:0912.3462 [hep-th].
- [23] D. Tsimpis and Y. Zhu, "3d N=1 Chern-Simons-matter theory and localization," Nucl. Phys. B911 (2016) 355–387, arXiv:1603.02878 [hep-th].
- [24] S. E. Konstein and M. A. Vasiliev, "Extended Higher Spin Superalgebras and Their Massless Representations," *Nucl. Phys.* B331 (1990) 475–499.
- [25] Y. Pang, E. Sezgin, and Y. Zhu, "One Loop Tests of Supersymmetric Higher Spin AdS_4/CFT_3 ," *Phys. Rev.* D95 no. 2, (2017) 026008, arXiv:1608.07298 [hep-th].
- [26] E. Sezgin, E. D. Skvortsov, and Y. Zhu, "Chern-Simons Matter Theories and Higher Spin Gravity," arXiv:1705.03197 [hep-th].
- [27] E. Witten, "Topological Quantum Field Theory," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 117 (1988) 353.
- [28] H. Ooguri and C.-S. Park, "Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories and the Squashed Seven Sphere," JHEP 11 (2008) 082, arXiv:0808.0500 [hep-th].

- [29] D. Gaiotto and A. Tomasiello, "The gauge dual of Romans mass," JHEP 01 (2010)015, arXiv:0901.0969 [hep-th].
- [30] E. A. Bergshoeff, J. Hartong, A. Ploegh, J. Rosseel, and D. Van den Bleeken,
 "Pseudo-supersymmetry and a tale of alternate realities," *JHEP* 07 (2007) 067,
 arXiv:0704.3559 [hep-th].
- [31] R. Andringa, E. A. Bergshoeff, M. de Roo, O. Hohm, E. Sezgin, and P. K. Townsend, "Massive 3D Supergravity," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 27 (2010) 025010, arXiv:0907.4658 [hep-th].
- [32] E. Witten, "Constraints on Supersymmetry Breaking," Nucl. Phys. B202 (1982) 253.
- [33] A. Keurentjes, A. Rosly, and A. V. Smilga, "Isolated vacua in supersymmetric Yang-Mills theories," *Phys. Rev.* D58 (1998) 081701, arXiv:hep-th/9805183 [hep-th].
- [34] G. Bonelli, "On the tensionless limit of bosonic strings, infinite symmetries and higher spins," Nucl. Phys. B669 (2003) 159–172, arXiv:hep-th/0305155 [hep-th].
- [35] M. A. Vasiliev, "Consistent equation for interacting gauge fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions," *Phys. Lett.* B243 (1990) 378–382.
- [36] M. A. Vasiliev, "More on equations of motion for interacting massless fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions," *Phys. Lett.* B285 (1992) 225–234.
- [37] M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher spin gauge theories in four-dimensions, three-dimensions," and two-dimensions," Int. J. Mod. Phys. D5 (1996) 763–797, arXiv:hep-th/9611024 [hep-th].
- [38] M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher spin gauge theories: Star product and AdS space," arXiv:hep-th/9910096 [hep-th].

- [39] I. R. Klebanov, S. S. Pufu, and B. R. Safdi, "F-Theorem without Supersymmetry," JHEP 10 (2011) 038, arXiv:1105.4598 [hep-th].
- [40] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, "Supersymmetric Higher Spin Theories," J. Phys. A46 (2013) 214022, arXiv:1208.6019 [hep-th].
- [41] S. Giombi, I. R. Klebanov, and B. R. Safdi, "Higher Spin AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d at One Loop," *Phys. Rev.* D89 no. 8, (2014) 084004, arXiv:1401.0825 [hep-th].
- [42] S. Giombi, "TASI Lectures on the Higher Spin CFT duality," in Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings (TASI 2015): Boulder, CO, USA, June 1-26, 2015. 2017. arXiv:1607.02967 [hep-th].
- [43] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung, and S. Lal, "One-loop test of free SU(N) adjoint model holography," JHEP 04 (2016) 061, arXiv:1603.05387 [hep-th].
- [44] S. W. Hawking, "Zeta Function Regularization of Path Integrals in Curved Space-Time," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 55 (1977) 133.
- [45] R. Camporesi, "zeta function regularization of one loop effective potentials in anti-de Sitter space-time," *Phys. Rev.* D43 (1991) 3958–3965.
- [46] R. Camporesi and A. Higuchi, "Arbitrary spin effective potentials in anti-de Sitter space-time," *Phys. Rev.* D47 (1993) 3339–3344.
- [47] M. A. Vasiliev, "Nonlinear equations for symmetric massless higher spin fields in (A)dS(d)," *Phys. Lett.* B567 (2003) 139–151, arXiv:hep-th/0304049
 [hep-th].
- [48] M. Beccaria and A. A. Tseytlin, "Higher spins in AdS₅ at one loop: vacuum energy, boundary conformal anomalies and AdS/CFT," JHEP 11 (2014) 114, arXiv:1410.3273 [hep-th].

- [49] M. Beccaria and A. A. Tseytlin, "Vectorial AdS₅/CFT₄ duality for spin-one boundary theory," J. Phys. A47 no. 49, (2014) 492001, arXiv:1410.4457 [hep-th].
- [50] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung, and S. Lal, "On the Holography of Free Yang-Mills," JHEP 10 (2016) 074, arXiv:1607.07651 [hep-th].
- [51] M. Beccaria, G. Macorini, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Supergravity one-loop corrections on AdS₇ and AdS₃, higher spins and AdS/CFT," *Nucl. Phys.* B892 (2015) 211–238, arXiv:1412.0489 [hep-th].
- [52] G. W. Gibbons, M. J. Perry, and C. N. Pope, "Partition functions, the Bekenstein bound and temperature inversion in anti-de Sitter space and its conformal boundary," *Phys. Rev.* D74 (2006) 084009, arXiv:hep-th/0606186 [hep-th].
- [53] T. Basile, X. Bekaert, and N. Boulanger, "Flato-Fronsdal theorem for higher-order singletons," JHEP 11 (2014) 131, arXiv:1410.7668 [hep-th].
- [54] O. Aharony, J. Marsano, S. Minwalla, K. Papadodimas, and M. Van Raamsdonk,
 "The Hagedorn deconfinement phase transition in weakly coupled large N gauge theories," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* 8 (2004) 603–696, arXiv:hep-th/0310285 [hep-th]. [,161(2003)].
- [55] H. J. Schnitzer, "Confinement/deconfinement transition of large N gauge theories with N(f) fundamentals: N(f)/N finite," *Nucl. Phys.* B695 (2004) 267–282, arXiv:hep-th/0402219 [hep-th].
- [56] S. H. Shenker and X. Yin, "Vector Models in the Singlet Sector at Finite Temperature," arXiv:1109.3519 [hep-th].

- [57] S. S. Gubser and I. R. Klebanov, "A Universal result on central charges in the presence of double trace deformations," *Nucl. Phys.* B656 (2003) 23–36, arXiv:hep-th/0212138 [hep-th].
- [58] H. Awata, S. Hirano, and M. Shigemori, "The Partition Function of ABJ Theory," PTEP 2013 (2013) 053B04, arXiv:1212.2966 [hep-th].
- [59] M. Marino, "Lectures on localization and matrix models in supersymmetric Chern-Simons-matter theories," J. Phys. A44 (2011) 463001, arXiv:1104.0783 [hep-th].
- [60] D. R. Gulotta, C. P. Herzog, and T. Nishioka, "The ABCDEF's of Matrix Models for Supersymmetric Chern-Simons Theories," JHEP 04 (2012) 138, arXiv:1201.6360 [hep-th].
- [61] M. Mezei and S. S. Pufu, "Three-sphere free energy for classical gauge groups," JHEP 02 (2014) 037, arXiv:1312.0920 [hep-th].
- [62] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, "Constraining conformal field theories with a slightly broken higher spin symmetry," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 30 (2013) 104003, arXiv:1204.3882 [hep-th].
- [63] S. Giombi, S. Prakash, and X. Yin, "A Note on CFT Correlators in Three Dimensions," JHEP 07 (2013) 105, arXiv:1104.4317 [hep-th].
- [64] S. Giombi, V. Gurucharan, V. Kirilin, S. Prakash, and E. Skvortsov, "On the Higher-Spin Spectrum in Large N Chern-Simons Vector Models," *JHEP* 01 (2017) 058, arXiv:1610.08472 [hep-th].
- [65] N. S. Craigie, V. K. Dobrev, and I. T. Todorov, "Conformally Covariant Composite Operators in Quantum Chromodynamics," *Annals Phys.* 159 (1985) 411–444.

- [66] O. A. Gelfond, E. D. Skvortsov, and M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher spin conformal currents in Minkowski space," *Theor. Math. Phys.* 154 (2008) 294–302, arXiv:hep-th/0601106 [hep-th].
- [67] O. A. Gelfond and M. A. Vasiliev, "Operator algebra of free conformal currents via twistors," Nucl. Phys. B876 (2013) 871–917, arXiv:1301.3123 [hep-th].
- [68] S. Giombi and X. Yin, "Higher Spins in AdS and Twistorial Holography," JHEP 04 (2011) 086, arXiv:1004.3736 [hep-th].
- [69] N. Colombo and P. Sundell, "Higher Spin Gravity Amplitudes From Zero-form Charges," arXiv:1208.3880 [hep-th].
- [70] V. E. Didenko and E. D. Skvortsov, "Exact higher-spin symmetry in CFT: all correlators in unbroken Vasiliev theory," *JHEP* 04 (2013) 158, arXiv:1210.7963 [hep-th].
- [71] V. E. Didenko, J. Mei, and E. D. Skvortsov, "Exact higher-spin symmetry in CFT: free fermion correlators from Vasiliev Theory," *Phys. Rev.* D88 (2013) 046011, arXiv:1301.4166 [hep-th].
- [72] A. N. Vasiliev, M. Pismak, Yu, and Yu. R. Khonkonen, "Simple Method of Calculating the Critical Indices in the 1/N Expansion," *Theor. Math. Phys.* 46 (1981) 104–113. [Teor. Mat. Fiz.46,157(1981)].
- [73] S. E. Derkachov and A. N. Manashov, "The Simple scheme for the calculation of the anomalous dimensions of composite operators in the 1/N expansion," *Nucl. Phys.* B522 (1998) 301–320, arXiv:hep-th/9710015 [hep-th].
- [74] T. Muta and D. S. Popovic, "Anomalous Dimensions of Composite Operators in the Gross-Neveu Model in Two + Epsilon Dimensions," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 57 (1977) 1705.

- [75] A. N. Manashov and E. D. Skvortsov, "Higher-spin currents in the Gross-Neveu model at 1/n²," JHEP 01 (2017) 132, arXiv:1610.06938 [hep-th].
- [76] V. E. Didenko and E. D. Skvortsov, "Elements of Vasiliev theory," arXiv:1401.2975 [hep-th].
- [77] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, "Analysis of higher spin field equations in four-dimensions," JHEP 07 (2002) 055, arXiv:hep-th/0205132 [hep-th].
- [78] N. Boulanger, P. Kessel, E. D. Skvortsov, and M. Taronna, "Higher spin interactions in four-dimensions: Vasiliev versus Fronsdal," J. Phys. A49 no. 9, (2016) 095402, arXiv:1508.04139 [hep-th].
- [79] M. A. Vasiliev, "Current Interactions and Holography from the 0-Form Sector of Nonlinear Higher-Spin Equations," arXiv:1605.02662 [hep-th].
- [80] M. A. Vasiliev, "Consistent Equations for Interacting Massless Fields of All Spins in the First Order in Curvatures," *Annals Phys.* **190** (1989) 59–106.
- [81] M. A. Vasiliev, "Extended Higher Spin Superalgebras and Their Realizations in Terms of Quantum Operators," *Fortsch. Phys.* 36 (1988) 33–62.
- [82] R. R. Metsaev, "Cubic interaction vertices of massive and massless higher spin fields," Nucl. Phys. B759 (2006) 147-201, arXiv:hep-th/0512342 [hep-th].
- [83] E. D'Hoker and D. Z. Freedman, "Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS / CFT correspondence," in *Strings, Branes and Extra Dimensions: TASI 2001: Proceedings*, pp. 3–158. 2002. arXiv:hep-th/0201253 [hep-th].
- [84] B. Allen and T. Jacobson, "Vector Two Point Functions in Maximally Symmetric Spaces," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 103 (1986) 669.

- [85] D. Z. Freedman, S. D. Mathur, A. Matusis, and L. Rastelli, "Correlation functions in the CFT(d) / AdS(d+1) correspondence," *Nucl. Phys.* B546 (1999) 96–118, arXiv:hep-th/9804058 [hep-th].
- [86] N. Boulanger, E. Sezgin, and P. Sundell, "4D Higher Spin Gravity with Dynamical Two-Form as a Frobenius-Chern-Simons Gauge Theory," arXiv:1505.04957 [hep-th].
- [87] C.-M. Chang, S. Minwalla, T. Sharma, and X. Yin, "ABJ Triality: from Higher Spin Fields to Strings," J. Phys. A46 (2013) 214009, arXiv:1207.4485 [hep-th].
- [88] S. Hirano, M. Honda, K. Okuyama, and M. Shigemori, "ABJ Theory in the Higher Spin Limit," JHEP 08 (2016) 174, arXiv:1504.00365 [hep-th].
- [89] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev, and C. Sleight, "Towards holographic higher-spin interactions: Four-point functions and higher-spin exchange," JHEP 03 (2015) 170, arXiv:1412.0016 [hep-th].
- [90] E. D. Skvortsov, "On (Un)Broken Higher-Spin Symmetry in Vector Models," in Proceedings, International Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories: Singapore, Singapore, November 4-6, 2015, pp. 103–137. 2017. arXiv:1512.05994 [hep-th].
- [91] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, "Higher Spin Interactions from Conformal Field Theory: The Complete Cubic Couplings," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116 no. 18, (2016) 181602, arXiv:1603.00022 [hep-th].
- [92] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev, and C. Sleight, "Quartic AdS Interactions in Higher-Spin Gravity from Conformal Field Theory," *JHEP* 11 (2015) 149, arXiv:1508.04292 [hep-th].

- [93] G. Barnich and M. Henneaux, "Consistent couplings between fields with a gauge freedom and deformations of the master equation," *Phys. Lett.* B311 (1993) 123–129, arXiv:hep-th/9304057 [hep-th].
- [94] S. F. Prokushkin and M. A. Vasiliev, "Cohomology of arbitrary spin currents in AdS(3)," *Theor. Math. Phys.* 123 (2000) 415–435, arXiv:hep-th/9907020 [hep-th]. [Teor. Mat. Fiz.123,3(2000)].
- [95] P. Kessel, G. Lucena GÃşmez, E. Skvortsov, and M. Taronna, "Higher Spins and Matter Interacting in Dimension Three," *JHEP* 11 (2015) 104, arXiv:1505.05887 [hep-th].
- [96] M. Taronna, "A note on field redefinitions and higher-spin equations," J. Phys. A50 no. 7, (2017) 075401, arXiv:1607.04718 [hep-th].